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We go to press just a few weeks after the 
death of Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg, who 
in her nearly three decades on the high court 
was a good friend of the Society and of the 
Journal. We will have tributes to her in our 
next issue.

This issue is notable in that we have two 
articles on the same subject, Justice Willis 
Van Devanter, as well as two articles by the 
Journal’s family, as it were.

Clare Cushman had been the managing 
editor of the Journal even before I became 
editor in the early 1990s, and the high quality 
of its production is entirely due to her. But 
Clare is also an officer of the Society, in that 
she is Director of Publications, as well as a 
practicing historian. In fact, one of her many 
titles is Resident Historian at the Society. Her 
contribution to this issue is “Sons of Ohio: 
William Rufus Day, Nepotism and his Law 
Clerks.”

The practice of Supreme Court justices 
hiring young men (and they were all men 
until the 1940s) as clerks, or as they were of­
ten called, “secretaries,” began in the 1870s, 
although it would be many years before all 
justices had clerks. Day, whom Theodore 
Roosevelt appointed to the bench in 1903, 
had four sons, and he hired three of them as 
his clerks. Not only would this nepotism be

frowned upon today, but so would the fact 
that at least one of them kept up an active 
private law practice while working for the 
Justice.

Timothy S. Huebner’s day job is As­
sociate Provost and Sternberg Professor of 
History at Rhodes College in Memphis. But 
he also puts in great effort as the associate 
editor of the Journal. His Liberty and Union: 
The Civil War Era and American Constitu­
tionalism (2016) is now considered one of the 
leading studies of that subject.

Tim’s article discusses a phenomenon 
that very few of us knew about, or even 
that it existed, “Black Constitutionalism.” As 
he shows, there was an articulate constitu­
tional thought within the African-American 
community well before the Civil War, as 
people of color, even if free in Northern 
states, tried to develop a theory of how 
they—and their enslaved brethren—fit into 
the American constitutional scheme. When 
the Taney Court handed down its decision in 
Dred Scott, they now had to respond to the 
Chief Justice’s opinion that blacks could not 
be citizens.

We have two articles on Justice Willis 
Van Devanter, remembered primarily as one 
of the Four Horsemen who tried to scuttle 
reform legislation in the 1920s and then
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the New Deal in the 1930s. Because he 
did not write as many opinions as most 
of his brethren, Van Devanter often shows 
up on lists of “forgotten justices.” However, 
Louis D. Brandeis thought highly of him, and 
often sought “Van’s” thoughts on his majority 
opinions before circulating them. He told 
Felix Frankfurter that Van Devanter was like 
a Jesuit, quietly exerting great influence.

Both Robert Post, Sterling Professor of 
Law and former dean of the Yale Law School, 
and Mark Tushnet, William Nelson Cromwell 
Professor of Law emeritus at Harvard Law 
School, are past contributors to the Journal. 
Moreover, both articles are adopted from the 
volumes they are writing for the Holmes 
Devise, Post for that on the Taft Court, and 
Tushnet for the one on the Hughes Court. It is 
a usual practice for the authors of the Holmes 
Devise to write biographical sketches of the 
men who served on that Court. Tushnet is 
here looking at the man behind the robes, 
while Post is looking at the unique role Van 
Devanter played on the Taft Court.

Berea College v. Kentucky (1908) is one 
of the main pillars of the Supreme Court’s 
ratification of Jim Crow apartheid. Ronald 
S. Rauchberg is a retired litigation partner 
at Proskauer Rose, and he writes here about 
a little known aspect of that case, how the 
justices adopted scientific racism in deciding 
that case. Scientific racism was certainly no 
stranger to Americans in the early decades 
of the 20th century, and it did not go out 
of fashion until the Nazis used it to justify 
their persecution and then murder of Jews 
and other minorities.

Finally, although Grier Stephenson now 
bears the title of Charles A. Dana Profess 
of Government emeritus at Franklin & Mar­
shall, he, like many other emeriti, just keeps 
on contributing to scholarship. Grier has been 
writing the judicial bookshelf for many years, 
and we hope he will continue to do so for 
many more to come.

As usual, it is a feast, and we invite you 
to enjoy.
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In 1857, in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott v. Sandfo rd , 

the most infamous decision in the history 
of the United States Supreme Court, Chief 

Justice Roger B. Taney denied that African 

Americans, whether enslaved or free, could 

be citizens of the United States. In doing so, 

Taney wrote these memorable words: “ It is 
difficult at this day to realize the state of 

public opinion in relation to that unfortunate 

race, which prevailed in the civilized and 

enlightened portions of the world at the time 

of the Declaration of Independence.... They 

had for more than a century before been 

regarded as being of an inferior order, and 

altogether unfit to associate with the white 
race ... and so far inferior, that they had 

no rights which the white man was bound 
to respect; and that the negro might justly 

and lawfully be reduced to slavery for his 

benefit.” 1 Decades before the Court’s deci­

sion, African-American leaders in the North 

had fashioned their own understanding of 

their relationship to America and its founding

documents. Confronted with the Supreme 

Court’s decision, African Americans refused 

to surrender. They neither accepted the rul­

ing’s legitimacy nor its claim that they had 

no place in the national community. In­
stead, African Americans held tightly to their 

own distinctive vision of equality—black 
constitutionalism—and in so doing helped 

redefine citizenship in the Civil War era.

B lack C itizenship and B lack 

C onstitu tionalism

Citizenship was an elusive concept in the 

early American republic. The Constitution 

itself used the term sparingly. The word 
“citizen” appeared mostly in referring to 

requirements for holding federal office and in 
describing the types of suits heard by federal 

courts. The one part of the Constitution that 

referred to the rights of citizenship—Article 

IV, Section 2—seemed to leave the matter 

of defining such rights to the states: “The
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Citizens of each State shall be entitled to 

all Privileges and Immunities of Citizens 

in the several States.” From the text alone, 
moreover, the relationship between U.S. cit­
izenship and state citizenship was unclear. 

Equally ambiguous was whether the Bill  of 

Rights served as a list of rights for all U.S. 

citizens, or whether it also limited state power 

and thus related to state citizenship. In some 

instances, the Constitution and the Bill of 

Rights seemed to use the words “citizen,”  

“person,” and “people” interchangeably, a 

source of further confusion. During its early 

history, Congress passed no specific leg­
islation to clarify such matters. Given the 

indeterminate nature of the concept of citi­

zenship, as well as textual ambiguity about 
the institution of slavery (the word “slavery”  

was never actually mentioned in the Consti­
tution), the question of black citizenship was 

an open one.2 At the time of the ratification 

of the Constitution, apart from an enslaved 

population of nearly 700,000, approximately 

59,000 free black people lived in the United 

States, which included about 27,000 free 

blacks who resided in the northern states.3

Soon after the ratification of the Con­

stitution, northern free blacks attempted to 

craft their own understanding of the founding 

documents and blacks’ relationship to the 
nation. In doing so, they championed citi­
zenship and rights for all African Americans, 

free and enslaved.4 In 1799,for example, the 

free black community of Philadelphia, an 

emerging center of black protest, submitted 

a petition to Congress making such an ar­
gument. Led by Absalom Jones, a remark­

able former slave from Delaware who had 

purchased his freedom and become the first 

priest of the first black Episcopal Church 

in the United States, the Philadelphia black 
community called for the end of the African 

slave trade and criticized the federal Fugitive 

Slave Act of 1793. The petitioners noted 

that neither the Constitution nor the Fugitive 

Slave Act mentioned black people or slaves. 

Rather, when slaves were referred to, it was

Leader of the free black com m unity of Philadelph ia , 

A bsalom  Jones called for the end of the A frican slave  

trade. H e argued it vio lated the C onstitu tion , w hich  

referred to slaves as “persons.”

always as “persons.” 5 For this reason, they 

continued,

If  the Bill of Rights or the Decla­

ration of Congress [Declaration of 
Independence] are of any validity, 
we beseech, that as we are men, 

we may be admitted to partake of 

the Liberties and unalienable Rights 
therein held forth—firmly  believing 

that the extending of Justice and eq­

uity to all Classes, would be a means 

of drawing down the blessings of 
Heaven upon this Land.

In so arguing, Jones not only asserted 

that slavery violated the U.S. Constitution, he 

also claimed that all blacks should possess 
rights of citizens. Although Congress ignored 

the petition, black constitutional activism had 
made an auspicious debut.6

During the first few decades of the 

nineteenth century, free African Americans 

did secure some rights in northern states. A 

majority of states in the North allowed blacks
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to testify in court against whites, but Ohio, 

Illinois, and Indiana all had laws preventing 

free blacks from even settling within their 

borders. In five New England states (where 

few blacks actually lived), free African 

Americans possessed the right to vote, but 

only in Massachusetts could blacks serve on 

juries. Between 1818 and 1820, Connecticut 

and New Jersey amended their constitutions 
to end black voting, and at around the same 

time, New York imposed property qualifica­

tions for black voters. In the midst of these 

struggles, black leaders continued to advance 

their own understanding of equality, by using 

the language of the American founding. One 

of the signers of Jones’ Philadelphia peti­

tion, James Forten, a successful businessman, 

emerged as a particularly powerful voice 

within the black community. In his fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASeries 
of Letters by a M an of C olor, written in 

1813 in response to proposed restrictions on 
the rights of blacks in Pennsylvania, Forten 
appealed to the Declaration of Independence. 

“We hold this truth to be self-evident, that 

God created all men equal,” Forten wrote, 

“ is one of the most prominent features of 

the Declaration of Independence, and in that 

glorious fabric of collected wisdom, our 

noble Constitution. This idea embraces the 

Indian and the European, the savage and the 

Saint, the Peruvian and the Laplander, the 

white man and the African, and whatever 

measures are adopted subversive of this es­
timable privilege, are in direct violation of the 

letter and spirit of our Constitution.” 7

Within a few years, some African- 

American voices called for American blacks 
to migrate to Africa, thus supporting the es­

tablishment and subsequent settlement of the 

African nation of Liberia. Still, the vast ma­

jority of black activists joined Forten in both 

claiming the American constitutional her­

itage as their own and in aiming to improve 

the lot of blacks in the United States. Despite 

the grim economic realities of second-class 
status—most worked in some service capac­

ity or performed menial labor, particularly in

cities—free blacks in the North enjoyed far 

more rights and experienced far better living 

conditions than their free counterparts in 

the South, with the presumption of freedom 

constituting a key difference.8
Northern freedom fueled further black 

protest. In 1827, Samuel Cornish and John 
Brown Russwurm began publishing the na­

tion’s first black newspaper, VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF reedom’s Jour­

na l, in New York City. The paper emphasized 

American and Christian ideals, promoted 
moral uplift among the black population, and 

hoped to advance the cause of freedom by 

helping African Americans earn the respect 

of whites. David Walker took a harsher tack. 

Born a free black man in North Carolina, 

Walker learned to read and write, joined the 

Methodist Church, and eventually moved to 

Boston. In 1829, Walker published in four 

parts his A ppea l to the C oloured C itizens 

of the W orld , in which he sharply criticized 
the nation’s treatment of its black population. 

Walker echoed Forten in using the Declara­
tion of Independence as the standard against 

which to measure the nation’s treatment of 

its black population. “See your Declaration 

Americans!!!” Walker implored his readers. 

“Do you understand your own language? 

Hear your language, proclaimed to the world, 

July 4th, 1776—‘We hold these truths to be 

self evident—that ALL MEN ARE CRE­

ATED EQUAL!! that they are endowed by 
their Creator with certain unalienable rights; 

that among these are life, liberty, and the pur­

suit of happiness!!” ’ Walker went on: “Com­

pare your own language above, extracted 

from your Declaration of Independence, with 

your cruelties and murders inflicted by your 

cruel and unmerciful fathers and yourselves 
on our fathers and on us—men who have 

never given your fathers or you the least 

provocation!!!!!!” 9 Walker surely inspired 

the black people, free and enslaved, who 

read or heard of his stirring words. In mak­

ing such arguments rooted in the Ameri­
can founding—whether or not they included 

the charge of white hypocrisy—free black
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APPEAL,

lUitl, a Brief Skcftl) of tjis Life.
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BY

H EN R Y  H IG H LA N D  G A R N ET.

A N D A LSO

GARNET’S ADDRESS

10 TO ! SLA V ES O P TH E FSITED STA TES O F A M EEIC A .

D avid W alker’s galvanizing pam phlet, orig inally published in 1829, urged A frican A m ericans to take the risk of 

fighting  for their freedom  and equality .

activists asserted absolute political equality 

as a fundamental American principle.10

In 1830, the year after the appearance 

of Walker’s VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA ppea l, a small group of 

African-American leaders held the first 

national convention devoted to black 

advancement. At the urging of Hezekiah 

Grice, a Baltimore activist, forty delegates 

from Delaware, Maryland, Massachusetts, 

Pennsylvania, and New York gathered at 

Bethel Church in Philadelphia.11 Although 
they ended up passing a resolution endorsing 

black emigration from the United States, 

more important than the substance of the 

discussion was the precedent that it set. 

Belief in emigration waned, but the mode 

of assembling in convention, rooted in the 

history of the founding of America, proved an 

enduring model of black activism. Motivated 

by protest pamphlets and newspapers and 
connected through a network of black 

churches and Masonic lodges, free African 

Americans embraced this overtly political

and constitutional model of protest. That is, 

assembling as a body of delegates, discussing 

issues, voting on resolutions, and announcing 

those resolutions to the public both revealed 

the American identity of those who assem­

bled and set a course for the next four decades 

of black activism in the United States. In 

fact, for the next five years in a row, national 

conventions of free African-American 
delegates met, usually in Philadelphia, to 

discuss a broad range of issues, and such 

meetings continued sporadically over the 

next few decades. Between 1830 and 1861, 

African Americans held eleven national 

conventions, as well as scores of state and 

local conventions throughout the northern 
states.12 Convention delegates included 

ministers, writers, editors, businessmen, 

and other professionals—almost all of them 

men—who constituted the antebellum era’s 
most distinguished black leaders.

The black convention movement, as well 

as the leaders and ideals that it spawned,
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wrought a slow transformation in the legal 

treatment of northern blacks. Beginning in 

the early 1840s, the legal status of north­

ern African Americans gradually improved. 

State judges in some instances began freeing 

slaves who were traveling in the North, while 

many northern states began to enact personal 

liberty laws to protect fugitive slaves who had 

escaped from the South. Over the next two 

decades, northern blacks made concrete gains 

under the law. In 1841, New York enacted 

legislation that guaranteed public education 

to all children in the state, regardless of race. 

In 1849, the Ohio legislature repealed its 

repressive “black laws,”  thereby allowing un­

restricted black immigration, providing some 

public education for African Americans, and 

permitting blacks to testify in court against 

whites. And in 1855, Massachusetts enacted 

legislation providing public education to stu­

dents on a racially integrated basis. Most of 

the free states became increasingly hospitable 
to African Americans, and the growth rate 
of the northern free black population—nearly 

five-fold between 1800 and 1860—outpaced 
that of the enslaved or free black populations 

of the South during the same period.

Black conventions not only helped bring 

about concrete legal advances for northern 

blacks, they also embodied the spirit of black 

constitutionalism. The notion of a written 

constitution as a supreme law figured promi­

nently in the thinking of the founding genera­

tion. Because it supposedly embodied higher 

principles, the Constitution became a sacred 

public text, and constitutionalism, the belief 
in adhering to and governing under a con­

stitution, became a central feature of main­
stream American life and thought.13 Through 

their convention activities, black leaders of­

fered their own expression of constitutional­

ism, their own interpretation of the American 

founding. Idealist in their orientation, they 

combined the principle of political equality 

inherent in the Declaration of Independence, 

the notion that the Constitution referred to 

slaves as “persons”  rather than property, and

the ideal of Christian brotherhood under the 

fatherhood of God into a powerful, compre­

hensive critique of both slavery and white 

supremacy. In contrast to Garrisonian aboli­

tionists who condemned the Constitution as 

pro-slavery, black constitutionalists viewed 

the document as “ the foundation of Amer­

ican liberties.” 14 Unlike white abolitionists 

generally, moreover, who narrowly attacked 

southern slavery, black constitutionalists took 

aim at the entire legal apparatus of white 

supremacy in both the North and the South. 

While white abolitionists mostly avoided 

questions about what rights blacks should 

possess in a postemancipation republic, black 

constitutionalists unabashedly took a moral 

stance in support of equality. Through news­

papers, pamphlets, books, and speeches, and 
through organizing in local churches, lodges, 

and national conventions, black activists con­

sistently advocated this distinctive brand of 
American constitutionalism.15

Black constitutionalism was an expres­
sion of both belonging and aspiration. It 

revealed the American identity of African 

Americans, a people whose roots in the 

country often went back generations and 

who had a hard time imagining themselves 

outside of the American republic. At the 

same time, black constitutionalism aspired 

to a better America, a more inclusive nation 

in which liberty would triumph over slavery 

and transcend any distinctions of race or 

color.16 It included both a reading of the 
past and an agenda for the future. “We are 

Americans. We were born in no foreign 

clime,” explained the delegates of the 1840 
Convention of the Colored Inhabitants of 

New York. “We have not been brought up 

under the influence of other strange, aris­

tocratic, and uncongenial political relations. 

In this respect, we profess to be American 

and republican.” 17 More than a rhetorical 

tradition or “a counter-narrative of slavery 

and freedom,”  black constitutionalism repre­

sented the deepest hopes and beliefs within 

the black community—the desire to claim
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all they thought they deserved as Americans, 

clinging to the promise of human dignity 

inherent in their Christian beliefs and implied 

in Jefferson’s Declaration of Independence.18 

To be sure, black constitutionalism was not 

the only strain within the black protest tradi­

tion. Some continued to advocate emigration, 

particularly after the passage of the Fugitive 

Slave Law of 1850, and during the 1850s oc­

casional calls emerged for violent resistance 
to slavery and racial oppression. But black 

constitutionalism did represent the dominant 

and most persistent way of thinking within 

the black community, for it encompassed 

both principles and processes, which were 

simultaneously sincere and strategic.19

No one personified antebellum black 

constitutionalism better than Frederick Dou­

glass. Born into bondage in Maryland in 
1818, the son of a white father and a slave 

mother, Douglass proved a powerful first­

hand witness against the horrors of slavery. 
Douglass’ most famous oration, “What to 

the Slave Is the Fourth of July,” emphasized 

America’s failure to live up its principles. De­

livered in Rochester, New York in 1852, the 

speech praised the founders of the country 

as brave, heroic men who had been willing  

to sacrifice their lives for the sake of liberty. 

Douglass urged his audience to honor the 

founders, the Declaration of Independence, 
and the date on which it was signed. “The 

4th of July is the first great fact in your 

nation’s history—the very ring-bolt in the 

chain of your yet undeveloped destiny.” 20 

But Douglass lamented that the ideals which 

it enunciated did not apply to those of his 

race, a fact which made a celebration of the 

nation’s birth little more than a charade.

What, to the American slave, is 

your 4th of July? I answer: a day 
that reveals to him, more than all 

other days in the year, the gross 

injustice and cruelty to which he is 

the constant victim. To him, your 

celebration is a sham; your boasted

liberty, an unholy license; ... your 

shouts of liberty and equality, hol­

low mockery.

If Douglass criticized Americans for 
failing to live up to their own principles, in 

the process he exalted and venerated both 

the Declaration and the Constitution, the 

latter of which he described as “a glorious 

liberty document.” Offering a critique of 

the Garrisonian position to which he had 

once subscribed, Douglass characterized the 

Constitution in favorable terms. “Read its 

preamble, consider its purposes. Is slavery 

among them? Is it at the gateway? Or is 

it in the temple? It is neither.” Arguing 

that both the Declaration of Independence 

and the Constitution served as foundational 
texts for black advancement, by the 1850s 

Douglass became the foremost advocate of 
black constitutionalism.21

The Black Response to D red Scott, 

1857-1859

Five years after Douglass’ famous 

speech, Taney rendered his infamous opin­

ion. The case of VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott v. Sandfo rd 
(1857) involved an enslaved Missourian, 

Scott, who alleged that his travels and res­
idence in free territory with his deceased 

former master, army surgeon John Emerson, 

made him a free man. Although Scott initially  

filed his freedom suit in 1846, it took a 

decade for his case to make it to the nation’s 

highest court, and it did so at a time when 

the question of the extension of slavery into 

new territories dominated national politics. 

The chief justice devoted close to half of his 

opinion to the issue of Scott’s citizenship, for 

only if  he was a citizen of Missouri was Scott 

eligible to bring the case into federal court 
in the first place. Taney ruled that neither 

slaves nor free blacks could claim citizenship 

under the Constitution. “ [T]he legislation and 

histories of the times, and the language used 

in the Declaration of Independence,” Taney 

wrote, “show, that neither the class of persons
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who had been imported as slaves, nor their 

descendants, whether they had become free 

or not, were then acknowledged as a part of 

the people, nor intended to be included in 

the general words used in that memorable 

instrument.” Taney continued by claiming 

that blacks “had no rights which the white 
man was bound to respect.” 22

Taney wrote with a single-minded desire 
to deny black citizenship.23 Two clauses 

of the Constitution, he argued, specifically 

identified the black race as a separate cate­

gory excluded from the American political 

community: the Slave Trade Clause, which 

referred “unquestionably,” in Taney’s words, 

to “persons of the race of which we are 

speaking,” and the Fugitive Slave Clause, 

which mandated the delivering up of escaped 

slaves. “ [C]ertainly these two clauses were 
not intended to confer on [slaves] or their 

posterity the blessings of liberty, or any of the 

personal rights so carefully provided for the

citizen,”  the chief justice asserted.24 Because 

the Framers had deemed blacks inferior to 

whites, African Americans—whether slave 
or free—had no legitimate claims to citizen­

ship. Neither could a state confer citizenship 

upon a black person within the meaning of 

the U.S. Constitution. Taney offered a racial 
notion of citizenship that presupposed white 

supremacy and disregarded any legal distinc­

tion arising from emancipation. “We think 

they are not, and that they are not included, 

and were not intended to be included, under 

the word ‘citizens’ in the Constitution, and 

can therefore claim none of the rights and 
privileges which that instrument provides for 

and secures to citizens of the United States,”  
Taney wrote.25 Although their precise legal 

status under the opinion remained unclear, 
the decision had an immediate effect on free 

African Americans. In response to the ruling, 

the federal government abruptly halted their 

preemption rights (the right to settle on new 

territorial lands), as well as their ability to 
obtain passports.26

Taney’s denial of black citizenship re­

flected the dominant view on the Court and in 

the country. Although most of the other jus­

tices wrote shorter opinions that avoided the 
citizenship question, thus allowing the chief 

justice to speak for the Court, Justice Peter 

V. Daniel, a Virginian, struck a tone similar 

to that of Taney. “ [T]he African negro race 
never have been acknowledged as belonging 

to the family of nations,” Justice Daniel 

argued, “ ... and that the introduction of that 

race into every section of this country was 

not as members of civil or political society, 

but as slaves, as VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAproperty in the strictest sense 

of the term.”  The two antislavery northerners 

on the Court wrote dissenting opinions, in 

which they attacked Taney’s view of citizen­

ship. Justice John McLean emphasized slaves 

as “persons” under the Constitution and as 

human beings made in the image of God. “A 
slave is not a mere chattel,” McLean wrote. 

“He bears the impress of his Maker, and 

is amenable to the laws of God and man;
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and he is destined to an endless existence.”  

Justice Benjamin Curtis’ dissent made the 

point that, before the adoption of the Con­

stitution, five states had granted blacks the 

right of suffrage, evidence that Curtis used to 
contradict Taney’s claim that blacks could not 

be counted as members of the political com­

munity at the time of the founding.27 Still, the 

majority of state courts in the North and the 

South during the era had ruled that African 

Americans could not be citizens. Even if  his 

“ they have no rights” rhetoric went beyond 

the legal language of these decisions, Chief 

Justice Taney’s attempt to settle the matter 
of black citizenship probably reflected the 

general state of white legal opinion—and 

white public opinion—on the subject.28

African Americans, though, were deter­

mined to have their say in the matter, and 
Douglass led the way in rejecting Taney’s 

interpretation of the founding. Barely two 

months after the decision, in a speech mark­

ing the anniversary of the American Abo­

lition Society, the leading black abolitionist 

delivered a stirring oration. Outlining the 

recent history of attempts to “settle” the 
slavery issue, Douglass mocked the idea that 

Taney’s decision offered the final word on 

slavery and the status of black people. “The 

fact is,” Douglass argued, “ the more the 
question has been settled, the more it has 

needed settling.”  Then, summarizing Taney’s 

opinion, Douglass offered his response. “You 

will  readily ask me how I am affected by this 

devilish decision—this judicial incarnation 

of wolfishness! My answer is, and no thanks 

to the slaveholding wing of the Supreme 

Court, my hopes were never brighter than 

now.” Describing the decision as “a scan­

dalous tissue of lies,” Douglass asserted that 

abolitionists and African Americans should 
remain steadfast in their commitment to 

reform. “This very attempt to blot out forever 

the hopes of an enslaved people may be 

one necessary link in the chain of events 

preparatory to the downfall and complete 

overthrow of the whole slave system,” he

argued.29 Douglass took the long view. See­

ing the opinion as a necessary step toward 

arousing the national conscience, Douglass 

seemed certain that slavery was doomed.

Remarkably, Douglass grounded his 

hope in the American system of government. 

Drawing on the deep well of black consti­

tutional values, Douglass succinctly stated 

these clear-eyed ideals:

I know of no soil better adapted to 

the growth of reform than American 

soil.... The Constitution, as well as 

the Declaration of Independence, 

and the sentiments of the founders 
of the Republic give us a platform 

broad enough, and strong enough, 

to support the most comprehensive 

plans for the freedom and elevation 

of all the people of this country, 
without regard to color, class, or 

clime.30

Linking Taney’s pro-slavery view of that 

Constitution with that of the abolitionist 

William Lloyd Garrison, Douglass dismissed 

their interpretation of the nation’s founding 

document with regard to slavery, as well as 
Garrison’s disunionist solution to the prob­

lem. The text of the Constitution was not the 

same as the administration and construction 

of it given by the Court, Douglass argued, 
and because the Constitution itself offered 

no specific “warrant for slavery,” Douglass 

rejected the Taney/Garrison pro-slavery in­

terpretation as “a most scandalous and dev­

ilish perversion of the Constitution, and a 

brazen misreading of the facts of history.”  To 

Douglass, the task at hand was simple and 

straightforward: “ [A]ll  I ask of the American 

people is, that they live up to the Constitution, 

adopt its principles, imbibe its spirit, and 
enforce its provisions.” 31

If Douglass focused mostly on under­

mining Taney’s pro-slavery view of the Con­

stitution, others emphasized blacks’ status as 

citizens. A few months later, in a Fourth 

of July Address, Charles Lenox Remond, a
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black abolitionist from Massachusetts, of­

fered a sharp critique. “Shame on Judge 

Taney! Shame on the United States Supreme 

Court! ... My God and Creator has given me 

rights which you are as much bound to re­

spect as those of the whitest man among you, 

if  I make the exhibitions of a man,”  he stated. 
“And black men did make the exhibition of 

manhood at Bunker Hill,  and Lexington, and 

Concord, as I can well testify.” To Remond, 

who had been born to a prominent free black 

family in Salem, Massachusetts, it was not up 

to the justices to decide whether blacks pos­

sessed citizenship or rights. Instead, blacks’ 

humanity, as well as their service and sacri­

fice in the American Revolution, conferred 

on them rights and dignity that demanded 

white Americans’ recognition and respect. 

Noting Taney’s “ ingratitude,” Remond went 

to so far as to lament the price that blacks 

had paid in participating in the Revolution, 

if  such a decision was to be their reward. 
“ I regret exceedingly that there is one single 
drop of blood in my own veins that mingle 

with the blood of the men who engaged in 

the strife on Bunker Hill and Lexington,”  
Remond continued. “Better that any such 

man had folded his hands and crossed his 

knees, during the American Revolution, if  

this is the reward we are to derive from such 

hypocrites, such cowards, such panders to 

American slavery, as Judge Taney and his co- 

operators.” 32

Blacks’ interpretation of American his­

tory played a critical role in resisting the 
Court’s opinion and making the case for 

citizenship. A year after VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott, in March 

1858, two black abolitionists from Mas­

sachusetts, William Nell and Lewis Hayden, 
organized a public celebration to honor the 

memory of Crispus Attucks, one of the first 

martyrs of the American Revolution. Held 

at Boston’s historic Faneuil Hall, the event 

included a host of abolitionist speakers, black 

and white, who drew a seamless connection 

between black sacrifice and black citizenship. 

For years, Nell had been researching and

writing about Attucks, a Massachusetts slave 
who had lost his life in the Boston Massacre. 

In 1851, Nell had published the Services of 

C olored A m ericans in the W ars of 1776 

and 1812, and four years later he wrote 

C olored Patriots of the R evolu tion. Both 

works contended that blacks had played an 
important role in the nation’s founding and 

early history, and both made an impact on 

the push for citizenship. Drawing upon the 

historic connections between citizenship and 

soldiery, in some states African Americans 

went so far as to form vigilance committee 
and military companies in order to protect 

against slavecatching and kidnapping. Invok­

ing the memory of the black patriot, many of 

these informal organizations used the name 

of Attucks.33

Some months after the Attucks celebra­

tion, in August 1858 the Convention of the 

Colored Citizens of Massachusetts, the first 

black convention to meet in the case had been 

decided, took a strong stance in opposition 
to the ruling based largely on this reading of 
the American past. William Wells Brown, the 

convention president, proclaimed “ that we 

have rights, not granted by the American gov­

ernment, but by the Creator” and urged the 

assembled delegates to “ recommend to the 

State to assume a defiant attitude towards the 

Dred Scott decision.” 34 Lauding Justice Ben­

jamin Curtis’ dissent in the case, delegates 

agreed with his conclusion that blacks had 

been citizens in some states at the time of the 

founding and that Article IV of the Consti­
tution thus affirmed that they possessed “ the 

privileges and immunities of citizens in the 
several states.” Moreover, proclaiming their 

devotion to their “native land”  and describing 

“ the claims of colored people”  as “ the claims 

of Americans,” delegates offered their own 

version of the history of America, one that 

included the contributions of blacks in build­

ing the republic. They highlighted the role of 

Attucks, while also noting black American 
military sacrifice during the War of 1812.35 

Finally, delegates pledged to oppose the en­
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forcement of VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott with all their might, 

regardless of the cost, and in rejecting the 

notion of emigration, cast their lot with the 

country of their birth. On this point, Remond 

spoke for the convention: “We must resolve 
to remain here, in defiance of Judge Taney.” 36

Blacks’ emphasis on citizenship and be­

longing stood in stark contrast to mainstream 

criticism of the decision. Across the North, 

Republican newspapers focused mostly on 

how the D red Scott decision protected the 

interests of the Slave Power and undermined 

the possibility of sectional compromise.37 

In August 1858, just weeks after the Mas­
sachusetts Convention, Abraham Lincoln and 

Stephen Douglas began their debates for the 

U.S. Senate seat in Illinois which stretched 

over the next two months. They too debated 
D red Scott as a slavery decision rather than 
as a citizenship decision, as a matter of 

slaveholders’ rights rather than as a matter of 

blacks’ rights. On black citizenship, the two 

were generally of the same mind. Douglas 

summarized his position in the first debate, 

which he repeated again and again. “ I believe 

this government was made on the white 

basis,”  he announced. “ I believe it was made 

by white men, for the benefit of white men 

and their posterity for ever, and I am in favour 
of confining citizenship to white men, men 

of European birth and descent, instead of 

conferring it upon negroes, Indians and other 

inferior races.” If  Lincoln avoided Douglas’ 

white supremacist rhetoric, he nevertheless 
admitted that, although he opposed the D red 

Scott decision, he had “never complained 

especially of the D red Scott decision because 

it held that a negro could not be a citizen.” 38 

Lincoln repeatedly attacked Taney’s claim 

that Congress could not interfere with slave­
holding in the territories, arguing that the 

founders had no intention to enshrine slave­

holding as a constitutional right.39 But he 

remained silent on Taney’s conclusions about 

black citizenship. So, although Douglas and 

Lincoln profoundly disagreed over the issue 

of the rights of slaveholders in federal terri-

B lack A m ericans expressed outrage over R oger B . 

Taney ’s opin ion in Dred Scott on the ground that it 

vio lated both the C onstitu tion and the D eclaration of 

Independence.

tories, they generally agreed that blacks could 

not be citizens.

While Lincoln and Douglas debated in 
Illinois, black critics throughout the country 

went well beyond Lincoln’s critique of D red 

Scott. Taney’s claim that blacks “had no rights 

that the white man was bound to respect”  
became a rallying point for the growing 

group of northern black activists who sought 

not only to end slavery but also to advance 
the cause of black citizenship and rights.40 

In September 1858, the Suffrage Convention 

of the Colored Citizens of New York, for 

example, excoriated the Court. “The Dred 

Scott decision is a foul and infamous lie— 
which neither black men or white men are 

bound to respect,” the delegates exclaimed. 

They expressed particular outrage at Taney’s 

interpretation of the Constitution and Decla­

ration of Independence. “ In order to satisfy 
the wolfish appetite of the oligarchy, Judge 

Taney and his concurring confederates were
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obliged to assume that the once revered 

signers of the Declaration of Independence, 

and the framers of the Constitution, were a 

band of hypocritical scoundrels and selfish 

tyrants,” the delegates proclaimed. Assert­

ing that Taney’s opinion violated Ameri­

can principles and precedents, including the 

Northwest Ordinance of 1787, (which had 

banned slavery north of the Ohio River), 

the delegates claimed the common humanity 
of blacks and whites, affirming a radically 
inclusive vision of equality. “We therefore, 

called upon all who subscribe to the theory 

of human rights set forth in the Declaration of 

American Independence, to trample, in self- 

defense, the dicta of Judge Taney beneath 
their feet, as of no binding authority.” 41 The 

Convention of the Colored Men of Ohio, 

held in Cincinnati in November 1858, just a 

few weeks after Douglas’ defeat of Lincoln, 

repudiated the decision in similar terms. 

“ [W]e trample the Fugitive Slave Law and 

the dicta of the Dred Scott decision beneath 
our feet, as huge outrages, not only upon the 

Declaration of Independence and Constitu­

tion of the United States, but upon humanity 
itself.” Delegates not only called for the 

abolition of slavery, but also for the repeal of 

“all laws that make complexional discrimina­

tions.”  Rejecting emigration, they resolved to 
remain and “achieve our rights at home.” 42

Strikingly, free blacks never attempted to 
argue with Taney by attempting to distinguish 

their own legal status from that of slaves. 

Instead, northern free black activists consis­
tently made unequivocal claims to citizenship 

for all blacks, whether free or enslaved, thus 
emphasizing unity within the black commu­

nity. African Americans in New York, for 

example, revolved that the Court’s decision 

“ is aimed not simply at the rights of the col­

ored citizens of the Republic, but as slavery 

is the common enemy of man, and as its 
political supremacy has been authoritatively 

proclaimed by the majority of the Supreme 
Court, the natural rights of all who form a 
part of the nation are impudently invaded.”4j

Similarly, Ohio delegates denounced slavery 

in no uncertain terms: “Millions of our 

brethren are publicly sold, like beasts in 

the shambles, that they are robbed of their 

earnings, denied the control of their children, 
forbidden to protect the chastity of their 

wives and daughters, [and] debarred an edu­

cation and the free exercise of their religion.”  

In doing so, delegates affirmed that “ the great 

principles of Liberty and Equality which are 

the boast of our nation, were intended to 

apply to us and our unfortunate brethren, 

the slaves.” 44 Taney had grouped all African 
Americans together, and rather than empha­

sizing their own legal advantages over slaves 

and free blacks in the South, free blacks in 

the North accepted the legal challenge posed 

by Taney’s opinion. All  blacks—slave and 

free—deserved citizenship.

The following year black leaders con­

tinued to criticize the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott decision, 

affirm their status as Americans citizens, and 

express hope for the future. In August 1859, 
the president of the New England Colored 

Citizens’ Convention, George T. Downing 

of Rhode Island, made a passionate address, 

in which he argued that African Americans 

had an “ inseparable, providential identity”  

with the United States that included a deep 
connection to the principles upon which it 

had been founded “which were the uplifting 

of man—universal brotherhood.” Although 

he took note of “Fugitive Slave Laws, Dred 
Scott decisions, American Colonization So­

cieties,” he argued that while such things 

“annoy,” they “cannot permanently affect 

us.” Above all, he wanted his audience to 

know that he remained hopeful. “ I wish it to 

be emphatically noticed, that WE DO NOT 

DESPAIR—that we are scanning the bright 

future.” Unwilling to accept the notion of 

America as a white man’s country in which 

blacks had no rights, the assembly crafted 
a resolution that rejected the decision as 

“marked by a brutality of spirit, ... a wanton 

perversion of the Constitution of the United 

States with regard to the rights of American
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citizens [and] an audacious denial of all the 

principles of justice and humanity.” Dele­

gates not only rejected emigration as an alter­

native, they also decided to form a committee 
that would, in consultation with black leaders 

throughout the North, petition Congress to 
“ remove the disabilities under which we now 

labor, on account of the unrighteous Dred 

Scott decision.” 45 Black New Englanders 

made it clear that, remaining in America, 

they would continue to organize and petition 

for progress. In Massachusetts, for example, 

their petitions were heard. The state allowed 

black critics of the decision—Nell, Hayden, 

and Robert Morris—to address a state leg­

islative committee hearing on the subject.46

To be sure, there were other types of 
black responses to the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott decision. 

Just a few months after the Court’s ruling, 
Robert Purvis, a mixed-race abolitionist from 

Pennsylvania, delivered a powerful speech 
before the American Anti-Slavery Society 

in which he lambasted the notion that the 

Constitution was antislavery or conducive 

to the advancement of the rights of blacks. 

While critical of whites who argued that 

the Constitution was antislavery, he found 

African Americans’ devotion to constitu­

tional principles particularly galling. “Are we 

to clank the chains that have been made for 

us, and praise the men who did the deed?”  he 
wondered. “Are we to be kicked and scouted, 

trampled upon and judicially declared to 

"have no r igh ts w hich w hite m en are hound 

to respect,’ ’ and then turn round and glorify 

and magnify the laws under which all this 

is done?”  Purvis thought such arguments “at 

variance with common sense” and “an idle 

phantasy.” A significant minority of African 

Americans surely shared Purvis’ sentiments. 

And during the late 1850s African-American 
leaders such as Martin Delany and Henry 

Highland Garnett turned increasingly toward 
the possibility of emigration.47

Still, the promise of America resonated 
with African Americans on a deep level, and 

the struggle to make the nation’s founding

principles a reality would continue. As the 

historians James O. Horton and Lois E. 

Horton argue, “The most common response 

among African Americans to the federal 

assaults of the 1850s was an even greater 

commitment to liberty and equality.” 48 Dur­

ing the years after the D red Scott deci­

sion, the voices of African Americans loudly 

and clearly rejected Taney’s narrow, race- 
based definition of citizenship and rights. 

Never questioning the legitimacy of the U.S. 

Supreme Court or its power of judicial re­

view, black activists always argued with the 

decision on principle, disagreeing with how 

the Court had interpreted the Constitution. 

Black leaders offered their own interpretation 

of the American founding, one that they had 
been developing for decades. Linking their 

humanity, American identity, and historic 
military service to citizenship, they champi­

oned their belief that rights came from God, 
from the Declaration of Independence, and 

from the U.S. Constitution. Determined to 

defy Taney and continue the struggle, they 

remained hopeful that history and justice 

were on their side.

The C ivil W ar and  the C ulm ination of 

B lack C onstitu tionalism

The Civil War expanded the scope 
of black constitutionalism. The presidential 
election of 1860 and the outbreak of the 

war abruptly shifted the theater of black 

activism from the North to the South. When 

the Republican Lincoln, who had pledged 

opposition to an extension of slavery, won 

election to the presidency in 1860 and south­

ern states seceded from the Union, some 

enslaved African Americans sensed an op­
portunity. Barely a week after Lincoln took 

the oath of office, enslaved people fled to 

Fort Sumter in Charleston Harbor, as well 

as to Fort Pickens in Pensacola, Florida. 
Although federal military officers at both 

sites sent the escapees back to their owners, 

the Confederate attack on Fort Sumter and
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the outbreak of war in April 1861 changed the 

Lincoln Administration’s policy, thus open­

ing the door for continued action on the 

part of enslaved African Americans. In May, 

while in command of Union forces at Fortress 

Monroe, Gen. Benjamin Butler confronted 

a Virginia planter requesting that three of 

his escaped slaves, who had fled to the fort, 
be returned to him under the Fugitive Slave 

Act. Noting that Virginia claimed it was 

no longer part of the United States, Gen. 

Butler offered to return the slaves only if  the 
planter swore an oath of loyalty to the Union. 

When the Virginian refused, Butler, a lawyer, 

claimed the slaves as “contraband of war.”  

In the ensuing weeks, escaping slaves began 

streaming into U.S. forts and camps, and by 

summer—with nearly a thousand enslaved 

people having already made their way to 

Union lines—the administration expressed 

support for this “contraband”  policy.49

War presented the opportunity for both 

enslaved and free to take up arms in defense 
of the Union in order to stake a claim to 

citizenship. Just weeks after Fort Sumter, 

Douglass urged the arming of black men. 

“Let the slaves and free colored people be 

called into service, and formed into a lib­
erating army, to march into the South and 

raise the banner of Emancipation among the 

slaves,” Douglass thundered in his monthly 

newspaper. At the end of May 1861, a meet­
ing of African-American activists in Boston 

boldly described the conflict as “a contest 
between liberty and despotism” and offered, 

quoting the Declaration of Independence, to 

“defend the Government as the equals of its 

white defenders—to do so with ‘our lives, 

our fortunes, and our sacred honor’ for the 

sake of freedom.” 50 For his part, Douglass 

viewed military service as the surest path 

to citizenship. “Once let the black man 
get upon his person the brass letters U.S.; 

let him get an eagle on his button, and 

a musket on his shoulder and bullets in 

his pocket,” he continued, “and there is no 
power on earth which can deny that he has

earned the right of citizenship in the United 

States.” 51

Some black leaders were more circum­

spect. John Rock, a free-born black man from 

New Jersey, saw the war as an opportunity 

for blacks not only to gain their freedom 

but also to overturn the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott decision. 

“Seventy-five thousand freemen capable of 

bearing arms, and three-quarters of a million 
of slaves wild with the enthusiasm caused by 

the dawn of the glorious opportunity of being 

able to strike a genuine blow for freedom, 

will  be a power that ‘white men will  be bound 

to respect,” ’ he argued in a January 1862 

speech in Boston, in a mocking paraphrase of 

Taney’s opinion. Still, he argued that military 

service and sacrifice needed to be explicitly 

linked to citizenship and rights. “Let the 

people of the United States do their duty, and 
treat us as the people of all other nations 

treat us—as men; if  they will do this, our 

last drop of blood is ready to be sacrificed in 

defence of the liberty of this country,” Rock 
continued. “But if  you continue to deny us 

our rights, and spurn our offers except as 

menials, colored men will  be worse than fools 

to take up arms at all.” 52

Over time, white Republicans came to 

see the war as a means of ending slavery, 

and they enacted policies they believed would 
hurt the Confederacy, help the Union, and lib­

erate the enslaved.53 In April 1862, Congress 

and Lincoln abolished slavery in Washington, 
D.C., and a few months later, they banned 

slavery in all existing federal territories and 

any that might be acquired in the future. 

Not only did the law liberate the handful 

of enslaved blacks who resided in Nebraska, 

New Mexico, and Utah, the legislation also 
directly challenged D red Scott, which had de­

nied to Congress power to prohibit slavery in 

the territories. In July, Congress passed legis­
lation liberating all slaves held by Confeder­

ates and their supporters, repealed the Fugi­

tive Slave Law for all slaveowners engaged 
in the rebellion, and provided for the raising 

of black troops on behalf of the Union.



228 JO U R N A L O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Most significantly, in terms of citizenship, 

in November 1862 Attorney General Edward 

Bates responded to an official query from the 

secretary of treasury about “whether colored 

men can be citizens of the United States.’ ’ 
In a carefully reasoned legal opinion, Bates 

claimed that all people born in the United 

States possessed American citizenship. Rely­

ing heavily on European precedents stretch­

ing back to ancient Rome, as well as the U.S. 

Constitution’s reference to “natural born”  cit­

izens, Bates argued for birthright citizenship. 

Sidestepping the issue of slaves born in the 

United States, Bates concentrated on free 

blacks—those referred to in the secretary’s 

query—and concluded that no person born in 
the United States could be denied citizenship 

solely on the basis of their race or color. 

Bates dismissed the portion of the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red 
Scott decision that pertained to citizenship 

as irrelevant, arguing that the ruling applied 

only to Scott’s specific plea and possessed 

“no authority as a judicial decision.” 54

Blacks coming out of slavery wanted 

the same guarantee of citizenship and rights 

that Bates’ opinion offered to free blacks. 
Lincoln’s Emancipation Proclamation of Jan­

uary 1, 1863, not only claimed to liberate 

all the enslaved people in the Confederacy, 
it also affirmed the evolving Union policy 

on black military service.55 The War De­

partment subsequently created a Bureau of 
Colored Troops and began actively recruiting 

and raising black regiments on a grand scale 

in those parts of the South that had already 

come under Union control. But black leaders 

still wanted to know if  citizenship and rights 

were forthcoming. At a contentious public 
meeting over enlistment in New York in 

April 1863, Frederick Douglass admonished 

a crowd of potential recruits for their lack 
of enthusiasm. According to one observer, 

a Mr. Robert Johnson suddenly rose and 

defended the skeptical attendees, noting that 

“a proper respect for their own manhood”  

lay behind the unwillingness to enlist. “ If  
the Government wanted their services, let

it guarantee to them all the rights of citi­

zens and soldiers,” Johnson argued, to great 

applause.56 In New Bern, North Carolina, 

white abolitionist Edward Kinsley found in 

spring 1863 that only if  he submitted to a 
list of black demands would local African 

Americans, under the charismatic leadership 

of Abraham Galloway, respond to his efforts 
to recruit and enlist soldiers for the Union 

Army. A former fugitive slave who had 

travelled to the North and to Haiti, Galloway 

wanted equal pay for black soldiers, provi­

sions for their families, schooling for their 

children, as well as the promise that captured 

soldiers would be treated as prisoners of war, 

rather than re-enslaved or executed.57

Unable to enlist, African-American 
women emerging from slavery made their 

own claims to freedom and citizenship. 
Through their interactions with Federal mil­

itary authorities, African-American women 

took unprecedented actions demonstrating 

their demand for equality. In wartime 

Missouri, a state where the Emancipation 

Proclamation did not even apply, black 

women claimed freedom and more. They 

petitioned provost marshals for “ free papers,”  
lodged complaints against their former 

owners in military courts, and “ joined the 

army” by following their husbands to Union 

lines and working as cooks, laundresses, 

and nurses. They sought legal recognition of 
their marriages, moreover, and, when their 

husbands died in battle, claimed pensions as 

the widows of war veterans. These assertions 
of black agency, which often flummoxed 

Union military officers, showed that African 

Americans took the lead in ensuring that

emancipation and equal rights emerged from
58war.

By 1864, an emerging black leadership 

class in the South, combined with the sea­

soned cadre of black leaders in the North, 
laid the groundwork for thoroughgoing con­

stitutional change. On April  29, Galloway, the 

former slave who had recruited black soldiers 

in North Carolina, led a delegation of African
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Americans to meet with President Lincoln at 
the Executive Mansion.59 Remarkably, after 

thanking Lincoln for issuing the Emanci­

pation Proclamation, Galloway and his col­

leagues recited the words of the Declaration 

of Independence to the president—that “all 

men are created equal”—and pressed their 

case for black rights, including suffrage. In 

the days and months that followed, Galloway 
and other black leaders took their campaign 

for freedom and equality to the northern 

public, and in October 1864, 144 black 

delegates from seventeen states (including 

some from the South) and the District of 
Columbia assembled in convention in Syra­

cuse, New York. Just as they had done 

since first meeting in Philadelphia in 1830, 

black leaders met to claim their share of 

America’s heritage of constitutional liberty. 

They drafted the “Declaration of Rights and 

Wrongs,” a formal statement modeled on 

the American Declaration of Independence, 

which listed the historical grievances of 
African Americans while also lauding black 

military service. Dismissing emigration, the

delegates made their own claim to American 
citizenship. “Here were we born,”  they wrote, 

casting their lot with the country that had 

mistreated those of their race for nearly two 

and a half centuries. “For this country our 

fathers and our brothers have fought, and 

here we hope to remain in the full enjoyment 

of enfranchised manhood and its dignities.”  
Asserting their rights “as citizens of the 

Republic,”  the delegates defined these rights 

as “a portion of what we deem to be our 

rights as men, as patriots, as citizens, and as 
children of the common Father.” 60

The subsequent abolition of slavery 

marked both an end and a beginning. In Jan­

uary 1865, at the urging of President Lincoln, 

Congress enacted the Thirteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution, which provided that 

“neither slavery nor involuntary servitude”  

shall exist. By the end of the year, after Lin­

coln’s assassination and the surrender of Con­

federate armies to Union forces, the Amend­
ment won ratification by the requisite number 

of states. The Amendment certainly was a 

milestone, in that it abolished an institution
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that had existed on North American soil for 

nearly 250 years. But for African Americans, 

emancipation was just the start. Citizenship 

and equal rights—rather than mere freedom 

from bondage—had always been the goal. 

While official state conventions convened 

during the summer of 1865 to establish 
new governments in the southern states in 
accordance with President Andrew Johnson’s 

lenient program of reconstruction, African 

Americans held their own conventions in 
order the press the case for rights.

In conventions throughout the ex- 

Confederate states during 1865, African 

Americans repeatedly invoked the spirit 

of the American founders and sounded 

familiar themes: their loyalty to the Union, 

their service and sacrifice as soldiers during 

the war, and their shared constitutional 

inheritance as Americans. The Rev. James 

D. Lynch of Nashville perhaps best captured 

the spirit of these assemblages when 
he announced to delegates of his state’s 
freedman’s convention: “We have met here to 

impress upon the white men of Tennessee, of 
the United States, and of the world that we are 

part and parcel of the American Republic.”  

Sergeant Henry J. Maxwell, who had served 

in the 3rd U.S. Colored Heavy Artillery in 

Memphis before travelling to the convention 

in Nashville, made explicit what African 

Americans were seeking: “We want the 

rights guaranteed by the Infinite Architect. 
For these rights we labor: for them we will 

die. We have gained one—the Uniform is its 

badge. We want two more boxes besides the 
cartridge box—the ballot and the jury box. 

We shall gain them. Let us work faithfully 

unto that end.” 61 In September 1865, black 

leaders formed the National Equal Rights 

League. Gathering in Cleveland, delegates 

criticized President Johnson’s Reconstruction 

policies for seemingly leaving the freed 

people in the hands of their former masters. 

By that time, many southern states had 

passed laws restricting the behavior and 

economic opportunities of formerly enslaved

people, laws that derisively became known 

in the North as “black codes.” Delegates 

to the National Equal Rights League 

called for the nation “ to guarantee to 

us the full enjoyment of our liberties, 

protection to our persons throughout the 
land, complete enfranchisement...until all 

are equal as American citizens before the 
law.” Calling on the U.S. Congress to take 

swift action, the delegates advocated a 
constitutional amendment that prohibited 
any legislation “against any civilized portion 

of the inhabitants, native born or naturalized, 

on account of race or color.” 62

Decades of constitutional activism, bol­

stered by a bloody civil war, made a dif­

ference. In March 1866, Congress enacted 
the first civil rights bill in the history of 

the United States. The Civil Rights Act of 
1866 established citizenship for all born in 

United States and for the first time articulated 

a list of rights to which all citizens could 
lay claim. The legislation provided that all 

citizens possessed the “ right to make and 

enforce contracts, to sue, be parties, and give 

evidence, to inherit, purchase, lease sell, hold, 

and convey real and personal property, and to 

full  and equal benefit of all laws and proceed­

ings for the security of person and property, 

as is enjoyed by white citizens.”  The bill also 

provided that the federal courts would have 

jurisdiction in cases involving any offenses 

under the act. Clearly, the bill did not include 
all that African Americans wanted. The right 

to vote, hold office, and serve on juries, for 

example, were not included in the rights of 
citizenship under the statute.63 Still, the law 

did establish the citizenship of all people born 

in the United States, including all African 

Americans. Despite a presidential veto, in 

April 1866 Congress enacted the bill into law 

with the requisite two-thirds majority in both 

houses of Congress.

Further congressional action on behalf 

of the citizenship of African Americans 

followed. After a white-on-black massacre 

in Memphis, Tennessee in May 1866 cost
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at least 46 African Americans their lives, 

outraged congressional Republicans saw a 

new amendment to the Constitution as the 

best long-term solution to the problems in 
the South. Johnson’s speedy re-establishment 

of civilian governments in the South had 

yielded horrific violence, a fact that only 

served to rally Republicans to push for 

further federal oversight of southern affairs. 

Many white Republicans, who had witnessed 

blacks’ service and sacrifice in wartime, fa­

vored a constitutional amendment that would 

reform the South and protect black civil  

rights. A constitutional amendment, they 

reasoned, could not be easily repealed by 
future Democratic majorities in Congress. 

The Senate had first agreed on language for 
a proposed amendment in April, and south­

ern atrocities played into the hands of the 
measure’s proponents in the House.64 In June 

1866, the amendment passed in the House 

of Representatives. The first section of the 

amendment wrote into the Constitution the 
principle that all born on American soil are 

“citizens of the United States and of the state 

wherein they reside” and guaranteed “equal 

protection of the laws.”  Two years of political 
conflict between President Johnson and con­

gressional Republicans ensued, but in 1868 

the requisite number of states ratified the 
Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution. 

Ratification of the Fifteenth Amendment, 

which protected the voting rights of black 

men, followed two years later.65

Black resistance to the U.S. Supreme 

Court’s decision in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott v. Sandfo rd 

came at a critical juncture in nineteenth- 

century U.S. constitutional history. African- 

American opposition to the decision cul­
minated a long, determined effort to make 

America live up to the promise of its found­

ing. From the early decades of the republic, 

black activists had argued that slavery vio­

lated the Constitution, that the Declaration of 

Independence established political equality, 

and that God granted rights to all human be­

ings. The crucible of war accelerated blacks’

post-Dret/ Scott activism, prompted the pol­
icy of emancipation, and helped legitimize 

the rights claims of African Americans, cul­
minating in the passage of the Fourteenth and 

Fifteenth Amendments. By standing “ in de­
fiance of Judge Taney,” African Americans’ 

constitutional expressions of belonging and 

aspiration helped redefine citizenship and 

create a new discourse of rights in the post- 

Civil War United States.66
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Ju s tice William R. Day and his wife , 

Mary Schae fe r Day , had fo u r s trap p ing s o ns 

who carr ie d o n the Day fam ily traditio n and 

be cam e dis tingu is he d lawyers: William Louis 
Day (1876-1936), Luther Day (1879-1965), 

Stephen Albion Day (1882-1950), and Ru­

fus Spalding Day (1884-1963). During his 
nineteen years serving on the Court, Justice 

Day, a devoted father, would invite three of 
his sons to live in his home and serve as 

his clerk: Luther for two terms, Stephen for 

one term before passing him on to Chief 

Justice Melville Fuller for a second term, and 

Rufus for nine terms in two stints: 1907-1910 

and 1917-1922.' These acts of nepotism bear 

scrutiny as Day is the only justice to have 

engaged his children as clerks, with the ex­

ception of John Marshall Harlan, who hired 

his youngest son, John Maynard Harlan, to 

be his first clerk in 1878—and also persuaded 
Fuller to take his second son, John S. Harlan, 

to briefly become Fuller’s first clerk in 1888.2 

Moreover, Rufus Day maintained an active 

law practice, including appealing cases to the 

Supreme Court, while serving as his father’s

clerk, a double transgression of nepotism 

and conflict of interest that merits closer 

examination.

N ature of the C lerkship

Justices hiring family members as staff 

would raise eyebrows today, but in the early 

1900s there were no consistent guidelines 
about how to recruit or whom to select as 

clerks. Congress had not appropriated funds 

for Supreme Court clerks until 1886, when it 

finally recognized that Court members were 

severely overburdened; prior to that justices 

had paid their “private secretaries” out of 

their own pockets. The yearly salary of a 

Supreme Court “stenographic clerk” rose 

from S1,000 to $ 1,600 in 1895 and continued 

at that meager level until 1911? When Day 

was appointed in 1903, most justices hired 
men who were working as stenographers in 

the federal government and had attended or 

were enrolled in local law schools at night. 

Because justices worked out of their homes 

until the Supreme Court building opened in
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1935, there was no centralized or regularized 

practice for recruiting these young men. 

New justices were often content to inherit 

clerks from their predecessors. Moreover, 

most pre-1935 justices used their clerks as 

stenographers, proofreaders, typists, chauf­

feurs, and errand-goers, although notable 
exceptions were Horace Gray, Oliver Wendell 

Holmes, Jr., and Louis D. Brandeis, who 

actively recruited top Harvard Law School 
graduates and gave them substantive legal 

work to perform. As long as the duties 

were mainly clerical, the selection process 

remained fairly uncompetitive and under­

scrutinized. Nonetheless, these early “steno­
graphic clerks”  were keenly aware that being 

employed by a Supreme Court justice would 

help advance their legal careers.4

Fam ily Tradition , Fam ily C ulture

Justice Day would have favored his sons 

as clerks because his family had produced 
several illustrious judges, and he wanted to 

give the sons an entree into the elite legal 

world so they could carry on the family 

tradition. It was quite a legacy to follow: he 

named one of his sons after Luther S. Day, 

his father, who served as chief justice of the 
Ohio Supreme Court from 1866 to 1875, and 

another after Rufus P. Spalding, his maternal 

grandfather, who served as associate justice 

on that court from 1849 to 1852. A maternal 

great-grandfather had served as chief justice 
of the Connecticut Supreme Court.5 To give 

them the best start, Day sent his sons to elite 

prep schools and later arranged for them to 
have apprenticeships “ reading law”  at his old 

law firm in Canton, Ohio.

During his tenure on the Court, Justice 

Day was known for his “exceptionally”  happy 

family life.6 A devoted husband and father, 

he was a quiet homebody who did “not care 

for society, in the ordinary acceptance of 

the word. To social life in Washington he 
preferred rather his chosen sphere of action 

at home.” 7 Day had been a trial lawyer in

Canton for twenty-five years, but had left pri­

vate practice for government service in 1896 

when his close friend William McKinley 

became president. Accordingly, Day may also 

have shied away from socializing because 

reciprocal entertaining was expensive. The 

Days lived modestly on his judicial salary of 

$14,500 at a time when a reporter wrote: “ It 

is hardly possible for a member of Congress 
to make any figure in the social life of the 

capital on less than $20,000 a year.” 8

Small and gaunt with reddish brown 

hair, Day was also by nature shy.9 He es­

chewed small talk and “carried reticence 

to an extreme.” 10 A Holmes clerk reported 

that “Day swallows his words against the 

impression of embarrassment.” 11 Yet he was 

well liked and evidently saved his energy 

for Conference discussions. Charles Evans 

Hughes said Day was “mentally very vig­
orous, clear in his views and precise in his 

statements, while enlivening his discussions 
with a ready wit.” 12 Louis D. Brandeis went 
farther, calling him a “ fighter, a regular game 

cock.... A hot little gent.” 13

The Justice’s introversion was likely 

partly the result of a weak immune system, 

as he suffered recurring bouts of pneumonia 

and bronchitis that forced him off the bench 
from time to time.14 His wife, Mary, was 

also frequently ill, and on several occasions 

he hired a nurse to look after her.15 “ I hope 

to lead a quiet life here [in Washington],”  

he told the nurse in 1905. By “keeping out 
of the society whirl,” he hoped her good 

health would “be fully  restored.” 16 With two 

frail constitutions, the couple would have 
benefited from having a son who lived in 

the comfort of their home keeping them 

company and working as the Justice’s private 

secretary.

Justice D ay ’s W ork H abits

There is little record of what duties Day 

assigned to his clerks, but most justices in his 

era deployed them to take shorthand, type,
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re ad p ro o fs , p e rfo rm le gal re s e arch, ans we r 

co rre s p o nde nce , fe tch bo o ks fro m the library , 

and carry o u t cho re s s u ch as chau ffe u ring 

and p ay ing bills . A Fe bru ary 1906 letter from 

Justice Day to his son Luther does give a clue 

as to the nature of the work (proofreading) 

and show the collective nature of the family’s 
endeavor to support the Justice. Luther’s 

clerkship had ended the previous term and 

his brother Stephen had replaced him, but 
Luther was apparently still scanning for er­

rors in the printed decisions in the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASuprem e 

C ourt R eporter and discussing them with his 

father:

When the sentence to which you 

call attention was written, Steve

[current clerk Stephen] and I had 

some discussion as to whether the 

verb should be “have” or “has.” As 

written in the opinion it is taken lit ­

erally from the act, and is probably 

correctly used, materials and labor 

together suggesting a single thing 

furnished. However I have followed 

the words of the act and I think it 

is right to do so, I shall be glad 
if you will call my attention to 

things of this nature as you read the 

Reporter, as slips will sometimes 

occur, where the intentions are the 
best. I have had the busiest February 

recess since my being here and the 

end is not yet.'7
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W illiam  and Luther w ired  their father on circu it to congratu late him  on being  appointed by President R oosevelt to  

the Suprem e C ourt in 1903.

Most of Day’s brethren did not ask their 
clerks to write bench memos or summarize 

cert, petitions and he was probably no excep­

tion, especially because he never employed 
more than one clerk per term.18 Yet having 

clerks provide substantive legal help might 

have ameliorated the badly congested docket 

that the justices struggled with during Day’s 

tenure. As the Court did not gain its modern 

form of discretionary review until 1925, they 

were unable to control the size of the docket 

by turning down mundane federal cases and 

were constantly behind. When Day first took 
his seat, he complained to a judge with 

whom he had served on the Sixth Circuit 

that compared to the appeals court, “ [w]e 
have three times as many cases to consider 

to say nothing of the numerous applications 

for writs of certiorari”  and “ there is little time 

for anything else.” 19 In the 1910 Term, for 

example, the Court disposed of 466 cases but 
still had 650 cases left over at the end.20

Even with his precarious health. Day 

rose to the challenge and proved to be 

a workhorse.21 Despite several medical

absences, he wrote 439 majority opinions and 
eighteen dissents during his nineteen years on 

the Supreme Court. By 1910, Justice Harlan 

noted that Day “has been indefatigable in 

his judicial labors. Indeed, since he has been 
with us no member of the Court has held 

to his work more persistently or steadily 

nor done a greater amount of work than 

Justice Day. His opinions in my judgment 

will always be highly regarded. They show 
unusual care in preparation.” 22 Clearly, Day 

would have required the services of good 

clerical assistants to manage such a heavy 

workload so skillfully.

Luther D ay: H is First C lerk

The four Day boys all grew up in Canton, 

Ohio, where their father was a trial lawyer 

specializing in both criminal and corporate 

law at Lynch & Day. They got their first 

glimpse of Washington in 1897 when Day 
was named assistant secretary of state (soon 

promoted to secretary of state) by President 

McKinley, his Canton neighbor and close
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fr ie nd. Exce p t fo r the e lde s t s o n, William , 

who was at the Unive rs ity o f Michigan, 

du ring the McKinle y adm inis tratio n the bo y s 

re m aine d at ho m e in Ohio supervised by 
David B. Day, the Justice’s half-brother and 

former law partner. The Day brothers were all 

athletes who played baseball and football at 
school, hunted and fished together, and orga­

nized tennis tournaments and golf outings on 
Mackinac Island in the summer. A reporter 

once remarked that “all four young men 
represent the best type of keen, energetic, 

aggressive manhood.” 23

In 1899, President McKinley appointed 

Day to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth 

Circuit. Judge Day engaged his second son 

to serve as his clerk on that Cincinnati-based 

appeals court. Luther, nicknamed “Luth,”  

had attended Kenyon College and Wittenberg 

College as an undergraduate. He left his fa­
ther’s employ to matriculate at the University 

of Michigan Law School (1900-1901), where 
his father had also taken classes.24 Without 

graduating, Luther returned to Canton to 

learn stenography and read law at his father’s 

old firm. Judge Day served on the appeals 

court for four years, taking time off  to grieve 

when he lost his close friend McKinley to an 

assassin’s gun in 1901.

President Theodore Roosevelt elevated 

Day to the Supreme Court in 1903. When 
he took his seat in March, he brought Luther 

with him to Washington as his stenographic 

clerk.25 It was not as if  there were not well- 

qualified applicants vying for that position. 

Indeed, Raphael Hayden, who had clerked 
for Justice Day’s predecessor, Justice George 

Shiras (and for Justice Joseph P. Bradley 

before that), sent Day a plaintive letter asking 

not to be let go.26 Charles H. Bradley, a grad­

uate of Princeton and a student at Columbia 

Law School, also wrote to Day offering his 

services as “private secretary.” “ I am not 

a stenographer,” he admitted, “but knowing 

that Mr. Justice Holmes has a secretary who 
is not a stenographer, and thinking you also 

not might require [shorthand skills] of your

secretary,” he had decided to apply for the 

position.27

During Luther’s two-year Supreme Court 

clerkship, he married Ida Barber, niece of the 
late President McKinley.28 In Washington, 

the young couple lived with his parents in the 

corner Victorian row house perched on a hill  
at 1301 Clifton Street, NW, that would be Jus­

tice Day’s home until his death. The turreted 
ten-room house, with a beautiful view of the 

Capitol building, was “high and airy,” ac­

cording to the Justice, and “ reasonably roomy 
for our family.” 29 (Justice John Marshall 

Harlan and Chief Justice Fuller also lived in 

the neighborhood, called Columbia Heights.) 

Luther and Ida enjoyed the services of the 

resident staff, which consisted of a butler, 

cook, and governess. They also accompanied 

his parents to White House social events, 

such as the annual dinner for the Supreme 
Court and the reception for the judiciary.30 
As Justice Day worked from home, Luther 

was conveniently available whenever needed, 

especially evenings. “As all one’s work out­

side the court work and conference is done 

at home,” Day wrote to a friend shortly after 

joining the high bench, “we always have the 

work with us.” 31

Despite the agreeable working condi­

tions, Luther passed the Ohio bar in 1904 

with the intention of leaving his father’s 
employ and becoming a lawyer.32 He and 

Ida left Washington for Canton in June 

1905, and Luther set up a law firm with 

a partner, Harvey Ake, defending clients at 
trial.33 Luther struggled at first, writing to 

his father that he could not come to their 

summer house on Mackinac Island because, 

“summer months constitute the dull season 

in the law business for those struggling for 

the means of existence and we have taken in 

practically nothing for over six weeks.” 34 It 
would not be long, however, before Luther 

became a successful trial lawyer in Canton.35 

In 1911 he moved to Cleveland in search of 

greater career opportunities. He was admitted 
to the Supreme Court bar in 1916 and began
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re p re s e nting Ohio clients on appeal from the 

Sixth Circuit.36

Stephen A . D ay: N epotism  C oncerns

When Luther moved on, Justice Day 

naturally wanted to give a turn as secretary to 
his third son, Stephen, who graduated from 

the University of Michigan in 1904.37 After 

a year of law school at Michigan, Stephen 
had been reading law in Canton under the 

direction of his eldest brother William. In 

considering employing a second son, Jus­

tice Day expressed qualms about nepotism. 

He later confided to Chief Justice Fuller: 

“When Luther started in the profession, 

Stephen desired his place. I felt a reluctance 

to appoint a second son to the place for 
reasons which will  occur to you.” 38 Before 

engaging Stephen, Justice Day sought advice 
about whether his hiring would violate an­

tinepotism legislation from attorney general 

William Henry Moody39 and Associate Jus­

tice David J. Brewer. Day may have queried 

Brewer because he was the senior associate 

justice, or because the Kansas justice was 
known for his congeniality. Justice Brewer’s 

views on nepotism may have been colored 

by the fact that he sat on the Supreme 

Court bench for eight years with his uncle, 
Justice Stephen J. Field. There is no record 
of Day consulting Chief Justice Fuller who 

had employed Justice Harlan’s son, John S. 

Harlan, in 1888.

There is no record of the attorney gen­

eral’s response, but Justice Brewer replied to 

Day’s query by citing the relevant Congres­

sional statutes from 1887 and 1888 regarding 
kinship hiring in the judicial branch:40

The language of the act is ‘That 

no person related to any justice or 
judge on any court of the U.S. by 

affinity or consanguinity-within the 
degree of Is' cousin—shall hereafter 

be appointed by such Court or judge 

to be employed by such court or 

judge in any office or duty—in any 

court of which each justice or judge 
may be a member.’41

But Brewer carefully reasoned that this 

rule does not apply to “private secretaries”  

because a clerk works directly for a justice, 
not for the public, and does not take an 

official oath:

The language is undoubtedly 

broad & sweeping—“any office 

or duty”—But technically, strictly, 

it does not reach to or include the 

private secretary. His place is not an 

office—He is not required to take 

an official oath._This was told by 

the accounting officers in respect 
to my own secretary42 & I was 

told by Mr. [James] Maher in the 

Clerk [of Court]’s office that such 

was the rule.... Of course he is
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o f gre at as s is tance to the ju dge &  

he lp s him to do his ju dicial wo rk.

Bu t in a ce rtain s e ns e (the same in 

character if  not in degree) so does 
every employee who renders the 

judge service, from the one who 

drives him to the capitol to the 

one who brings him books from
the library__ The duty performed

[doesjnot stand between the judge 
& the public. He does not act 

officially through his secretary. In 

this, his secretary differs from the 

secretary of an executive officer. 

Included in the statute I saw he is not 
called Secretary, but Stenographer.

In other words, he is simply a 

typewriter, a fountain pen, used by 

the judge to facilitate his work....

And clearly it is not within the 

spirit thereof. Understandably the 
object was to prevent the judge from 

placing a relative between himself 

and the public. The latter would be 

loath to complain to the judge of 

any neglect or misconduct on the

part of his relative and so suffer in 
silence. And if  complaint was made 

the judge might naturally turn a deaf 

ear to it. Relationship would be apt 
to bias his judgment. But the private 

secretary does to the judge & not a 

part of that from or by the court or 

judge to the public. So I think the 

private secretary is not within the 

letter of the act.

Brewer did, however, acknowledge that 

the new climate of civil service reform was 
critical of nepotism:43 “While I am clear 

that this is the true view to be taken of the 
scope of the act, I am not insensible to the 

fact that weeding out official wrongdoers is 

the political fact of the hour.” He went on 

to caution that Day might face criticism for 

employing his son and that he did right to 
seek clarification of the rules. Moreover, Day 

may have been subject to greater scrutiny 

than other justices because he had served 

in the Cabinet and was still connected in 
Republican circles.

It is not impossible that some 

overzealous friend of reform or 

some enemy of the court or yourself 
may, when finding that your son 

is your stenographer, criticize the

appointment__And I think you have

done well to secure the opinion of 

the Atty Genl [Attorney General 
Moody].

Brewer concluded by offering to let Day 

publicize his letter as proof that he had sought 

advice and had not hired Stephen blithely or 

secretly. “ If  occasion should arise, you are 
at liberty to publicize this letter. So that it 

may be known you acted on advice &  neither 

thoughtlessly, nor in deliberate disregard of 
the mandate of Congress.” 44

Justice Day must have been satisfied by 

Brewer’s response because he hired Stephen 

for the 1905 Term.45 “Wishing to give 

Stephen the advantages which I think the
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p lace o ffe rs to a y o u ng m an p re p aring fo r 

the law,” he late r wro te Chie f Ju s tice Fu lle r, 

“ I hire d him at $100 per month, which ...I 

have since paid and am now paying to him, 

as he has a wife [he married Mary Thayer 
in November 1905] to support as well as 

himself.” 46 Justice Day probably meant he 

was supplementing out of his own pocket the 

stenographic clerk salary ($1,600) authorized 
by Congress, as did several other justices.47 

Having Stephen living and working under 

his roof must have been particularly useful 

to the Justice when Rufus was quarantined 

at home for eight weeks with scarlet fever 

in the winter of 1906; although the Justice 

continued his duties, it would have been 

difficult  to have an outside clerk come to the 

house and risk infection.48

When Chief Justice Fuller’s clerk died 
in a tragic accident on June 20, Justice Day 
quickly proposed that Fuller hire Stephen 

to replace him. The Justice vouched that

Stephen was “ industrious and reliable, a 
fairly good stenographer, and very desirous 

of doing good work.” He arranged the com­

mission directly, without Stephen even apply­

ing, by asking Fuller to “give him a trial.”  

While Justice Day said he would “esteem the 

favor highly,” he also did not want Fuller to 

feel pressured and said he would withdraw 
his request if it in “any way embarrasses 

you.”49 Fuller replied that he would appoint 

Stephen “with pleasure. 1 have no doubt 

he is all right. 1 really need a stenographer 

but if Stephen is ‘ fairly good,’ as you say,

he will improve as he goes along.......This

appointment does not interfere with any plans 
of my own or embarrass me in any way.” 50 

Day thus became the only Supreme Court 

justice other than Harlan to have persuaded 

a bench-mate to hire his offspring.51
Stephen thanked his father profusely, 

saying he was “more than delighted,” 52 and 

spent the summer living with Luther in
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Canto n wo rking “hard at his s te no grap hy .” 53 

Although Stephen’s commission started on 
September 1, 1906,54 Fuller did not return to 

his F Street home in Washington until nearly 

October. His absence gave Stephen plenty 

of time to practice his typing and shorthand 

skills, a monotonous activity he complained 

about to his father:

Once more does the click-click of 

the Smith Premier [typewriter] keep 

the air in the upper regions of 
1301 Clifton Street in a state of 

monotonous activity only second in
its intensity to the ??___of the

brain of the elevated amanuensis, 

busy with his well meaning hiero­
glyphics. A heart breaking session 

of two hours per day with Affleck ’s 
official thermometer registering 95 

degrees and the velocity of the wind 

somewhere near-oo miles per day, 

has been the regular diet of your 

erstwhile abbreviator of the Queen’s
English..... Our friend, Mr. Fuller,

has not yet put in an appearance but 
we are still hopeful. I trust that he 

will  come soon, as my speed by the 

time he arrives will be something 

outrageous.” 55

Stephen chose to return to private prac­
tice in Ohio at the end of one Term with 

Fuller.56 He resigned his clerkship officially  

on September 30, 1907, having passed the 

Ohio bar in June.57 Before informing the 

Chief Justice he was leaving, Stephen secured 
a partnership at the Cleveland law firm of 

Solders, Thayer, Mansfield58 so as “ to be 

able to resist the temptation to return to 

Washington,” he told Fuller, “and associate 

with you for a longer period of great pleasure 
and to enjoy its inestimable advantages.” “ I 

need not try to express my gratitude and 

appreciation to you for we were together too 

long and the association too intimate,” he 

continued, “ to permit any other feeling on 

my part than great affection and the most

sincere respect and honor for you.” 59 Signifi­
cantly, Stephen listed himself in biographical 

dictionaries as Fuller’s clerk from 1905 to 
1907 and neglected to mention his service 

to his father during the 1905 Term, perhaps 

indicating he wanted to hide his nepotistic 

start.60

Stephen moved to Chicago, where he 

enjoyed a successful legal career and he and 

Mary had four daughters. In 1910 he became 
the first of Justice Day’s sons to bring an 

appeal to the Supreme Court when he was on 

the brief in a case from the Seventh Circuit.61 

Unlike his brothers, he did not develop an 

appellate practice before his father’s court: a 
pair of companion cases from the Supreme 

Court of the State of Illinois in 1912 marked 

the second and last time he petitioned the 

high court.62 Stephen went on to serve as 

special counsel to the Comptroller of the 

Currency from 1926 to 1928. He was elected 

to Congress as a Republican from Illinois ’s 

At-Large District in 1941, but as an ardent 

isolationist he lost his congressional race in 
1944.63 Stephen resumed the practice of law 

in Evanston, Illinois, until he died in 1950, at 

age of sixty-eight.64

R ufus Spald ing D ay: Preparing  

the Fourth Son

When Justice Day had placed Stephen 

with Chief Justice Fuller, he knew he could 

count on his youngest son to clerk for him. 

“How is the third incumbent and possessor 

of the title coming along,” Stephen inquired 
about young Rufus.65 In the Day family, 

nepotism by now was apparently considered 

a matter of course. “ I think it would be for 

my best interests to qualify myself for the 

position [vacated by Stephen],” Rufus told 
his father, “as to what you wish to pay me, 

that is entirely immaterial from a moral view 
of it.” 66

Rufus was in no position to negotiate his 

salary given that, unlike Luther and Stephen, 

he had no law school experience or legal
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and re liab le , a fa irly  good stenographer, and  very desirous of doing  good w ork.” W hile D ay said he w ould  “esteem  

the favor highly ,” he also  to ld Fuller he w ould w ithdraw  his request if it in “any w ay em barrasses you.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

training. Like Ste p he n, Ru fu s had atte nde d 

the As he ville Scho o l in No rth Caro lina, an 

e lite co lle ge p re p arato ry s cho o l, bu t he re­
peatedly got into trouble for smoking and 

struggled to bring up his academic record 
“ to the right point.” 67 Judge Day wrote to 

the headmaster that when Rufus came home 

for break, he would endeavor “ to impress 

upon him the importance of obedience to 

the discipline of your school.” Rufus “ is 

a boy worth saving if  we can only arouse 

his pride and self-respect sufficient to start 
him on the right track,” his father added.68 

Agreeing that he had been “ lax”  in his work, 

Rufus vowed to try harder so he could gain 

entrance to the University of Michigan and 

make his father happy.69 “ I have a heart,”  

he wrote him, “one that beats in harmony 

with yours and with everything you think 
or do, believe me.” 70 When Day joined the 

Supreme Court, Rufus asked to transfer to 

a school in Washington so he could live at 

home “ to foster domestic tranquility.” 71 He

graduated from the Emerson Institute, a local 

prep school, in 1904. He then enrolled in a 

B.S. degree program at George Washington 

University in 1905 but did not graduate. 

Rufus, who had barely turned twenty-two 
when he began clerking for his father, would 

clearly be considered under-qualified in a 

competitive hiring process for a Supreme 

Court clerkship, even in that era.

The chore of hastily getting Rufus up to 

speed as a stenographer for the 1906 Term 

fell to Luther in Canton. “ 1 wish as soon 

as you hear from the Chief [about hiring 

Stephen] you would let me know,” Luther 

wrote Justice Day, “so that I could talk to 
Rufus about picking up shorthand. There 

is not very much time remaining until the 

first of October, so if  he is going to attempt 

anything in that line he should begin work at 

once.” 72 Luther offered “ to spend an hour or 

two every morning trying to have him take up 

shorthand,” 73 until his younger brother could 

enroll in stenography school.
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A s R ufus w as unable to m aster stenography quickly , Justice D ay had to m ake do w ithout a fu ll-tim e clerk in the  

1906  Term . This docum ent found in D ay ’s papers show s the type of shorthand his clerks needed to know .

Rufus clearly felt time pressure to get up 

to speed in dictation and typing, reporting to 
his father:

1 entered upon my shorthand work 

this morning. I reported at the Can­

ton Actual Business College and to­

morrow I recite my first lesson. You 

may rely on me to do my best work 
in the short time I have to qualify 

myself. I shall spend every morning 

at the school and devote my time in 

the afternoon to typewriter work. I 

shall have no time to study law. The 

point now is—pitch in and qualify 

for the position.74

He continued to give Justice Day reas­
suring updates about his progress:

I have a first-class start in my 

shorthand work and find it intensely 

interesting. I spend all my time at 

shorthand and writing. I believe I 

can qualify myself for the position 

in the time allowed me. I am taking 

good care of myself and am very 

ambitious. I believe I can someday 
prove myself a worthy son.. ,.75

Eldest son William, who had received 

his LL.B. degree from the University of 

Michigan in 1900 and was practicing law at 

Lynch, Day &  Day in Canton, was less upbeat 

about Rufus’ dedication. “While his conduct 

is very good,” he wrote Justice Day, “he 

seems little inclined to read law or to prac­
tice his shorthand.” 76 William himself had 

excelled academically: Luther once described



JU STIC E D A Y, N EPO TISM  A N D LA W  C LER K S 247
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him as “u ndo u bte dly the m o s t p o p u lar m an 

at the Unive rs ity , and als o e njo y s the re p u­
tation of being one of its best students.” 77 

His high standards led William to heartily 

recommended a man working in his firm to 
be the Justice’s stenographic clerk instead of 

his youngest brother.78

Meanwhile, at Ake & Day, Luther gave 
Rufus his first opportunity to learn the prac­

tice of law, informing his father:

[Rufus] made his first appearance in 

court in the trial of a man charged 

with intent to kill his wife. Rufus 

opened the argument to dismiss the 

case and occupied about ten minutes 
in the citation of numerous author­

ities and a summary of the facts 

adduced. He did remarkably well 
and I think his taking part has done 

more than anything else to make 
him ambitious to be a lawyer.79

Nine days later, he wrote again that Ru­

fus had “ tried a rather technical garnishment 

case and “won the issue without assistance 

from me and received a fee of $1.00 for 

services rendered. I am going to try him 
out on another case....” 80 As Rufus was not 

admitted to the Ohio bar until 1910, it is not 
clear how he was allowed to practice in court.

Rufus yearned to return to the nation’s 

capital and live with his parents again. “ I am

very homesick for Washington,” he wrote to 

his father,81 “ [m]y main object in taking the 

position is to be with you and mother a few 

years longer.” 82 He acknowledged his imma­

ture behavior but was confident he could fill  

his brothers’ shoes: “ I have already abused 
your kindness and patience in loitering away 

my time. The other boys are headed right and 

I believe that the brains and talent did not die 
out when the fourth son entered the world of 

defeats and victories.” 83

As William predicted, Rufus was not 
ready to start in October.84 Justice Day appar­

ently went without a clerk in the 1906 Term 

as he waited for his youngest son to get up 

to speed, instead rounding out his Chambers 

staff with a dependable messenger, George G. 

Brown, recommended to him by his prede­

cessor, Justice George Shiras.85 In December, 

Hawkins Taylor, who had been assistant clerk 
to the Committee on Foreign Relations in 

1897-1898 when Day was serving as Sec­

retary of State, wrote to the Justice: “ I am 

informed that you are at present without the 
services of a private secretary and you may 

need someone to do at least a portion of your 

work.”  Taylor noted that while he worked in 

the Senate by day for Henry A. DuPont (R- 

DE), he was “at leisure late in the afternoon 
and at night if  you can use my services.” 86 

Taylor did some stenography work for the 

Justice and sent him a bill in January. As 

late as mid-May, Justice Day continued to 

receive applications for the unfilled clerkship 
position.87 The fact that Day made do with 

temporary stenography services for a whole 

term indicates that at that juncture he was 

not relying on his clerks for substantive legal 

work.
In the end, Rufus started as his father’s 

clerk on October 31,1907.88 He had spent the 

summer in Canton to work on his shorthand 

and typing while the family vacationed at 

their summer house on Mackinac Island. 
Yet Rufus was distracted from stenography 
lessons by local Canton beauty Madge Car­

nahan, whom he proposed to during the



248 JO U R N A L O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

s u m m e r. Ru fu s was cle arly am bivale nt abo u t 

be co m ing a p rivate s e cre tary , wanting to 

p le as e his fathe r bu t als o e xp re s s ing his 

reluctance:

I shall certainly act ‘ the man’ this 

year and will  try to be an aide to you 

instead of an encumbrance.... I am 

ever mindful of your great kindness 

in making me the offer you have, 

which is, I obviously admit, an offer 

I must reluctantly accept.89

Rufus would serve as his father’s clerk 
for four terms. He married Madge in June 

1908,90 and the couple moved in with his 

parents at their Clifton Street house.91 They 

engaged in an active social life. Madge was 
admired about town as “an exceedingly 

attractive young matron, who mingles in 
the social world here under the happiest 

auspices.” 92 Handsome Rufus had auburn 

hair and blue eyes like his father but, like 

his brothers, was half a foot taller than the 

diminutive judge. He enjoyed accompanying 
his father to his beloved baseball games, 

taking their seats behind the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ationa ls’ 
dugout.93 At the end of the 1910 Term, 

Rufus, who had passed the Ohio bar in 

June 2010, returned to Canton to practice 
law with Luther, no doubt seeking greater 

remuneration and a household all his own.94

W illiam  Scouts a N onfam ily C lerk, 1911

Having run out of sons, for the 1911 

Term Justice Day hired his first nonfamily 

clerk. William, who had been appointed 

district attorney for the Northern District of 

Ohio in 1908, acted as his father’s scout.95 

He had become acquainted with James G. 

Bachman,96 a summa cum laude graduate 
of the Cleveland Law School serving as a 

stenographer to Judge Robert W. Tayler of 

the District Court for the Northern District of 
Ohio.97 Tayler died unexpectedly on Novem­

ber 26, 1910, and William hired Bachman 

to work in the district attorney’s office.98

For the 1911 Term  Justice D ay hired  Jam es G . B achm an, 

(above) a  graduate of the C leveland Law  School serving  

as a stenographer to Judge R obert W . Tayler of the  

D istrict C ourt for the N orthern D istrict of O hio . The  

Justice ’s eldest son, W illiam L. D ay, had scouted  

B achm an and urged him  to apply for the position .

He urged Bachman to write Justice Day to 

present his credentials, presumably because 

Rufus had already announced his intention to 

move back to Canton.99 Bachman writes that 
he had three years’ experience as a stenog­

rapher at the law firm Henderson, Quail and 

Siddall, and that since Judge Tayler’s death, 

he has been working for District Judge John 

M. Killits. But he revealed that he will  not 

be kept on by Killits  and was waiting for his 

successor to be appointed before moving on. 

After interviewing with the Justice, Bachman 

wrote: “ I am convinced that, compared along 

the lines suggested by you when 1 saw you in 

Canton the other week, the ultimate benefits 
of the position as your secretary are superior 
to my present position.” 100

Justice Day hired Bachman on June 30, 

1911, and he proved to be a satisfactory 

clerk during his three terms of service.101 

Unlike Day’s three previous clerks, Bachman
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M ary Schaefer D ay ’s death in 1912  from  spinal cancer 
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did no t live with him bu t s p e nt lo ng day s 

at the Clifto n s tre e t ho u s e . He wo u ld take a 

daily bre ak to chau ffe u r the Ju s tice aro u nd 

in “au to r ide s”  and the n “ [make] up for it by 
working at home evenings.” 102 The clerkship 

got off to a difficult start, as Mary Day, age 

sixty-one, was gravely ill  with cancer of the 
spine. She suffered terribly for eight months, 

and Justice Day did not return to the bench 

until January 6, 1912, two weeks after his 
beloved wife’s death.103 In February, a weary 

Day told a friend: “ I find the court work 

never so pressing as at present, and every 

member has all he can do from now until 

the adjournment in June.” 104 Despite being in 

mourning, with Bachman’s help Justice Day 

managed to crank out twenty-six opinions 

in the 1912 Term, second only to Justice 

Holmes’ thirty-two.105

After his mother’s death, Rufus returned 

to Washington to live with Justice Day so 

his father would not be alone.106 Madge took 

over hosting the elaborate Monday afternoon 

tea receptions at the Clifton Street home that 

were expected of the wives of Supreme Court 
justices.107 A son, Rufus Spalding Day. Jr., 

was born in 1913. A daughter, Madge, would 

arrive three years later. To support his grow­

ing family, Rufus passed the D.C. bar in 1912 

and set to work building up a legal practice, 
joining a six-person firm.108 He became a 

member of the Supreme Court bar on January 

26, 1914, sworn in the same day as Bachman, 

his father’s clerk.109 While Rufus would put 

his elite bar membership to use filing  his first 
cert, petition in October 1915,110 Bachman 

did not practice appellate law. Instead, at the 

end of the 1913 Term, he left Washington 

for New York to take a higher paying job as 

assistant to the vice president of the Electric 

Bond and Share Company.111 When Justice 

Day asked him to consider coming back to 
work for him, Bachman turned him down, 

reporting that his new employer did not 

expect him to do “ routine clerical work” as 
there were two secretaries.112 Nonetheless, 

Bachman had mixed feelings when October 

rolled around: “As the usual time for your 

return to Washington and work draws near, 

my thoughts often turn in that direction, and 

I wish 1 could be with you. Everything is 

going quite well with me. I am getting into 

real work more and more, and find it very 
fascinating.” 113

John A . Lom bard: A n U nsatisfactory C lerk

Once more it fell to the eldest Day 

brother, now at the Cleveland law firm of 

Squire, Sanders & Dempsey, to scout for 

a replacement clerk for the 1914 Term. 

William, who had just stepped down from 

the bench of the District Court of the North­

ern District of Ohio, where he had served 
from May 9, 1911, to May 1, 1914, rec­

ommended that court’s Deputy Clerk, John
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proved unsatisfactory. Lom bard expressed  his  “perp lex ­

ity  and disappointm ent” w hen D ay in form ed him  he w as  

try ing  to persuade B achm an to return as his clerk .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A. Lo m bard.114 “ I am 23 years old and 

have been serving in the office for the past 

four years as stenographer and Deputy Clerk 

[of the district court], meanwhile studying 
law at Toledo University and Cleveland Law 

School,” wrote Lombard to Justice Day, by 

way of introducing himself.115 Meanwhile, 

Bachman was also advising the Justice about 

whom to hire as his replacement. “ I do 

not know Mr. Lombard,” he wrote, instead 
recommending Joseph Curtis White, a law 

school graduate in charge of the Supreme 

Court Library: “A fine young fellow, familiar 

with Federal Matters and quite familiar with 

law books,” 116 and Charles F. Wilson, former 

private secretary to Justices Henry B. Brown 

and William Moody, who had applied for 

the job directly to the Supreme Court Clerk’s 
Office.117 Bachman’s description of White’s 

job experience suggests that, in addition 

to clerical work, Justice Day needed help

with legal research and looking up relevant 

statutes.

In the end, Justice Day chose Lom­
bard, officially appointing him on October 

1, 1914.118 He may have been swayed by a 

letter of recommendation from Judge John H. 

Clarke, who had just replaced William on the 
Northern Ohio district court:

He was my deputy in Toledo for sev­

eral years until I resigned the clerk­

ship, and since that time has been 

my deputy in the office at Cleveland.

I know him to be straightforward in 

every way, ambitious and willing  to 

devote his energies to you, should he 

be fortunate in obtaining the vacant

secretaryship..... It is not my usual

practice to write such letters but I 
have a very strong interest in the 
young man.119

Two years later, Clarke would join Jus­

tice Day on the Supreme Court bench and 
would have had occasion to run into his 

former protege.

In Lombard’s second term as Day’s clerk, 

the Justice suffered a serious bout of pneu­

monia and was absent from the Court during 

the winter of 1916. “Justice Day very ill  

and the Justice extremely worried,” reported 

a Holmes clerk. ‘“ I do hope Day pulls 
through,’ [Holmes told his clerk] ‘ I am very 

fond of him. He is one of the most high- 

minded men and loyal friends I know.’” 120 

The Court continued its breakneck pace that 

term, docketing 1,069 cases and publishing 

234 merits opinions.121 In March, Chief 

Justice Edward D. White proudly reported 
to Day that the justices “ took off the docket 

more than we took last year, which you 

know was a record breaking one, and we 
left fewer cases on the docket than we did 

when we rose last year.” 122 Yet a weakened 

Day managed to write only eight majority 

opinions the entire term, compared with his 

average of about twenty-two in his first seven 
Terms.
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Altho u gh he s tay e d with Ju s tice Day fo r 

thre e Te rm s (1914-1916), Lombard did not 

stack up to Bachman. He may have been pre­

occupied by his courtship of Caroline Gray, 
whom he married in September 1915.123 

Lombard passed the Ohio bar in June 1917, 
confidently informing Day before he got his 

results: “ I have a vain idea I hit the thing right 
between the eyes.” 124 But studying for the 

bar may have further distracted him from his 

clerk duties, because, after Lombard gained 

admission to the bar, the Justice reached out 

to him again to woo him back from his 

position as assistant general attorney at Utah 

Power and Light Co. in Salt Lake City. “ I 

would like very much to get you to assent 

to review your position with me as Secre­
tary,” Day wrote, adding, “You know the 

character of work....” To sweeten the deal, 

Justice Day offered him $1,000 out of his 

own pocket to supplement the stenographic 

clerk salary, which now was $2,000.125 Day 

wrote Bachman again in July, this time 

with more urgency because he wanted to 

give Lombard enough notice to be able to 

find a new position before the opening of 

the term:

you are a young man and I am an 

old one, and the most of your career 
is ahead of you. I cannot say that 
your return to my service as Sec­

retary will  not be in a considerable 

measure a repetition of experience 

you have already had. I have reached 

a time of life when I desire the 

best service I can secure, and my 

experience with you leads me to 

believe that if  you consent to return 

to me I shall find it with you.126

Meanwhile, with the United States now 

at war with Germany, Lombard was asking 

Day to get him an occupational exemption 
with the draft board.127 Lombard wrote that 

he was “ in the comparative front rank for 

the draft, being 2239 in order of call,” and 

noted that secretaries to Congressmen were

using occupational exceptions on the grounds 

that they were “ indispensable.” “ If, in con­
sideration of breaking in a new secretary, 

together with other considerations, you care 

to make an affidavit similar to those made 
by the Congressmen I mention, I will put 

in that claim...,” Lombard offered. “ I would 

appreciate your frank advice on this,” he 

continued, “and don’t be afraid of hurting 
my feelings.” 128 The Justice declined to 

help, writing “ I have had several excellent 

secretaries. —including yourself,—for none 

of them could I make an affidavit [to a 

draft board] swearing their services were 

indispensable.” 129

Clearly Lombard was more dispensable 

than Bachman, and Day finally informed his 
current clerk that he had made his former 

clerk an offer to return on October 1 and 

was awaiting his reply. “ I took this step, 

not because of lack of appreciation for your 

faithful service to me, but for the reason that 

I have found in Mr. Bachman very unusual 

qualifications for the duties of secretary”  
he explained.130 But Bachman turned the 

Justice down, leaving him no choice but to 

ask Lombard to stay on. His feelings hurt, 

Lombard resigned:

This situation of being discharged 

and re-hired, practically, has the ef­
fect of making one doubt whether 

our mutual interests could not best 
be served by my resigning. You 

are dissatisfied, evidently with my 
work, and I cannot under the cir­

cumstances look forward to taking a 

happy interest in the court work. Bar 

study has interfered with my best 

efforts, and I have looked forward 

to making myself more useful this 

year, with that off my mind. But 
to feel that I am with you against 

your honest wish, and holding the 

position only because your stay in 
Washington is not to be long, will 

necessarily have its effect.



252 JO U R N A L O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R Y fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Justice D ay’ s D aughter-in -Law  O ne of

W ashington 's M ost C hanning H ostesses

A fter sign ing on again  to be his father's clerk in 1917, 

R ufus D ay continued h is private litigation practice. H is  

w ife M adge (p ictured) w as a prom inent socia l hostess 

w ho enterta ined regularly , and R ufus m ay have fe lt 

pressured to support their lifesty le .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Fo r that re as o n, and o the rs o f a 

kindre d natu re , I fe e l y o u s ho u ld 

co ntinu e y o u r s e arch fo r ano the r 

s e cre tary . I re alize I will s u ffe r fi ­

nancially, and yet I feel the embar­

rassment so keenly that that fact be­

comes immaterial. You have always 

been so kind and good to me that I 
will  of course be willing  to continue 

with you indefinitely until you get 

the man you want.

Lombard closed by registering his “per­

plexity and disappointment” and noting that 

he was “grateful” for Day’s “ friendship and 

three years of association.” 131 “You do not 

so express yourself,” he queried a week 

later, “but I trust I may have the privilege 

of referring any prospective employers to

you?” 132 In the same letter, Lombard an­

nounced that he was effectively reneging on 

a bet with Rufus. “ In remembering me to 

the family,” he asks, “please tell Rufus I do 
pay my bets, but conscience must go hand 

in hand with convenience, and as soon as I 

think of my obligation at the same time I 

have the money I will come across in real 

style.”  Justice Day thanked him for “ faithful 
service”  and wished him a “successful career 

at the bar.” 133 Officially Lombard’s last day 

of service was October 1, 1917, but he 
returned only briefly to Washington from 

Cleveland, where he had spent the summer 
working for a real estate firm, to arrange 

to ship his furniture and return the Justice’s 
house key.

Unable to detach fully, Lombard sent 

Justice Day a proofing correction to his 

printed opinion in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB uchanan v. W arley, which 

held that a Louisville, Kentucky, ordinance 

prohibiting the sale of real property to blacks 

violated the Fourteenth Amendment.134 Hav­

ing read the briefs in the spring, Lombard 

had asked Day for a copy “ to know what 

disposition was made on certain points, prin­
cipally on the contention of equal operation 

of whites on blacks.” 135 After receiving his 

copy in the mail, Lombard complimented 

Day, saying the opinion “ reads well”  and was 

a “ lucid exposition of a delicate point.” He 

apparently also found some typos, noting that 

“Mr. Justice Pitney’s eagle eye sometimes 

winks, and that Mr. Justice Holmes is not 

reinforcing Boston ideals.” “ [M]y  service to 

you is too recent to have permitted me to 

lose the habit of protecting you from printer’s 
errors,” he wrote, questioning “ the use of 

the word ‘principle’ on page six, about the 

middle of the second paragraph.” 136

Lombard also noted that he had found 

work at the Cleveland law firm Baker, 

Hostetler & Sidlo, and sent news of Bach­

man, who had moved back to Cleveland and 

was practicing at the rival firm of Bulkley, 
Hauxhurst, Inglis & Saeger. “He is looking 

fine and expresses himself as well satisfied
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with his co nne ctio n,” Lo m bard re p o rte d to 

Day . The two fo rm e r Day cle rks no w face d 
e ach o the r as litigato rs in co u rt, bu t with 

Lo m bard adm itting he co u ld u s e “an antido te 

to s tage fr ight.” 137 Lombard continued his 

career as a solo lawyer,138 while Bachman 

practiced with a firm located in the same 
building as Luther and William ’s firm.139

R ufus R eturns for a Second C lerkship

After Lombard quit abruptly in Septem­

ber, Rufus, now thirty-three and a father of 

two, was hurriedly pressed back into service 

as clerk for the remainder of his father’s 

tenure on the high bench: October 1, 1917, to 
November 11, 1922.140 Rufus heeded the call 

of duty but did not relinquish the robust legal 

practice he had developed since returning to 

Washington from Canton nearly five years 

earlier.141 While Bachman and Lombard had 

been arriving every day at Clifton Street to 

serve Justice Day, former clerk Rufus had 
been commuting downtown to the Westory 

building, where he practiced law. He ad­

vertised himself in legal directories as an 

“Associate in Federal Courts Practice” and 

developed an appellate law practice before 

the D.C. Court of Appeals and the Supreme 

Court.142 His law partner was Samuel Her­

rick, an established attorney who specialized 

in public land and mining claims against the 
Department of the Interior.143

Why did Justice Day tacitly allow Rufus 

to continue his law practice? Was it to 
compensate him for taking a step backward 

to be his low-paid private secretary? Or 

was it that the country was now at war 

with Germany and Day worried there was a 
shortage of eligible clerkship candidates.144 

As for Rufus, he could thus have it both ways: 

loyally helping his father while continuing 

to generate a private income. Indeed, Rufus 
did not stop taking on clients. To the con­

trary, he continued to advertise himself in 
law directories as specializing in “Practices 

before the Federal Courts, Executive De­

partments, and the Federal Commissions.” 145 

He made no mention in these directories 

of being a law clerk to a Supreme Court 

justice, however. This omission is curious, 

given that the insider knowledge he picked 

up reading briefs and being privy to the 

business of the Supreme Court would have 
been valuable to clients. Further, clients 

would likely have expected that Rufus could 

write petitions in a way that the justices, or 
at least Day, would see their appeal favor­

ably and take up their case for review.146 

Perhaps, to protect his father, he did not 

want to trade on this advantage, or perhaps 

he was concerned that his clients would be 

unimpressed that he was also performing a 

secretarial job.
Did Rufus’s legal practice shortchange 

his dedication to his clerkship duties? For 

someone who had been lax in his work in 

high school, this dual career would have 
been a challenge. However, the fact that 

Rufus juggled both jobs confirms that Justice 
Day relied on him mostly for clerical tasks. 

It is also possible that Rufus mainly filed 

motions at the Supreme Court on behalf of 

other attorneys and had minimal involvement 

in the legal work or the writing of briefs. 

As a Washington lawyer, his proximity to 

the Court was an asset to attorneys appeal­

ing cases from Ohio, where many of his 

clients and co-counsel, including William 

and Luther, resided. For a litigant or an out- 

of-state legal team to hire a local Washington 
attorney was insurance against travel snafus 

and the uncertainty of predicting when an 

argument would be scheduled. Indeed, in 

that era the Court’s practice was to notify

only local counsel about the scheduling of a
147case.

No doubt Rufus needed the additional 

income from private practice to support his 

wife and two children and their fashionable 
lifestyle. Madge was considered “ the most 

beautiful and accomplished woman in Wash­
ington social circles.” 148 “She entertains ex­

tensively,” gushed a society columnist, and
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“ re ce ntly was ho s te s s at o ne o f the m o s t 

be au tifu lly ap p o inte d lu nche o n p artie s o f the 

s e as o n, give n in ho no r o f Mrs . Mars hall, wife  

o f the vice p re s ide nt.” 149 Rufus and Madge 
were regularly included in high-profile so­

cial events, including White House dinners 
given by Presidents Taft and Wilson to 

honor the Supreme Court justices, as well as 

embassy dinners.150 President Warren Hard­

ing and his wife, Florence, fellow Ohioans, 

were particularly solicitous of the popular 

couple.151

Yet Rufus continued his legal practice 

even after he received a significant raise in 

1920 when Congress authorized each justice 

to hire a law clerk ($3,600) in addition to 

a stenographic clerk ($2,000).152 Like most 
of his brethren, Day promoted Rufus to law 

clerk at the higher salary but did not hire 

a second clerk as stenographer. Apparently, 

however, Rufus had not been a shoo-in for 

the promotion, as Justice Day had considered 

hiring an outside applicant, Assistant Clerk 

of Court Robert F. Cogswell, who had written 

to Rufus asking if  his father was going to 

promote him to the law clerk position or if  the 

position was available.153 Justice Day queried 

Clerk of Court James D. Maher about the 
competency of his assistant:

Assuming that 1 shall make no 

change in the position of Steno­

graphic Clerk, would Mr. Cogswell 

be qualified to act as Law Clerk, 

himself doing the necessary steno­

graphic work in that position? I need 

hardly say that I wish a competent 

man for the duties of Law Clerk, 
which the position implies.154

Justice Day stuck with Rufus when Ma­

her replied that Cogswell “would not, in my 

estimation, fill  the bill as Law Clerk.” 155 Jus­

tice Joseph McKenna would hire Cogswell as 

his clerk nine months later.

Rufus dutifully stayed on as clerk until 

President Harding appointed his father on 
August 10, 1922 to be Umpire of the Mixed

Claims Commission to arbitrate war claims 

against Germany. A series of telegrams 

between father and son indicate that Day 

wanted Rufus to continue as his secretary in 

his new job. “ I OFFER TO SERVE AS SEC­
RETARY IN NEW CAPACITY AS I CON­

SIDER THIS EVEN MORE IMPORTANT 
THAN MY SERVING IN PRESENT POSI­

TION FOR REASONS EASY TO UNDER­

STAND,” Rufus wired the Justice, who was 

vacationing on Mackinac Island. “PLEASE 

WIRE YOUR VIEWS AS NEW LEGAL 

ASSOCIATIONS MUST BE WITHHELD 
TILL  I HEAR FROM YOU AS SOON AS 

POSSIBLE,” he urged.156 Apparently, Rufus 

would have to drop his legal work in order to 

join the Commission, something he did not 
feel he had to do as a law clerk. Justice Day 

resigned officially from the Supreme Court 

on November 13 to take up his new position. 

Rufus served as “secretary to the umpire”  

from November 15 to March 1, at a salary 

of $3,600, the same amount he was earning 

as a clerk.157 Fighting pneumonia, his father 

was forced to retire in May, shortly before his 

death in July, but he had first secured Rufus 

a job working for Solicitor General James M. 

Beck, preparing the petitions and briefs filed 
by the government in the Supreme Court, 

where his title was special assistant to the 
attorney general.

N epotism  D iscussion

As a loving father, Justice Day hired his 

sons principally to help them launch their 

careers and carry on the Day family tradition 

of excellence in the law. Yet nepotism had 

its advantages for the Justice as well: “Close 
family members, if  they are on good terms, 

can communicate quickly and efficiently. 

Family ties can engender respect, love, and 

other wholesome qualities that presumably 

advance, rather than retard, the quality of 

work,” writes Michael Solimine in his study 

of nepotism in the federal judiciary.158 Day 

family dynamics were indeed harmonious,
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and having a cle rk who live d at ho m e and 

was available aro u nd the clo ck was an as s e t. 

The fam iliar ity o f Ru fu s s e rving as his cle rk 

fo r nine te rm s m u s t have be e n bo th co m­

forting to the Justice and an efficient way to 

manage the workload. Justice Day was not 

an anomaly in preferring long-serving clerks: 

Justices Horace Lurton, Mahlon Pitney, John 

H. Clarke, Edward Sanford, and Owen J. 

Roberts retained their loyal assistants for 

their entire tenures on the bench. William H. 
Pope served Chief Justice Edward D. White 

for eighteen terms although he was not Taft’s 

only clerk.159

Because clerks worked out of the jus­

tices’ homes during Day’s tenure, they were 

considered private secretaries and not treated 

as institutional staff. This arrangement seems 

to have blinded Day to the fact that they 

were government employees paid by the U.S. 

Treasury. His confusion is understandable 

given that individual justices had control over 
exactly how much to be paid to his clerk 
and could arbitrarily choose the start date 

he was put on the payroll. Justices would 

simply inform the Clerk of Court about their 

wishes in terms of hiring date and pay. In 
many instances, they augmented their clerk’s 

pay out of their own pockets, blurring the 

lines further. In Day’s correspondence about 

nepotism with Justice Brewer, it is clear that 

neither man viewed their stenographic clerk, 

(whom Brewer called “simply a typewriter") 

as a public official subject to government 

nepotism rules.160
Moreover, the lack of a regularized, open 

recruitment process for clerk selection in 

Day’s era meant that hiring practices were 

haphazard and not subject to much scrutiny. 

Vacancies for clerkships were not advertised, 
but news about them spread through word 

of mouth. Candidates did provide letters of 

recommendation from employers and law 

professors, something the Day boys unfairly 

did not have to do. There were always many 

highly qualified candidates vying for a va­

cancy, and, as Justice Day knew, a Supreme

Court clerkship was a springboard to be­

coming an attorney in a federal agency.161 

Moreover, having developed “keen political 

judgment” while serving in the McKinley 

administration, Day should have been more 

concerned about the bad optics of hiring his 
sons.162

While the antinepotism statutes for the 

judiciary passed in 1887-1888 were unclear 

about lower level staffing, as Justice Brewer 

noted, they came out of a general movement 
to professionalize employment in the federal 

government and were unquestionably aimed 

in part at preventing judges from hiring or 

appointing relatives.163 If  Justice Day did not 

heed this shift toward more professionalized 

staffing practices, it was because these prac­

tices were not applied to the Supreme Court 

as an institution until it had been give its 

own building with space for the justices and 

their staffs so all would work under the same 
roof. Accordingly, Justice Day’s practice of 

nepotism reflects less a personal ethical lapse 
than a lack of awareness of changing hiring 
practices and tolerance for nepotism outside 

the Supreme Court arena, where the norm 

continued to elevate the personal over the 

professional.
The civil  service reform movement at the 

turn of the nineteenth century successfully 

redefined the “ ideal” federal employee as a 

“politically neutral, ethical, technically qual­

ified expert.” 164 To determine whether Jus­

tice Day compromised his ethical judgment 
in hiring his sons, it is useful to evaluate 

whether, as clerks, his sons met this “ ideal”  
standard. As the Justice mainly relied on 

them for shorthand and proofreading, “po­

litical neutrality” probably was not a factor. 

Day’s four sons, along with Bachman and 

Lombard, were solid Ohio Republicans, so 

they all had the advantage of political com­

patibility with the Justice even if  it did not 

factor much in their work.165 While a clerk 

charged with proofreading might go beyond 
correcting typos, grammar, and punctuation 

to alter the tone or meaning of the next,
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the re is no e vide nce that the Ju s tice’s sons 

did that. In terms of “ technical proficiency,”  

the sons all studied law and worked hard to 

master stenography. Young Rufus was clearly 

the weakest in terms of legal training, having 

read law only briefly but possessing neither 

an undergraduate diploma nor any law school 

experience. He also made his father wait 

a whole term while he got up to speed in 

shorthand. Rufus clearly would not have been 

hired by another justice. Yet despite his weak 

qualifications and initial immaturity, Rufus 

must have proved a satisfying clerk as his fa­

ther rehired him term after term. In contrast, 

Stephen was engaged by Chief Justice Fuller 

subject to pressure from his father, but he had 

a B.A., had taken law school classes, read 

law, and had spent a valuable year clerking 
for a Supreme Court justice. As all the Day 
brothers went on to stellar careers in private 

practice, their competency at practicing law 

is unchallenged.

Lastly, Rufus fails the third criterion— 

“ethical”— for having practiced appellate 

law while serving as a Supreme Court law 

clerk. As he was typing up materials and 

reading briefs for his father, he was privy 

to the decision-making of the justices. The 

insights he gleaned as a clerk, even if  much of 

the work was clerical, would have benefitted 
his outside legal work and given his clients 

an unfair advantage. To eliminate this type 

of inequity, the Supreme Court promulgated 
a rule in 1939 that instituted a two-year rule 

cooling off  period for law clerks:

No one serving as a law clerk or 

secretary to a member of this court 

shall practice as an attorney or coun­

sellor in any court while continuing 

in that position; nor shall he after 

separating from that position prac­

tice as an attorney or counsellor in 

this court, or permit his name to 

appear on a brief filed in this court, 

until two years shall have elapsed 
after -such separation.166

Only Rufus would have been in violation 

of this 1939 rule because Luther and Stephen 

began their appellate practices several years 

after their clerkships.

Justice Day’s sons’ stints as Supreme 

Court clerks served them well as important 
steps toward a higher rung on the elite 

legal ladder. They were the last children 

of Supreme Court justices to be given the 

opportunity to develop their talents and gain 

prestigious experience in this capacity. As 

nepotism concerns increased in the Progres­

sive era and clerking duties became more 

substantive, the selection process for hir­

ing Supreme Court clerks would become 

more competitive, regularized, and subject to 

scrutiny.'67 While Justice Day’s practice of 

nepotism is problematic for the integrity of 

his reputation, his hiring his sons to serve 
as stenographic clerks probably had only a 

negligible effect on the other justices or the 

business of the Supreme Court, with the 
possible exception of giving Rufus’ clients 

an edge. Of greater concern for the judicial 
integrity of the Supreme Court is that they 

practiced appellate law before their father—a 

topic that will  be examined in a forthcoming 

article. While Justice Day deserves to be 
admonished for not recusing when his sons 

argued cases, there is minimal basis for 
criticizing him for having his sons clerk for 

him, especially given the inchoate nepotism 
standards of the time.
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36 Journa l of the Suprem e C ourt [hereinafter JSC T ], 

October 16, 1916, 19. Luther’s appellate practice will  

be examined in Clare Cushman, “Father on the Bench: 

Justice William R. Day and Kinship Recusal,” Journa l 

of Suprem e C ourt H isto ry, forthcoming.

37 “Congressman Carries on Fame of Great Alumni 

Family,”  M ich igan A lum nus, 1943/1944, vol. 50, 244.

38 William Rufus Day to Melville W. Fuller, June 28, 

1906. Papers of Melville W. Fuller, William Rufus Day 

Correspondence File, Library of Congress.
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46 William Rufus Day to Melville W. Fuller. June 28.

1906.
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51.
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50 Melville W. Fuller to William Rufus Day, July 10. 

1906. Day Papers, Box 21 Letter F.
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strong friendship with his father. Neal was eminently 

qualified, having graduated from Yale Law School and 

clerked for Judge Charles Fahy. U.S. Court of Appeals 
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Day Papers, Box 20 Letter D.
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Papers, Box 20 Letter D.
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Clerks, 1881-1931 and 1939-40 (National Archives, 

RG 267. Stack Area 17E4, Row 8, Compartment 23, 
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124 John A. Lombard to William Rufus Day, June 11, 

1917. Day Papers, Box 32 Letter L.
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130 Ib id .

131 John A. Lombard to William Rufus Day, September 

6, 1917. Day Papers, Box 32 Letter L.
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Sho rtly afte r the e nd o f the Civil War, at 
a m o m e nt whe n it s e e m e d that o ne o u tco m e 
o f the war and its de vas tatio n m ight be civil 

equality for the emancipated slaves, Berea 

College, in Berea, Kentucky, opened itself to 

black students. Berea College thus became 
the only racially integrated college anywhere 

in the South. It remained racially integrated, 
as well as coeducational, for nearly forty 

years, through Reconstruction and the onset 

of Jim Crow, until, in 1904, Kentucky’s 

legislature enacted the Day Law. That law 

made it a crime for a college to educate black 

and white students together. The law also 

made it a crime to teach at such a college or 

to attend such a college as a student.
Berea College was indicted under the 

Day Law, convicted in the Kentucky courts, 

and sentenced to a fine. The college con­

tended that the Day Law was unconstitutional 

under the Fourteenth Amendment and ap­

pealed to the U.S. Supreme Court, where its 
conviction was upheld.1 The Day Law plainly

limited the liberties of the trustees, teachers, 

and students who were willing participants 

in the college’s venture of racially integrated 

higher education. Were there constitutional 
justifications for the law’s limits on these 

liberties? Was the law a reasonable exercise 
of Kentucky’s police power?

The opinion for the Court in B erea 

C ollege did not contend with these questions. 

Rather, the Court decided the case on the 

basis of a theory of the nature of corporations 

known as “ the grant theory” : corporations are 

artificial beings, created by the state, existing 

only as a consequence of a positive legislative 

act. The state has the power to charter any 

activities it chooses, in its sole discretion, and 
can deny, revoke, or condition a charter for 

any reason at any time. The Supreme Court 
characterized the Day Law as an amendment 

to the college’s corporate charter and upheld 

the law as an exercise of the state’s inherent 

right to control the activities of its creations. 

So ended racially integrated higher education 

in Kentucky until 1950, when the Day Law 
was repealed.
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In the Su p re m e Co u rt, Ke ntu cky had no t 

advance d any argu m e nt bas e d o n the grant 

the o ry as a re as o n fo r affirm ing the ju dgm e nt 

o f co nvictio n be lo w. Ke ntu cky argu e d, rathe r, 

that the Day Law was a re as o nable e xe rcis e 

o f the s tate’s police power—the power to 

legislate to protect the health, welfare, safety, 
and morals of the populace. Requiring the 

separation of the races, as Kentucky saw it, 
served public welfare by helping to avoid 

miscegenation. Miscegenation was an evil 

because it would undermine racial purity. 

Kentucky went so far as to argue that, as only 

the superior white race in its pure state could 

insure the future progress of civilization, 

miscegenation was a threat to that progress.

Scholarly efforts to explain VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB erea 's use 

of a corporate law principle to resolve the 

parties’ constitutional law dispute have been, 
as discussed below, unsatisfactory.2 It will  be 

argued here that the Supreme Court’s reliance 

on a theory of the nature of corporations 

to uphold the Day Law was pretextual. The 
Court, rather, was persuaded by, or at least 

respected and was prepared to defer to, the 

anti-miscegenationist argument advanced by 

Kentucky. The Court decided the case at a 

time when racist views had been blessed 

by prevailing scientific opinion—“scientific 

racism”—and the nation’s elites generally 

shared those views. Berea College’s claims 

on behalf of itself and its trustees, teachers, 
and students to Fourteenth Amendment pro­

tections were strong but could not survive the 

Court’s sympathy for racist views and their 
implementation in Jim Crow legislation.

Scien tific R acism3

At the core of racist thinking is the 

belief that there is a hierarchy of ethnic 

groups based on traits that are essentially 

immutable. Members of an inferior race 

cannot become the equals of a superior 

race through education or improvements in 
their environment; their inferiority is innate, 

inheritable, and fixed.4 Such thinking was

well established in the United States both 

before and after the revolutions in the science 

of heredity brought about by Darwin’s O rigin  

of Species, published in 1859, and Mendel’s 

work on genetics, published in 1866 although 

not widely known until later. George Cuvier 

and Charles Lyell, the greatest naturalists 
of the nineteenth century before Darwin, 

and then Darwin himself, all believed in the 

inferiority of the black race.5
Ralph Waldo Emerson can serve as an 

example of pre-Darwinian thinking. In 1856, 

he wrote that the English were “a power­

ful and ingenious race.” He extolled “En­

glish greatness” ; observed how the English 

have “predominated,” having encompassed 

perhaps one-fifth of the world’s population 

within the British Empire; and asked, “ Is this 

power due to race, or to some other cause?”  

He answered:

It is race, is it not? that puts the 
hundreds of millions of India under 

the dominion of a remote island in 
the north of Europe... . Race is 

a controlling influence in the Jew, 

who, for two millenniums, under 

every climate, has preserved the 

same character and employments. 

Race in the negro is of appalling 

importance... . [He went on to dis­

cuss the French, German, and Irish 

races.]6

Emerson read several books on race in 
the 1850s, when he was actively engaged 

in antislavery activities; while the need to 
justify slavery contributed to racist thinking, 

Emerson and other abolitionists could oppose 

slavery without believing in racial equality. 

One book Emerson read was by Robert Knox, 

a medical doctor and lecturer on anatomy.7 

Dr. Knox wrote that “human character, indi­

vidual and national, is traceable solely to the 
nature of that race to which the individual or 

nation belongs .... [This] is simply a fact.... 

Race is everything: literature, science, art, in 

a word, civilization depend on it.” 8 Racial
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characte ris tics we re im m u table .9 Knox dis­

cussed his scientific observations, saying, for 

example, “ in a dark or colored person, whose 

structure I had an opportunity of observing, 

the nerves of the limbs were at least a third 
less than those of the Saxon man of the same 

height.” 10 “Dark”  races, moreover, have mea­

surably smaller brains than whites.11 (Ernst 
Haeckel, known as “ the Darwin of Germany,”  

was among the prominent scientists who later 

subscribed to the supposed correspondence 

between intelligence and brain size,12 a no­

tion that was later thoroughly debunked.13) 

Knox had special praise for what he called 

the “Scandinavian race” : it had its origins 

in “Norway, Denmark, Sweden, Holstein— 

on the shores of the Baltic ... by the mouths 

of the Rhine, and on its northern and eastern 

bank.” Members of this race are “democrats 
by nature, the only democrats on the earth, 

the only race which truly comprehends the 
meaning of the word liberty.” 14

Concerns about miscegenation, and a 

consequent need to keep the races separate, 

also pre-date Darwin and Mendel. Harvard’s 

world-famous zoologist and geologist Louis 

Agassiz believed blacks and whites were 

separate species; he was “horrified” at the 

possibility of racial “amalgamation.” 15 Dr. 

Knox wrote that “when the Negro is crossed 
... with the white race, the result is a 

scoundrel.” 16 Count Arthur Gobineau pub­
lished in 1855 what became a “ foundational 

text” of scientific racism, “Essay on the 

Inequality of Human Races.” He identified 

three races, white, yellow, and black. The 

white race was responsible for civilization. 
Separation of the races was necessary so that 

the white race could remain pure; “proxim­

ity” of whites and blacks was to be avoided 

because it inevitably yields miscegenation.17

Focus on race in the United States be­
came more urgent at the end of the Civil  
War, with the emancipation of four mil­

lion enslaved black men and women, but 

the certainty that racial characteristics were 

immutable remained. For example, William

Benjamin Smith, professor of mathematics 

at Tulane University, published fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAThe C olor  

L ine in 1905. He argued that any idea of 

equality between blacks and whites had been 

scientifically undermined and that it was “ idle 
to talk of education and civilization ... as 

corrective or compensative agencies.” They 

are “weak and beggarly as over against the 

almightiness of heredity; the omnipotence of 

the germ plasma.” 18

By the 1890s, a radical form of racist 

thinking had arisen in the South, advancing a 

theory of black “ retrogression” : black Amer­

icans, without the uplifting and civilizing 

effects of slavery, were retrogressing into 
bestiality. Radicals believed that crimes by 

blacks were increasing precipitously; par­

ticularly disturbing were what they saw as 

increased sexual assaults by black men on 
white women and girls. Radicals saw no cure 

for black criminality; education, for example, 

was only counterproductive as it increased 
the capacity of blacks to do evil.19

These radical racists had scientific sup­

port for their views. Nathaniel Southgate 

Shaler was a natural scientist, a popular 
Harvard professor, and dean of Harvard’s 

Lawrence School of Science. He had been 

trained by Agassiz and assumed Agassiz’s 

chair on the latter’s death. Shaler advanced 
the retrogression theory in an 1884 article 

in the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA tlan tic M onth ly . One consequence 
of emancipation, he argued, was “a strong 

tendency, for many generations to come, for 

[black Americans] to revert to their ancestral 

conditions.”  In 1904, he wrote that “Negroes 

... when uplifted from without [by slavery] 

have shown an obvious tendency to fall back 

into their primitive estate as soon as the 

internal support was withdrawn.” He found 

evidence for his thesis in what he understood 

to be the increasing number of sexual assaults 
by black men on white women. “The Negro is 

sexually a very brutal creature who cannot be 

trusted in contact with white women.” 20

Frederick L. Hoffman, a statistician for 

the Prudential Insurance Company, advanced
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the co nce p t o f re tro gre s s io n fro m a diffe re nt 

p e rs p e ctive . In a s tu dy p u blis he d in 1896 by 
the American Economic Association, Hoff­

man argued that retrogression had begun 

earlier but became more intense after eman­

cipation. He found in the data from the 1890 

census a rapid increase in mortality among 

blacks from syphilis and other diseases that 
were the product of the “ race trait” of “ im­

mense ... immorality.” He too believed that 

the number of rapes of white women by 

black men was growing at an alarming rate, 

finding supportive evidence in “ the rate of 
increase in lynching [which] may be accepted 

as representing fairly the increasing tendency 

of colored men to commit this most frightful 

of all crimes.... All  the facts... prove that the 

colored population is gradually parting with 

the virtues ... developed under the regime of 

slavery.” 21

The scientific consensus by the turn 

of the century strongly opposed miscegena­

tion. Edward Drinker Cope, Professor of 
Zoology and Comparative Anatomy at the 

University of Pennsylvania, accounted for 

what he considered to be lower intelligence 
in blacks by the structure of their skulls. 

He argued in the 1890s that all blacks 

should be deported, else “ the finest race on 

earth,” the white race in the South, would 

be destroyed by miscegenation.22 Charles 

Davenport, a Harvard-trained biologist and 

author of a widely used textbook, and two 

scientists on the Harvard faculty, William 
Ernest Castle and geneticist Edward M. East, 
also favored prohibitions of interracial sex 

and marriage. And since many relation­

ships are formed when people are students, 
they also opposed integrated education.23 

Somewhat later, in 1917, former Harvard 

professor, then Colonel, Robert M. Yerkes 

supervised a program that administered in­

telligence testing to about 1.75 million 

U.S. Army recruits. Among the explana­

tions Yerkes offered in his analysis of the 

disappointing average performance of white 

recruits was the spread of “Negro” blood

through the white population as a result of 

miscegenation.24

Scientific measurements, some dating 

from the Civil War, were understood to con­

firm the dangers of miscegenation. A study 

of Civil War autopsy reports showed average 

lung capacities of soldiers as follows: white, 

185 cubic inches; black, 164; mulatto, 159. 

In consequence, “mulattos were chronically 

unhealthy and unfit for hard labor.... They 
died much younger than either blacks or 

whites.” 25 Frederick L. Hoffman’s studies, 

he thought, showed that “all mulattoes were 
inferior to members of either race.”  Agassiz’s 

student Professor Shaler believed “ that the 

mulatto was less healthy, shorter-lived, and 

less fertile than members of either the black 

or white race.” 26

These racial views served social and 

political purposes. “Darwinian thinking,” as 
Eric Foner has pointed out, “became yet 

another justification for laws that restricted 

black rights.” 27 America’s “egalitarian norms 

required special reasons for exclusion [of 
black citizens from civil equality],” 28 and 

the supposed inferiority of blacks served this 

purpose. Racism enabled white Anglo-Saxon 

elites, both industrial and agricultural, in 

both the North and the South, to understand 

their position of relative wealth and power 

as the consequence of a superior genetic 
endowment rather than unjust economic or 

social arrangements.

Government, as elites throughout the 
country believed at the time, needed to be 

reformed; “ reform” meant lower taxes and 
control of government firmly placed in the 

hands of “ the best men” ; the “best men,” of 
course, were white Anglo-Saxons.29 Widely 

held racial attitudes also meshed well with 

the then-prevailing ideology among white 
elites that property rights were sacred30; 

that labor posed a danger to property; and 

thus that laborers—whether understood to be 

black sharecroppers in Alabama or Hungar­

ian coal miners in Pennsylvania—needed to 

be kept under firm control. Rising economic
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inequality around the turn of the century 
underscored both the need to protect property 

and the dangers that the lower orders posed 
to property.31 Black laborers—who would 

work only if  subjected to coercion (as was 

widely believed32)—and strikers who turned 

to violence against strikebreakers or their 

employers’ property could be understood as 
the products of their own racial inferiority. 

Genetically deficient labor, thus, should be 

left “unprotected ... at the mercy of unreg­

ulated capital.” 33

Equal opportunity, valued at the time 

because it permitted the most able to emerge, 

to the benefit of all, did not need to be 

extended to people of the lesser races since 

the best, it was thought, could never emerge

from their ranks. In 1893, when Howard 

University opened a law school for black 

students, for example, the editors of the 

country’s leading law review were supportive 

even while doubting that “members of that 

race will  ever be able to achieve distinction 
in that profession....” 34 In a subsequent note, 

the editors observed that the “negro skull”  

closes on a smaller brain with an inferior 

texture, and so the Negro cannot compete 

intellectually with the white man.35

Sharing these views, and favoring an 
end to sectionalism through a reconcilia­

tion of the states, white elites in the North 
and the South could bond in celebration of 

their common racial superiority. As Jackson 

Lears observed, “after Reconstruction, politi­
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cal le ade rs in bo th s e ctio ns re de fine d the war 

as an e p ic e xp re s s io n o f Anglo-Saxon martial 

virtue.” 36 This virtue was to be found in both 
the Union and the Confederacy. President 

Theodore Roosevelt, in 1902, speaking on the 

occasion of Justice John Marshall Harlan’s 
25th anniversary on the Court, noted the 

“homage we pay”  to the men who wore blue 

and to the men “who, with equal sincerity, 

with equal devotion to the right as it was 
given to them to see the right, wore the gray

„37

The perceived superiority of white 

Anglo-Americans was not limited to their 

martial spirit. Descended from liberty-loving, 

blue-eyed warrior-barbarians from the North 

of Europe, they alone could appreciate 
and support American political institutions.38 

The president of the American Bar Associa­

tion in 1893 described the glorious American 

system of federalism, liberty, and peaceful 
foreign relations as one of the “ trophies, 

and ... triumphs” of “our Anglo-American 

race.” 39 “ Inferior races have everywhere 
gained by being admitted to the protection 

of [the Anglo-American race’s] laws, and 
ultimately, the privileges of its citizenship.” 40

Such attitudes were also expressed by the 

justices of the Court, who were themselves a 

homogeneous group of white men. Twenty- 

seven different justices were members of the 
Courts that decided VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaughterhouse C ases 

(1873),41 the Court’s first decision under 

the Fourteenth Amendment, B erea C ollege 

thirty-five years later, and the cases in be­

tween. One, Joseph McKenna, appointed by 

President Cleveland in 1898, was the Ro­

man Catholic son of Irish immigrants and 

was poor as a small child, although his 

father moved the family to California and 
there prospered as a bakery owner. None of 

the others grew up poor, all coming from 

old established families of lawyers, doctors, 

teachers, merchants, clergymen, or farmers. 

All  were Protestants until 1894, when Pres­

ident Cleveland appointed Edward Douglass 

White, the only other Roman Catholic to sit

on the Court during this period, although 

he was the scion of a wealthy and powerful 
family—his father owned a large plantation 

and was a Congressman, and later governor 
of Louisiana. (Justice White, who joined in 

the majority’s opinion in B erea , was himself 
a Klansman before he sat on the Court.42) 

It was observed in 1888 and true through­

out this period that “ the whole bench [of 

the Supreme Court] might be described as 
being a selection from the best blood of the 

country.... None ... like Lincoln or Andrew 

Jackson ... hewed their way up from the 
bottom.... All  are thoroughly educated.” 43

Justice Stephen J. Field in 1890 admired 
“ the fiery courage and martial spirit” of 

the Confederacy; “we are all of the same 
warrior race.” 44 Justice Brewer, in a speech 

defending the Supreme Court’s exercise of ju­

dicial review as essential to liberty, explained 

in racial terms why liberty lives in Great 

Britain despite the absence of judicial review 

there. He attributed Britain’s liberty to limited 

suffrage, the checks inherent in its system of 
government, and the control of its govern­

ment by a conservative homogeneous Anglo- 

Saxon race. In the United States, by contrast, 

he said we have universal suffrage and a 
racially heterogeneous population, which but 

for our judicial institutions “would certainly 

sweep on to despotism of the mob, whose 

despotism is always followed by the man on 

horseback.” 45

That the Court through World War I 

and beyond was inhospitable to the claims 

of black citizens to equal rights under the 

Fourteenth Amendment has been well stud­

ied elsewhere.46 That the Court’s decisions 

were influenced by the justices’ sharing in 
the racist attitudes of the time cannot be 

doubted.47 Sometimes the racism was evident 

in the Court’s opinions rather than lurking 

quietly in the undertones. P lessy v. F erguson , 

famously, observed that “a legal distinction 

between the white and colored races [is] a 

distinction which is founded in the color of 

the two races and which must always exist so
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lo ng as white m e n are dis tingu is he d fro m the 

o the r race by co lo r. [The Fourteenth Amend­

ment] ... could not have been intended to 
abolish distinctions based on color.” 48 In VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH all  

v. D eC uir,49 and again in Lou isv ille , N ew O r­

leans, and Texas R ailw ay C o. v. M ississipp i,50 

the Court, in opinions by, respectively, Chief 

Justice Waite and Justice Brewer, expressed 

its sympathy for passengers in “a cabin set 

apart for the use of whites ... [who might 

be required to] share the accommodations of 

that cabin with such colored persons as may 

come on board afterwards ....” 51

B erea C ollege

Evangelical Christian abolitionists re­
ceived a corporate charter from Kentucky 

and started Berea as an academy in 1855. 

The school was closed during the Civil War 

and reopened in 1866, adding a college at

that time. The college charged only modest 

tuition or none at all and admitted both men 

and women. The college founders adopted a 

motto: “God has made of one blood all the 
peoples of the earth.” 52 At the outset, the col­

lege had only white students but later in 1866, 
consistent with the principle expressed in its 

motto, it began admitting black students as 

well. The proportion of black students among 

the student body varied, at times reaching 

half, and in Berea College’s last year of 

operations as an integrated college was about 

15%. The program at Berea College rested 
on three foundations: Christianity, manual 

labor, and a rigorous academic curriculum for 

all students including Latin, Greek, physics, 

chemistry, history, literature, rhetoric, and 

music.53

Some white students left Berea College 
in consequence of its decision to admit 

black students, and some local white men 

occasionally harassed the college’s students 

and faculty. But things settled down and the 

school went on for some four decades, with 

occasional incidents that did not cause any 

actual physical injuries: “The Ku Klux Kians 

or the coarse jeers of drunken, hostile men 

and the careless firing of their pistols through 

the streets and the whizzing of bullets some­
times dangerously near did not often produce 

any permanent fear.” 54

When the Day Law was proposed, in 
1904, Berea College was still the only racially 

integrated college in Kentucky. The college 

opposed enactment of the Day Law but with­

out ever arguing in favor of racial equality 

and certainly not in favor of miscegenation. 

To the contrary, William Goodell Frost, then 

president of Berea College, testified that “ the 

Berea way of preventing the mingling of 

the races is not by repressing the Negro 

and calling him by humiliating names, but 
we put such character and self-respect into 

the Negro that he keeps himself in order.”  

Frost also said “keeping the two races in 

substantial equality ... had never been an 

essential part of Berea’s program.” 55 The
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co lle ge’s founding vision that all the world’s 

peoples were made of one blood had not, it 

seems, survived the turn of the century.

Once the Supreme Court had affirmed 
Berea College’s conviction under the Day 

Law, the college faced a choice: accept only 

white students, accept only black students, 

or move to another state. President Frost 
perceived “ the increasing lack of interest 

in interracial education, as well as wider 
society’s increasing hostility toward social 

equality between the races.” The college 

decided to remain open for white students 

only and to begin a new school at a separate 

location. It established The Lincoln Institute, 

near Louisville, Kentucky, for black students 

only. Lincoln had a very different, and less 

rigorous, curriculum, one emphasizing “ in­
dustrial education and teacher training.” 56

The Lincoln Institute was itself party to 

a litigation in Kentucky presenting a con­

stitutional question. Lincoln acquired more 

than 400 acres of land on which to open its 

campus. A Kentucky statute required that any 

school occupying more than 75 acres be ap­

proved by local voters. The Kentucky Court 

of Appeals held the statute to be invalid. 

Lincoln Institute could use its property as it 

pleased unless prevented by a valid police 
regulation. The court explained that there 

was nothing harmful or dangerous about 

education and so Kentucky’s police power did 
not extend to regulating it in this manner.57VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The Berea College L itiga tion in  the K entucky 

C ourts

Kentucky leveled two indictments at 

Berea College: one charged it simply with 

operating a school for both whites and blacks 
in violation of the Day Law. The other 

charged a violation of a different section of
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the Day Law that de clare d that no thing in the 

s tatu te “s hall be co ns tru e d to p re ve nt any ... 

s cho o l ... fro m m aintaining a s e p arate and 

dis tinct branch ... no t le s s than twenty-five 

miles distant, for the education exclusively 
of one race or color.” This section, without 

any prohibitory language, does not read as 

though it defines an offense. The second 

indictment, nevertheless, charged the college 
with operating an “ institution of learning 

where persons of the white and negro races 

are both received, and within a distance of 
twenty-five miles of each other.” 58

The college demurred to both indict­

ments, arguing that the Day Law was un­

constitutional under the Kentucky and U.S. 
Constitutions because, among other things, it 

prevented teachers and students at the college 

from enjoying their liberties, interfered with 

the college’s property rights, and denied the 

college and its teachers the right to follow 
their usual occupation. The Kentucky circuit 

court overruled the demurrer, finding the law 

to be a proper exercise of the state’s police 

power. After reviewing numerous cases from 

courts in both the North and the South that

upheld measures requiring separation of the 

races, the court wrote: “No well informed 

person in any section of the country will  now 

deny that the position of the Southern people 

that ‘segregation in school, church and soci­

ety is in the interest of racial integrity, and 

racial progress,’ is sound [nor] will  deny that 

that is a laudable desideratum.” 59

The circuit court proceeded to conduct a 
trial that lasted a few minutes and consisted 

of one witness, a Berea College teacher, who 
testified that, acting under the direction of the 

college, he taught a black and a white student 
together.60 The college was convicted on that 

evidence.

The Kentucky Court of Appeals affirmed 
the conviction. It did not decide whether the 

constitutional rights asserted by the college 

existed, holding that such rights would in any 

event be subject to the state’s police power 

to secure the general welfare and the public 

peace. The Day Law, the court held, was 
a reasonable exercise of that power, aimed 

at the danger of racial “amalgamation,” The 

public policy of Kentucky, declared the court, 

is to prevent intermarriage of the two races.
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Agre e ing with the circu it co u rt be lo w, the 

Co u rt o f Ap p e als wrote:

The mingling of the blood of the 

white and negro races by inter­

breeding is deemed by the political 

department of our state government 

as being hurtful to the welfare of 

society.... The result would be to 

destroy the purity of blood and 

identity of each. It would detract 

from whatever characteristic force 

pertained to either.61

The court went on at some length about 

the “wisdom” of the “divinely ordered” sep­

aration of the races and the “natural law,”  
equally “divine,” which forbids intermar­

riage. The court also addressed the step 

between racially integrated education and 

intermarriage:

If then it is a legitimate exercise 

of the police power ... to pre­

vent the mixing of the races in 

cross-breeding, it would seem to 
be equally within the same power 

to regulate that character of asso­
ciation which tends to a breach of 

the main desideratum—the purity of 

racial blood.62

Moreover, “ the tendency of intimate so­

cial intermixture is to amalgamation, con­

trary to the [natural] law of races. From social 
amalgamation it is but a step to illicit  inter­

course, and but another to intermarriage.” 63 

That prior decisions upholding segregationist 

measures addressed instances of involuntary 

association, for example in public schools 

and common carriers, made no difference to 

the court. Whether voluntary or involuntary, 
“ the main idea is that such association at 

all, under certain conditions, leads to the 

main evil, which is amalgamation of the 

races.”
The court found further support for the 

Day Law in natural “antipathies”  between the 

two races which could lead to violence. The

court quoted with favor from a decision of the 

Supreme Court of Pennsylvania:

The danger to the peace engendered 

by the feeling of aversion between 

individuals of the different races 
cannot be denied.... If  a negro takes 

his seat beside a white man or his 

wife or daughter, the law cannot 

repress the anger or conquer the 

feeling of aversion which some will  

feel.... It is much wiser to avert the 

consequences of this repulsion of 

race by separation, then to punish 

afterwards the breach of the peace it 

may have caused.

Kentucky thus requires a “separation of 

the races” to reduce the “mingling ... which 

is found to lie at the cause of the trouble.” 64

The court therefore affirmed the convic­

tion of Berea College under the first indict­

ment, for educating black and white students 

together at the same location and at the 
same time.65 It reversed the conviction under 

the second indictment, however, holding that 

it was “oppressive” to require a minimum 

of twenty-five miles between locations at 
which black and white students are educated. 
Kentucky itself, the court noted, operated 

separate schools for black and for white 

students within lesser distances.66

The court ended with the observation 

that the right to teach was not a property 

right and, with a brief nod to Kentucky’s 

power over its corporate creations, wrote, 

“besides, appellant, as a corporation created 

by this state, has no natural right to teach 

at all.... The state may withhold [that right] 
altogether, or qualify it.” 67

As noted above, the Kentucky court had 

been careful to frame its holding as designed 

to avoid dilution of the “characteristic force”  

of either race. Similarly, it spoke of racial 
animosities as though they were mutual, but 

the only example the court gave was the 

feeling a white man would have when a 

black man took a seat next to him, his wife,
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E d u c a t i o n . A ddress,

• Pr e s . W m . g . FR O ST,. Ph . D .. B e r e a , K t

The pres iden t  o f  B erea  C ollege  in  A frican-A m erican  new spapers .  W illiam  G . Frost,  d id  no t  speak  ou t  fo r  rac ia l  

equality ,  w hile  prom oting  m ixed-race  c lassroom s  in  advertis ing  the  co llege.

or his daughter. Despite these gestures of 
even-handedness, it is apparent which race’s 

“purity of blood” was the principal object 

of the Kentucky’s legislation. Its law against 

racial intermarriage prohibited whites but not 

blacks from marrying mulattoes. Kentucky’s 

focus was typical in this regard. Generally, 

miscegenation law around the country:

depended on playing fast and loose 

with the logic of maintaining several 

pure races; it translated to an actual 

commitment to white supremacy 
.... So even as judges clung to 

the constitutional fiction that misce­
genation laws “applied to all races 

alike,” miscegenation laws actually 

prohibited Whites from marrying 

other groups like “Negroes,”  “Mon­

golians,” or “Malays,”  without pro­

hibiting “Negroes,” “Mongolians,”  
or “Malays” from marrying each 

other.68

It is perhaps one mark of the power of 

the views supporting the Day Law and the 

decisions of the Kentucky courts upholding

it that they continued to find expression in 
judicial opinions for at least another 60 years. 

For example. Judge Leon M. Bazile of the 

Caroline County, Virginia, Circuit Court, 

in 1965 denied a motion to set aside the 

conviction of the Lovings, a mixed-race 

couple. Judge Bazile wrote: “Almighty God 

created the races white, black, yellow, malay, 

and red, and placed them on separate conti­

nents.... The fact that he separated the races 
shows that he did not intend them to mix.” 69VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The A rgum ents and the D ecision in  the 

Suprem e C ourt

In the Supreme Court, Berea College put 

its principal reliance on the argument that 

the Day Law imposed unconstitutional limits 

on the liberties of students and teachers. 

The college emphasized that its students and 

teachers all freely chose to study and teach in 

a racially integrated school. The Day Law’s 

limits on their liberties in turn harmed the 

college because they reduced the value of its 

investment in facilities for biracial education. 

Further, the statute’s provisions applicable to
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the co lle ge co u ld no t be s e ve re d fro m tho s e 

ap p licable to s tu de nts and te ache rs , and s o 
the e ntire s tatu te was u nco ns titu tio nal.70

The college addressed the state’s reliance 

on its police power by saying that power 

was generally invoked to justify regulation of 

matters such as gambling, liquor, and bawdy 

houses, which are inherently injurious. Berea 

College, by contrast, was engaged only in 

the laudable endeavor of education.71 The 

college also addressed Kentucky’s reliance on 

the importance of maintaining racial purity 

by aiming to negate any substantial connec­
tion between the prohibition in the statute and 

the evil Kentucky sought to prevent:

No influence in the entire South has 

been so potent against the evil of 

racial amalgamation as that of Berea 

College. The College has always 

recognized the inherent differences 

in the races. There is nothing before 

this Court to show that any teaching 

of social equality has ever been 
promulgated. Such is not the fact.72

Nothing in Berea College’s briefs made 
any reference to the nature of corporations 

or addressed Kentucky’s power to control the 
entities it created. Kentucky, likewise, did 

not refer to such concepts. Kentucky’s brief, 

rather, identified what it said was the only 

question before the Court: does the Day Law 

abridge the privileges or immunities of the 

college’s teachers and pupils, or deprive them 

of liberty, or is the law instead a valid exercise 

of the police power?73

Kentucky’s asserted police power jus­

tification for the law rested on the same 

themes that the Court of Appeals had em­

phasized. Kentucky’s brief began by detailing 

its various laws which separated the races: 

its prohibition of intermarriage, its provision 

of separate public schools for the two races, 

and its separate car law. The brief went on 

to demonstrate that such laws had been con­

sistently upheld in the courts. In Kentucky, 

“ these laws had but one common purpose

... to preserve race identity, the purity of 
blood, and prevent an amalgamation.” 74 The 

Day Law, too, Kentucky argued, served this 
salutary purpose:

While [the races are] guaranteed 

equal civil rights, it is the policy of 
the State of Kentucky to maintain 

a separate social status.... If the 

young white and colored children 

are permitted to go voluntarily to 

school together ... to associate 

together and become guests of each 

other, may we ask what more is 
needed to constitute social equality?

But let social equality be once 

established, and mutual attachment 

will follow as surely as the day 
does the night; first, among the 

weaker members of each race, 

and finally among all, resulting in 

the destruction or blotting out the 

individuality and identity of each 
race.... The associated education of 

the two races would lead to social 

equality, to intermarriage and to an 

amalgamation.75

That racial amalgamation was an “evil”  

was not seriously in dispute. As noted above, 
Berea College did not deny it; rather, it 

argued that it was a force in resisting it. 

Nonetheless, Kentucky devoted much of its 

brief to establishing the validity of that idea. 

Quoting from prior decisions, Kentucky ar­

gued that the races are different; each “ ‘color 

carries with it natural race peculiarities.’ ”  
Their separation is ‘“natural” ’ and “ ‘prov­

idential.’ ” “ ‘All social organizations which 

lead to their amalgamation are repugnant to 

the law of nature.’ ” 76

Nearing the end of its brief, Kentucky 
moved from arguing mere black and white 

racial difference to arguing white racial supe­
riority. Here Kentucky supplemented its re­

liance on the divine and natural with reliance 

on the empirical science of the day, but there 

was none of this science in the record below.
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Ke ntu cky thu s as ke d the Co u rt to “no tice”  

ce rtain facts that are “u nive rs ally kno wn”  

and “p art o f the co m m o n info rm atio n o f 

m ankind.”  The s e inclu de d the m e as u re m e nts 

m ade by Dr. Sanfo rd B. Hu nt, a s u rge o n, who 

co nclu de d that “ the s tandard we ight o f the 

ne gro brain is o ve r five o u nce s le s s than that 

o f the white .” (Hunt said his investigations 

also revealed that the brains of mulattos were 
smaller still, showing that miscegenation was 

harmful to blacks as well as whites.) Sim­

ilarly, Dr. J. Bernard Davis had concluded 

that the average internal capacity of brain 

matter was seven percent less in blacks than 

in whites. “This ‘mental gap’ ... is innate and 

God-given; and therein lies the supremacy of 

the Anglo-Saxon-Caucasian race.” Making 

plain that the future of civilization depended 

on upholding laws like the one at issue, 

Kentucky observed that “ the historian and 

adventurer found the negro race, centuries 
ago, in barbarian darkness, and the race, 
as a whole, so remains, a warning and an 

admonition against social advancement and 

equality.” Thus, “ if the progress, advance­
ment and civilization of the 20th century is 

to go forward, then it must be left not only to 

the unadulterated blood of the Anglo-Saxon- 

Caucasian race, but to the highest types and 

geniuses of that race.” 77

It is of interest that with this discus­

sion of scientific data, Kentucky provided 

the Court with a version of what came to 

be known as a Brandeis brief. In VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM uller 
v. O regon (190 8),78 where the issue was 

whether an Oregon law limiting the hours 

women could work in laundries and factories 

to ten per day was constitutional, Louis Bran­
deis, representing Oregon, submitted a brief 

that had nearly one hundred pages of sum­

maries and extracts from (as characterized 

in the M uller opinion) reports of “bureaus 

of statistics, commissioners of hygiene, [and] 

inspectors of factories ... to the effect that 
long hours are dangerous to women.” 79 The 

Court observed that such material “may not 

be, technically speaking, authorities, and in

them there is little or no discussion of the 

constitutional question presented to us for 

determination, yet they are significant .... 

We take judicial cognizance of all matters 

of general knowledge.” 80 Kentucky’s brief, 

while filed after Brandeis’s, was filed before 

this express statement by the Court of its 

willingness to consider such materials.

With the Court prepared to accept sci­

entific data not in the record, with Kentucky 

having shown that the science of the day 

established the superiority of the white race 

and the importance of maintaining its purity, 
and with Berea College not contesting either 

white supremacy or the need to prevent 

miscegenation, one could have expected an 

opinion from the Court that proceeded from 

those premises. Yet in affirming the con­

viction the Court issued an opinion resting 
entirely on corporate law principles.

The opinion was written by Justice 

David J. Brewer, with four justices joining 

(Chief Justice Melville W. Fuller and Justices 
White, Rufus Peckham, and McKenna) and 

two concurring in the judgment but not 

joining the opinion (Justices Oliver Wendell 
Holmes and William H. Moody). Justice 

Brewer opened with a reference to “ the 

general power of the state in respect to the 

separation of the two races,” 81 but he did 

not use this consideration as the basis for the 

affirmance. Rather, he relied on the “grant 

theory” of corporations: corporations are 

artificial beings, created by an act of the state, 

existing only as a consequence of positive 

law. Incorporators who are granted a charter 

by the state thereby acquire the privilege of 

holding property and making contracts in the 

corporate name, but only at the sufferance 
of the legislature, which retains the right to 

revoke the grant or add conditions to it for 
any reason at any time.

Justice Brewer marched through a 

straightforward analysis premised on Ken­

tucky’s power to set or alter conditions to 

a corporate charter as it saw fit. He char­
acterized the Day Law as an amendment
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In h is  m ajo rity  op in ion ,  Justice  D avid  B rew er  (seated  second  from  righ t)  charac terized  the  D ay Law  as an  

am endm ent  to  the  B erea  C ollege  corpora te  charter  and  upheld  the  conv ic tion  as  an  exerc ise  o f  K entucky ’s  con tro l  

over  its  corpora tions . zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

to the Be re a Co lle ge co rp o rate charte r and 

u p he ld the co nvictio n as an e xe rcis e o f the 

s tate’s control over the activities of one of its 
creations. Kentucky was under no obligation 

to treat corporations and individuals alike; as 

a corporation chartered by Kentucky, Berea 

College had only such right to teach as 

Kentucky chose to give it. There was no 
need to consider the rights of teachers or 

students as the statute’s provisions relating to 

them were severable from those relating to 

corporations.
There was no discussion in the opinion 

of whether the Kentucky statute was rea­

sonable, or even rational, in not allowing 

Berea College to continue in its teaching 

mission; apparently, the states’ control over 

the charters of the corporations they create, 

in this respect to be distinguished from the 

states’ police powers, was not required to be 

exercised in a reasonable manner and was not 

otherwise subject to judicial supervision.
Justice Harlan dissented. He was un­

willing to view the issue presented solely

in terms of the scope of activities permitted 

to a corporation under a charter Kentucky 

controlled. He noted that the Kentucky Court 
of Appeals’ decision dealt at length with the 

constitutional issue; the idea that a corpora­

tion has only those rights the state chooses 
to give it was added without any discussion, 

as an “ incidental ... makeweight in the de­
cision of the pivotal question.” 82 Reaching 

that pivotal question, the constitutional issue, 

he emphasized the benefits of education 
regardless of the racial composition of those 

being educated and concluded that a law 

limiting those benefits was beyond the police 

power of the state. Berea College’s right to 

teach, moreover, especially when tuition is 

charged, was in fact a property right within 

the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment’s 

protection of property.83 Justice William R. 

Day dissented as well, although without 

opinion.
The stark disconnect between the ar­

guments advanced by the parties and the 
issue addressed by the Court’s majority has
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attracte d the atte ntio n o f s cho lars . The ir 

analy s e s , ho we ve r, have no t be e n p e rs u a­

sive. One, Adam Winkler, argues that the 
Court prior to VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB erea C ollege distinguished 

between the Fourteenth Amendment’s due 

process protection of property rights and 

its requirement of equal protection of the 

laws, on the one hand, and liberty rights on 

the other. Corporations enjoyed the former 

but not the latter. As the Day Law did not 

deprive Berea College of any property or 

of equal protection of law, upholding the 

law, Winkler argued, simply followed this 

established distinction.84 But as noted above, 

the college did present an argument based on 
the law’s impact on its property and Justice 

Harlan saw the college’s property rights as 

being at stake. Winkler’s explanation does not 

account for the Court’s failure to consider the 
college’s property rights.

It is, moreover, not correct that the 

Court’s prior decisions limited constitutional 

protections for corporations to equal pro­

tection and property. B ank of the U nited 
Sta tes v. D eveaux?5 for example, held that 

a corporation, while not a “citizen,” may 

nevertheless invoke the constitutional right 

to access to the federal courts by reason 
of diversity of citizenship as provided in 

Article III, Section 2, of the Constitution. 
H ale v. H enkel?6 decided just two years be­

fore B erea C ollege, acknowledged the grant 

theory but held that a corporation is entitled 

to the protections that the Fourth Amendment 

provides to “persons” against “unreasonable 

searches and seizures. A corporation is, after 
all, but an association of individuals under 

an assumed name and with a distinct legal 

entity. In organizing itself as a collective 

body, it waives no constitutional immunities 
appropriate to such body.” 87

Of particular interest is Justice Brewer’s 

concurring opinion in H ale, written for him­

self and Chief Justice Fuller. Justice Brewer, 

expressing in his concurrence views that he 

had previously put forth in an opinion for 
the full Court,88 agreed that a corporation

could rely on the Fourth Amendment. His 

opinion took a broad view of a corporation’s 

constitutional rights, arguing that if  a corpo­
ration was a “person” under the Fourteenth 

Amendment—the Court having said it was 

in Santa C lara v. Southern P acific R ail­

w ay C o.?9 where Fourteenth Amendment 

protections for corporations began—it was 

also a person within the meaning of the 

Fourth and Fifth Amendments. He gave sev­
eral examples, including D eveaux, of cases 

treating corporations as persons under the 

Constitution and under various statutes. He 
concluded, “ the immunities and protection 

of articles 4, 5, and 14 of the amendments 

to the Federal Constitution are available to 

a corporation so far as, in the nature of 

things, they are applicable.” 90 He explained 

that corporations have the rights of their 

constituent individuals:

[A  corporation] is essentially but an 

association of individuals to which 

is given certain rights and privi­

leges, and in which is vested the 

legal title. The beneficial ownership 

is in the individuals, the corporation 
being simply an instrumentality by 

which the powers granted to these 

associated individuals may be ex­

ercised.... “The great object of an 

incorporation is to bestow the char­

acter and properties of individuality 

on a collective and changing body of 

men. y

Finally, while the Court repeatedly said 

that only natural persons, and not corpora­
tions, enjoyed the “ liberty” protected by the 

Fourteenth Amendment, there was authority 

showing that corporations enjoyed something 

that might be understood as liberty’s practical 

equivalent. N orthw estern N ationa l L ife Ins. 

C o. v. R iggs is an illustration.92 There the 

Court considered a Missouri statute provid­

ing that no misrepresentation made by an 

insured in obtaining a life insurance policy 

could permit the insurer to avoid the policy,
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Justice  John  M arsha ll  H arlan 's  d issen t  exam ined  the  

la rger  constitu tiona l  question  w ith  its  em phas is  on  

the benefits  o f education  regard less  o f the rac ia l  

com pos ition  o f  those  being  educated .  H arlan  conc luded  

tha t  a law  lim iting  those  benefits  w as  beyond  the  po lice  

pow er  o f  the  sta te . zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“u nle s s the m atte r m is re p re s e nte d s hall have 
actu ally co ntr ibu te d to the co ntinge ncy o r 

e ve nt o n which the p o licy is to be co m e 
du e and p ay able .” The p articu lar ins u rance 

p o licy that le d to the litigatio n had a clau s e 

p ro viding that e ve ry s tate m e nt by the in­

sured was a warranty material to the risk. 

Application of the Missouri statute, thus, 

would override the (presumably) freely made 

contract of the parties. The Court upheld the 

constitutionality of the statute.

Justice Harlan, writing for a unanimous 

Court, acknowledged that the statute “ in 

some degree restricts the company’s power of 
contracting.” He also acknowledged that the 

statute meant that the beneficiaries of a policy 

“may sometimes reap the fruits of fraud.”  
But he would not for those reasons hold it 

unconstitutional. He invoked the corporate 

grant theory as a reason to uphold the statute: 

“such a restriction as that founded in the 

Missouri statute, if  embodied in the original 

charter of a life insurance corporation, would 
of course be binding upon it .... If, however, 

no such restriction was imposed by its char­

ter, it could yet be imposed by subsequent 
legislation ...,” 93

If  that were all Justice Harlan had to 

say, the case would be Berea College’s twin. 

But he also invoked the police power “ in 

each state ... [if]  not forbidden by its own 

constitution or by the Constitution of the 

United States ... ‘ to regulate the relative 

rights and duties of all persons and corpora­
tions ... to provide for... the public good.’” 94 

He explained why the Missouri statute was a 

reasonable exercise of the police power. Prior 

judicial decisions in Missouri had addressed 
the “ long and hurtful practice”  by insurance 

companies of using “harsh” provisions to 
avoid their policy obligations.95 That “evil”  

was “ to be remedied by legislation” :

The business of life insurance ... 

is so intimately connected with the 
common good that the state creating 

the insurance corporations and giv­

ing them authority to engage in that 

business may, without transcending 

the limits of legislative power, reg­
ulate their affairs, so far, at least, 

as to prevent them from committing 

wrong or injustice in the exercise of 
their corporate functions.96

Justice Harlan also observed that the 

“ liberty”  protected by the Fourteenth Amend­

ment “ is the liberty of natural, not artificial, 

persons,” 97 but his opinion makes it clear 

that the regulatory power over corporate 

behavior is not unlimited and must serve 

reasonable ends in a reasonable manner—- 
in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR iggs itself, preventing “ injustice.”  R iggs 

thus differs from B erea C ollege in not having 

rested solely on a state’s power over the 
corporations it has created, and instead going 

on to find that the state exercised its power 

reasonably, to curb a harmful practice.
Justice Harlan took the same approach 

a year later, writing for the Court in W est­

ern Turf A ssocia tion v. G reenberg . Citing 

R iggs, he said that only natural persons had 
a Fourteenth Amendment liberty right, but
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again in the co nte xt o f finding the s tatu te 

u nde r e xam inatio n to be a p ro p e r e xe rcis e o f 

the p o lice p o we r, o ne that “m e re ly requires 
defendant [corporation] to honor its contract 

... [and] promotes good order.” 98

At the time of Riggs and VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW estern Turf 

A ssocia tion , the area beyond a reasonable ex­

ercise of the police power was considered an 

area of protected liberty. Thus, the question 

whether a given governmental measure was a 

reasonable exercise of the police power, and 

the question whether the protected liberty of 

those affected had been transgressed, were 

the same question expressed in different 
ways.99 If  as R iggs suggests, police regula­

tion of corporate behavior was required to 

be “ reasonable”—stated otherwise, if  corpo­
rations had a right to be free of unreasonable 

regulation—it would follow that corporations 

had what could fairly be understood as a 

liberty interest protected by the Fourteenth 
Amendment.100

In view of these authorities from D e- 
veaux in 1809 to H ale and R iggs in 1906, the 

B erea Court’s unwillingness to address the 
college’s constitutional claims or the reason­

ableness of the Day Law cannot be explained 

as resting on what Winkler said was a settled 

understanding of highly limited corporate 

access to constitutional protections. Both as 

a rights-holder itself and as one entitled to 

advance the claims of the members of its 

collective body, the college had constitutional 

arguments that merited consideration under 

then-applicable practice.

Another scholar, David Bernstein, has 
argued that in B erea C ollege the Court 

was presented with a stark choice between 

what he terms the sociological jurispru­
dence, racism, and statism seen in P lessy 
v. F erguson ,xox where the Court upheld a 

law requiring separate railway coach cars 

for black and white passengers, and the 

libertarianism and suspicion of state power 

of Lochner v. N ew York,102 where the Court 

found a limitation on the hours that could 

be worked by bakery employees to be an

unconstitutional infringement of liberty. In 

B erea C ollege, Bernstein argues, the Court 

found a way to avoid choosing between 
P lessy and Lochner)02

P lessy, deferring to a state legislative 

judgment that a race-based segregation mea­
sure was “ reasonable,” would skew toward 

upholding the Day Law as a valid exercise of 

the police power. Lochner, on the other hand, 

refused to defer to a legislative judgment 

that it was unhealthy to spend long hours 

inhaling heated flour dust while working in 

a bakery. Lochner, moreover, insisted on a 

bakery worker’s liberty to work such hours 

as he chose and a bakery operator’s liberty 

to employ people for as long as he chose. 

Reliance on Lochner would tend to support 

a conclusion that the Day Law should be 
struck down. Bernstein is correct that the 

B erea Court did not expressly do either 

of those things. Bernstein praises what he 

calls this “evasion” because, by upholding 
Kentucky’s segregationist measure without 

characterizing it as a reasonable exercise 

of the police power, the Court preserved 

its ability to use Lochner-W ke “skepticism 

of state power” later, as a “weapon in the 

battle against state-sponsored segregation.”  
He argues that B erea C ollege had the virtue 

of leaving the field open to permit the Court 

to hold, as it did in 1917 in B uchanan v. 
W arley)0^ that a law requiring residential 

segregation was unconstitutional.

But to speak of B erea College as pre­

serving the Court’s ability to be skeptical 

of state power is far from what the Court 

actually did. The majority opinion upheld 

Kentucky’s control over corporate behavior 

without pausing to examine whether the man­

ner in which it was exercised was reasonable 
or justified. The Court could hardly have 
exhibited less skepticism about state power.

If, moreover, the Berea Court had ex­

plicitly considered whether the Day Law 

was “ reasonable” and held that it was, it 

would not at all have hindered the result 

in B uchanan. B uchanan considered a city
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o rdinance that m ade it u nlawfu l fo r white s 

to m o ve into re s ide nce s o n blo cks whe re 

the m ajo rity o f ho u s e s we re o ccu p ie d by 

blacks , and fo r blacks to m o ve into re s ide nce s 

o n blo cks whe re the m ajo rity o f ho u s e s 

we re o ccu p ie d by white s . The u nanim o u s 

Co u rt, in an o p inio n by Ju s tice Day , had 
little difficu lty in ho lding that, as a p ractical 

m atte r, the o rdinance p re ve nte d a lando wne r 

fro m s e lling his p ro p e rty to who m e ve r he 

cho s e and was the re fo re inco ns is te nt with 

the Fo u rte e nth Am e ndm e nt’s protections of 

property rights. VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB uchanan did not dispute the 

propriety of segregationist laws in general. 

To the contrary, B uchanan acknowledged the 

“serious and difficult problem arising from 

a feeling of race hostility which the law is 

powerless to control and to which it must 

give a measure of consideration ....” It ex­

plicitly  affirmed the desirability of promoting 

public peace through racial segregation. It 

cited P lessy favorably and observed with 

apparent agreement that “ this Court has held 
laws valid which separated the races ... in 

public accommodations.” 105 But when the 

Court’s commitment to upholding property 

rights conflicted with the desirable goal of 

separating the races, property rights overrode 

segregation. Had there been an opinion in 
B erea characterizing the Day Law as reason­

able, it would not have required any change 

to B uchanan’s reasoning or outcome.

In all events, after B erea the Court did 
not bring skepticism about state power to 

bear on laws implementing Jim Crow mea­

sures. Rather, the Court in the main found 

reasons, just as it did in B erea , to adopt a 

hands-off approach when faced with cases of 

state-sponsored segregation or, more broadly, 

measures by Southern lawmakers that disad­

vantaged black citizens.106 Thus, Bernstein, 

seeing B erea as temporizing, overstates its 

benignity.
Parting ways with both Winkler and 

Bernstein, one asks, should B erea C ollege 
be taken at face value and understood as 

defining an area of state power over corpora­

tions that can be exercised without justifica­
tion, that somehow escapes all constitutional 

scrutiny? No, it should not. The Court did 

not intend, cannot have intended, to allow the 

states the ability, unlimited and unsupervised 

by the courts, to regulate the activities of 
corporations so long as the regulation was 

done through control over corporate charters 

or legislation deemed to amend charters. 

There are compelling considerations pointing 
in this direction.

Preliminarily, it should be noted that the 

grant theory on which Justice Brewer relied 

had been under attack for about 25 years 

when he wrote his opinion in B erea C ollege. 

Academics had begun to undermine the the­

ory in the 1880s. In the 1890s, the influential 

scholar Ernst Freund argued that “ the law 

does not create the corporate person, but 

finding it in existence invests it with a certain 
legal capacity.” 107 By the time of B erea C ol­

lege, corporations were being characterized 

as natural rather than artificial, the products 

of private agreements (like partnerships or 
trusts) rather than positive law. The grant 

theory was soon a dead letter, generally in 
American law and in the Supreme Court.108

The Supreme Court, though, did have a 

reason to cling to the old concept: limiting 

corporate activity to whatever was specifi­

cally allowed by charter was a weapon useful 

to the Court in combating corporate consol­

idation and thereby preserving competitive 

markets. A corporation not authorized by 
its charter to make contracts that would 

effect a merger could be held to have acted 

ultra vires if it went beyond its charter in 

this regard. As Morton Horwitz observes, 

“during the late nineteenth century ... an 

old conservative majority [on the Supreme 

Court], favoring small competitive units of 

production and fearing large-scale enterprise, 

never really abandoned the traditional view 
of the corporation as an artificial creature 

of state power.” 109 But apart from whatever 
utility the grant theory may have had in 

resisting corporate consolidation, its use in



280 JO U R N A L  O F SU PR EM E  C O U R T H ISTO R YzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB erea cas e , as Michae l J. Klarm an no te d 

in his co m p re he ns ive s tu dy o f the Co u rt’s 
civil  rights decisions, was “contrived.” 110

No hint of the declining force of the 

grant theory can be found in Justice Brewer’s 
opinion. But even the most full-throated 

version of the theory would not have left 

the states with the unchecked power seem­

ingly seen in B erea . Could Kentucky have 

chartered a bank to make loans and accept 

deposits, but only for white customers? No 

other opinion for the Court, either before 

or after B erea , seems ever to have seriously 

entertained such a broad reading of state 

power. The Court never cited B erea for any 

proposition concerning the breadth of state 
power, the police power, or the ability of 

corporations to make constitutional claims. 

The Court had previously made general state­
ments to the effect that a state’s reservation 

of power to amend or rescind grants of 

corporate charters “places under legislative 

control all rights, privileges, and immunities 
derived by [the corporation’s] charter directly 

from the State.” 111 But the Court had never 

applied this general principle to uphold a 

regulation attacked as unreasonable or to 

defeat a claim that a regulation of corporate 

activity was constitutionally impermissible. 
Indeed, to the contrary, in Southern P acific 

C o. v. D enton the Court addressed the 

analogous area of a state’s power to set 

conditions to allowing a foreign corpora­

tion to do business within its borders, a 

power roughly as broad as that to govern 

the corporations the state created itself.113 

D enton , however, held that the power could 

not extend to requiring an out-of-state cor­

poration to surrender a constitutional right. 

Similarly, as the Court observed two years 

after B erea in W estern U nion Telegraph C o. v. 
K ansas, at least with respect to corporations 

engaged in interstate commerce, ‘“ in all the 

cases in which this Court has considered 

the subject of the granting by a state to 

a foreign corporation of its consent to the 

transaction of business in the state, it has

uniformly asserted tha t no cond itions can 

be im posed ... w hich are repugnant to the 

C onstitu tion... ,’ ” 114

While twenty years before B erea , the 

Court was quite deferential to the states in 

the exercise of their police power,115 by 1908 

the Court had entered the so-called Lochner 

era. In Lochner, New York’s legislature had 

made a judgment about the health effects 

of inhaling heated flour dust; the Court 

substituted its own, different judgment. At 

around the time of B erea , the Court, rather 

than defer to legislatures, aggressively used 

the Fourteenth Amendment and parallel con­

cepts in the Fifth Amendment to scrutinize 

state and federal legislation that arguably 

infringed on property rights or on liberty 
of contract. One example is A da ir v. U nited 

Sta tes, where the Court cited Lochner and 
held unconstitutional a measure prohibiting 

employers from discharging employees by 

reason of their union membership.116 This 

is not to suggest that the Court routinely 

rejected economic legislation; rather, under 

careful scrutiny the Court also upheld many 

economic measures.117 But leaving states 

with carte b lanche to regulate corporate 

activity through charter amendments would 

not have been consistent with the new role 

the Court had assumed of supervising state 

legislatures, especially given the ever-larger 

role played by corporations in the economic 
life of the nation.118 The unqualified power, 

free of judicial oversight, that B erea C ollege 

appears to grant to the states over their 

corporate creatures is a mirage.

Further undermining the notion that 

B erea stands for Kentucky’s unlimited con­
trol over corporate charters is the fact that 

the Kentucky Court of Appeals made clear 

that as a matter of state law, Kentucky was 
not exercising such power in upholding the 

Day Law’s application to the college and, 

moreover, Kentucky did not claim that it had 

such power.119 As noted above, the Kentucky 

Court of Appeals reversed the conviction of 

the college for teaching white and black stu­
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de nts within 25 miles of each other, holding 

the relevant provision of the Day Law to 

be “oppressive.” No issue of oppressiveness 

would arise, however, under Justice Brewer’s 

approach to the case. Rather, one would 

simply hold that Kentucky had revoked the 

Berea College charter to the extent it allowed 

teaching white and black students within 25 

miles of each other, without any need to 

consider whether such action was oppressive.

A word should be added about the gen­
eral approach the author of the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB erea opinion 

took to matters of governmental power during 
his twenty years on the Court. As Arnold Paul 

writes in a biographical essay, throughout his 

tenure, “Justice Brewer held to a strictly con­

servative, sometimes reactionary, position on 

the Court opposing firmly the expansion of 
government power, state or federal.” 120 A 

milder view, one that would object to char­

acterizing Justice Brewer as “ reactionary,”  

was expressed by Joseph Gordon Hylton, 

although he too found Justice Brewer to be 
“antistatist.” 121 As a circuit judge, Justice 

Brewer had held that a Kansas prohibition 

statute that rendered a brewery valueless was 
unconstitutional; the Supreme Court reached 

the opposite conclusion in M ugler v. K ansas. 

In M unn v. I llino is, the Supreme Court upheld 

a state regulation of pricing by a grain 

elevator122; as a circuit judge, Justice Brewer 

declined to follow it.123 While he sat on the 

Supreme Court, it decided C ham pion v. A m es 

(expansive view of Congressional power un­

der the Commerce Clause),124 H olden v. 

H ardy (upholding a state provision limiting 

the hours that could be worked in certain dan­

gerous occupations),125 and K noxville Iron  

C o. v. H arb ison (upholding a state provision 
limiting the payment of wages in scrip)126; 

Justice Brewer dissented in all. In B rass v. 

N orth D akota ex re l. Stoeser, where the Court 

upheld a state law that regulated grain ele­

vators and fixed the rates they could charge, 

Justice Brewer worried in his dissent “ that the 

country is rapidly traveling ... to that point 

where all freedom of contract and conduct

will  be lost.” 127 Justice Brewer’s understand­
ing that property rights were sacred128 and his 

view that Fourteenth Amendment protections 

extended to corporations were part of his 

same project to rein in the states. One cannot 

imagine Justice Brewer being the author of 

a ground-breaking opinion opening for the 

states’ new paths of unsupervised corporate 
regulation. He must have had something else 

in mind.

Berea College as a J im C row D ecision

The best way to understand B erea is to 

grasp that the majority of the Court simply 

believed that Kentucky was reasonable to 
insist on preventing miscegenation, and rea­

sonable to pursue that goal through prohibit­

ing voluntary interracial association at the 

college level. The Court in 1883 had upheld 

an anti-miscegenationist measure against an 
equal protection challenge.129 Twelve years 

before B erea , in P lessy, the Court noted 
with apparent approval that “ laws forbidding 

the intermarriage of the two races may be 

said in a technical sense to interfere with 

the freedom of contract, and yet have been 

universally recognized as within the police 
power of the State.” 130 This brief dictum in 

P lessy, while without analysis, makes explicit 

that the Court did not then recognize any con­

stitutionally protected liberty that overrode 

the importance of anti-miscegenation.

A decade after B erea , in B uchanan v. 

W arley, discussed above, the Court said it 

understood the B erea C ollege decision, in 
upholding an anti-miscegenation statute, to 
have upheld a reasonab le rule.131 In dis­

cussing B erea , B uchanan first characterized 

it as resting on Kentucky’s authority over its 
own creations.132 But then B uchanan referred 

to an opinion of the Supreme Court of Geor­

gia that addressed an ordinance similar to the 

one before the B uchanan Court and which, 

the Court said, “dealt with P lessy v. F erguson 

and The B erea C ollege C ase in language so
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ap p o s ite that we quote a portion of it: ... 

‘ [those cases] require ... conformity] with 

reasonable rules in regard to the separation of 

races.’” 133 Thus, VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB uchanan, in quoting this 

language with express approval, categorized 

B erea with P lessy and recast B erea as an 

expressly segregationist decision, one that 

found the Day Law to be a reasonab le 
exercise of the state’s police power.

Contemporary commentary on the 

Supreme Court’s B erea decision understood 

it in precisely this way. It was seen as, and 

commended for, upholding a beneficial 

regime of racial separation and avoiding 

miscegenation.134 The H arvard Law R eview , 

for example, stated the issue in the case as 

“whether the state has made such proper 

use of its police power that teachers and 

pupils the freedom of whose action is 
thereby limited cannot successfully invoke 

the fourteenth amendment.” Concluding 
that the statute was a proper exercise of 

the police power, the article reasoned that 

the state’s right to prohibit miscegenation is 

“unquestioned” and to prohibit integrated 
education “ is not much more a step.” 135 

Lower court cases since B erea joined in 

seeing it as a Jim Crow decision rather than 

a corporate law case and, prior to B row n, 

it was cited in support of upholding the 
constitutionality of state statutes requiring 

segregated schools.136

Thus, in sum, B uchanan got B erea right: 

it was not about state power over corporate 
charters, it was about segregationist measures 
understood to be reasonable. Kentucky made 

a legislative judgment that miscegenation 

was an evil to be avoided; the Court, no 

doubt sharing in the racism of the times and 

aware that Kentucky’s judgment was sup­

ported by then-contemporary science, was 

not prepared to reject that judgment as irra­

tional or as inconsistent with any constitu­

tional guaranties. The Kentucky legislature 
further judged, in the words of the H arvard 

Law R eview , that it “was not much more a 
step” from legislating against miscegenation

to legislating against biracial education. The 

Court apparently accepted that proposition 

as well. B erea thus takes its place alongside 

other Supreme Court decisions of the era— 

including those allowing disenfranchisement 

of black voters,137 acquiescing in the exclu­

sion of black citizens from Southern juries,138 

refusing to recognize federal jurisdiction to 

act against lynching,139 and overlooking the 

vastly smaller allocation of resources to the 
education of black children compared to 
schools for white students,140 to mention 

some—that upheld a Jim Crow regime that 

persisted for another fifty  years.
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W illis  Van D evanter: C hancellor 
of the Taft C ourt fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

R O BER T  PO STzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Altho u gh William H. Taft was p re s ide nt 

fo r o nly fo u r y e ars , he ap p o inte d a re m ark­

able five justices to the Supreme Court.1 But 
only two of these appointments remained on 

the Court when Taft became chief justice- 

Mahlon Pitney and Willis Van Devanter. Pit­

ney would be gone within eighteen months, 

but Van Devanter would remain as “one 

of the most enduring achievements of the 

Taft Administration, and very possibly its 

greatest.” 2

Early Life

Willis Van Devanter was born on April  
17, 1859, in Marion, Indiana. He was about 

eighteen months younger than Taft. Van 

Devanter’s father was a successful local 

lawyer. Although Van Devanter wanted to go 

into farming, his father prevailed upon him 
to attend Indiana Asbury University (now 

DePauw University) and then Cincinnati 

Law School, where Van Devanter was a year 

behind but nevertheless acquainted with Taft 

himself.3
Unlike both Taft and Oliver Wendell 

Holmes, who followed well-worn career

paths, Van Devanter elected to move as 

a young man to the distant and lawless 
West. In 1884, within a week of President 

Chester A. Arthur’s appointment of Van 

Devanter’s brother-in-law (John W. Lacey) 

as Chief Justice of the Territorial Court for 
Wyoming Territory, Van Devanter relocated 

to the frontier town of Cheyenne. In 1885, 

he offered his services to the new territorial 

governor, the loyal, shrewd, and astute Fran­
cis E. Warren, stalwart Republican, wealthy 

rancher, and Civil  War recipient of the Medal 

of Honor.
Van Devanter’s rise in the new territory 

was “ little short of sensational.” 4 He became 

a commissioner tasked with revising the laws 

and statutes of Wyoming Territory in 1886;5 

the city attorney of Cheyenne in 1887;6 a 

member of the Territorial House of Repre­

sentatives in 1888;7 and, in 1889, at the age 

of thirty, the Chief Justice of the Territorial 

Supreme Court.8 When Wyoming became 

a state 1890, Van Devanter was elected to 

its new Supreme Court and became its first 

Chief Justice.9 Advising a friend to try his 

luck in the western territories, Van Devanter
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wro te , “A m an gro ws fo u rfo ld m o re than he 

wo u ld u nde r o the r co nditio ns .” 10
Within four days of his election as 

Chief Justice, Van Devanter suddenly and 
unexpectedly resigned,11 returning to the suc­

cessful law practice that he had maintained 

throughout his time in Wyoming. He traveled 

the state in stagecoaches and on horseback. 

In 1890 he formed with his brother-in-law 

the firm of Lacey and Van Devanter. It 
quickly became “Wyoming’s most prominent 

law firm,” 12 representing the most important 

economic interests in the state, including 

cattlemen’s associations and the state’s most 
significant railroad, the Union Pacific. Most 

memorably, Van Devanter defended the cat­

tlemen who, along with a contingent of Texas 

gunman, had traveled to the northern reaches 

of the state to exterminate the “ rustlers” who 

they claimed were stealing cattle.13 After 

murdering two suspected rustlers, the excur­

sion was itself surrounded by angry residents

and survived only after extraction by federal 

troops. The invasion was the outgrowth of 
ongoing disputes between southern Republi­

can cattle interests and northern settlers. Van 

Devanter conducted a masterful and effective 
defense of the gunmen in what later became 

known as the Johnson County War.14

From the moment he arrived in the 

territory, Van Devanter sought to become 

an important player in Wyoming Republican 

politics. Largely because of his close connec­

tion to Warren, he “served as Chairman of 

the Republican State Committee from 1892 

to 1895, as a delegate to the Republican 
National Convention in St. Louis in 1896, 

and as a member of the Republican National 
Committee from 1896 to 1900.” 15 After 

Warren became a powerful United States 
Senator,16 Van Devanter became “Senator 

Warren’s man in Wyoming, his confidant, 

counsel, and political manager.” 17 Van De­

vanter subsidized Republican newspapers;
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arrange d fo r p o litical to rchlight p arade s and 

rallies; provided Republican speakers with 

free Union Pacific passes (essential in such 
a large, unpopulated state); financed the 

transportation of Republican voters to the 

polls; created a statewide network of Re­

publican clubs; waged election campaigns; 

drafted platforms and legislation; whipped 

the unruly Wyoming legislature into line; and 

in general was the first lieutenant of what 
became known as the “Warren machine.” 18

Van Devanter remained throughout ab­

solutely loyal to Warren.19 “A good lis­

tener, organizer, and financial manager, 

Van Devanter could purchase railroad fares, 
bands, newspapers, and election officials 

with aplomb and tact, leaving few traces ex­
cept Republican success in his wake.” 20 Van 

Devanter was an “ ideal tool”  who was content 

never to threaten Warren’s authority.21

Van Devanter was discreet, kept

Warrant’s confidences, but faithfully 

relayed political gossip and intel­

ligence to Warren, giving Warren 

a trustworthy guide to Wyoming’s 
political climate.... Van Devanter, 

as legislative draftsman and political 

negotiator, could translate Warren’s 

program into speeches and bills 
and see that the territorial and 

state legislature responded. Van 

Devanter, however, never intruded 

on questions of policy. Warren 

decided on the ends; Van Devanter 

took care of the means.... In crisis 
after crisis, other Republicans would 

falter or whine, but Van Devanter 

never wavered in his willingness to 

defend Warren and his program. For 

such devotion, Warren repaid Van 

Devanter with the highest gifts he 
could command.22

B ecom ing a Judge

Warren’s gifts included, first and 

foremost, a relentless effort to advance

Van Devanter’s career, including helping 
Van Devanter achieve his intense ambition 

to become a federal judge23 and ultimately 

a Supreme Court justice.24 The first step 

was vigorously to lobby Attorney General 

Joseph McKenna to secure Van Devanter’s 
appointment in 1897 as an Assistant Attorney 

General assigned to the Department of the 

Interior. Describing his interview with 

McKenna, Warren wrote Van Devanter:

I then told him and I will  admit my 

voice was tremulous and emotional 

in the conversation at this juncture, 
that if  the President turned us down 

in this I felt I had no further interest 

in the patronage of my State, for 

the gap would be too wide to fill;  

that we all were intent upon it, and 

that personally it was the one thing 

I felt I must have for I should feel 

disappointed and humiliated beyond 

measure if  it was not granted.25

Van Devanter proved an “efficient 
bureaucrat,” 26 impressively and effectively 

managing his department, reducing backlogs, 
and successfully arguing important cases 

before the Supreme Court.27 During this 
period, he acquired his famous expertise in 

Indian, mining, and water law, as well as 

the law of public lands and patents, all of 

which was of considerable importance to the 

governance of the West. But Van Devanter 

never lost his thirst for judicial office. 

And when Warren—ever loyal, effective, 

and imaginative—secured the passage of 

legislation creating an extra position on the 

Eighth Circuit, Van Devanter was nominated 

to the seat by Theodore Roosevelt and 
confirmed in 1903. Van Devanter acted 

the part of a moderate Roosevelt liberal, 

voting (unlike Holmes) to apply the Sherman 

Antitrust Act to dismantle the Northern 
Securities Co.28 and the Standard Oil Co.,29 

and taking a strong stand in favor of national 

power with regard to the control of federal 

lands30 and Indians.31



290 JO U R N A L O F SU PR EM E C O U R T H ISTO R Y

Suprem e C ourt A ppointm entzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“Fro m the m o m e nt that he was ap p o inte d 

to the Eighth Circu it Co u rt o f Ap p e als , Van 

De vante r active ly s o u ght a p o s itio n o n the 

Unite d State s Su p re m e Co u rt.” 32 Senator 
Warren was fully  supportive. “We must keep 

our eye on the sight and our thumb on 

the keyhole, and not miss a single trick, 

because the thing will  not be complete until 

you become one of the nine.” 33 Pushing for 

Roosevelt to appoint Van Devanter to the 

vacancy left open by Henry Billings Brown, 

for example, Warren wrote Van Devanter:

Things seem to be working rather 

favorably toward the general end we 

are seeking. Of course it may be 

necessary to have lots of time, lots 

of patience and some close figuring, 
but we might as well fix our aim 

directly on the spot we desire to hit, 

and then bend our energies diplo­

matically and continuously in that 

direction.34

Almost as soon as William H. Taft 
became president, Warren let him know 

in no uncertain terms, “Probably I shall 

desire nothing during your administration 

so intensely as I desire the promotion of 
Judge Willis Van Devanter to the Supreme 

Court when a vacancy occurs.” 35 Warren’s 

opportunity came in 1910 with the death of 
Chief Justice Fuller36 and the retirement of 

Justice William H. Moody37 One of the new 

appointments would almost certainly have to 

come from the Eighth Circuit.

The story of Van Devanter’s nomination 
is told elsewhere,38 but for present purposes 

it is important to emphasize a curious and 

mysterious memorandum tabulating the effi­

ciency of Circuit Court judges that somehow 

ended up in Taft’s files as he contemplated the 
appointment.39 The memorandum purported 

to show that Van Devanter was a “shirker”  

who was unable to keep up his share of 

the Eighth Circuit’s work.40 Van Devanter

From the m om ent Van D evanter (p ictured) w as ap ­

pointed to the Eighth C ircu it C ourt of A ppeals in 1903, 

he began his cam paign to jo in the Suprem e C ourt. 

President Taft elevated him  to the high court in 1910, 

but w orried  that he w as dilatory in  turn ing  out op in ions.

had earlier heard of the memorandum from 
Charles Nagel, Taft’s Secretary of Commerce 

and Labor (and Brandeis’ brother-in-law). 
Van Devanter responded to the allegation 

with indignation. “ It gives me no little pain 

because it does me an injustice.” 41 Van 

Devanter pointed to the number of origi­

nal trials that he had had to conduct, the 

difficulty of the opinions that he had un­

dertaken, as well as the fact that “ I have 

proceeded upon the theory that quality and 

accuracy are more important, particularly 

in appellate work where binding precedents 
are made.” 42

Matters came to a head in December 

1910 as Taft contemplated his options. Taft 
angrily said to Warren that Van Devanter was 

not working hard enough. “Almost certainly”  

with Warren’s connivance,43 Van Devanter
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re s p o nde d with a p u blic te le gram taking his 

nam e o u t o f consideration:

It is true that I am now behind 

in Circuit Court of Appeals work 

but not to extent apparently repre­

sented. While this is to be regretted 
it does not arise from indolence 

or timidity in reaching conclusions, 

or hesitancy in giving effect to 

them. I may have given too much 

attention to closely contested and 

important cases, especially where 

there have been differences of opin­

ion, and may have been too tena­

cious of my own views, but I have 

felt justified in my course because 

it almost always has resulted in 

unanimity and has tended to pro­

duce harmonious rules of decision.
I have done much important work 

in Circuit Courts which, if added 

to my appellate work, makes my 
total easily up to average of my 

associates. I emphatically protest 
against impressions which seem to 

have been created, but make no 

complaint of President’s attitude for 

it is obviously reasonable. I cannot 

prepare and submit showing in my 
own behalf now without assuming 

attitude which would be distasteful 

to me. For this reason I prefer that 

further consideration of my name 
be omitted. Then at some later time 

when there are no appointments at 

stake I shall hope President will 

permit me personally to make full  

statement of my work to him and 

yourself. I will owe this to both 

because of his consideration of my 

name and because of your interest in 

presenting it.44

Accompanying the telegram was a long 

impassioned “private”  letter undermining the 
memorandum’s statistics, casting personal

doubt on its author, and defending Van De- 

vanter’s own performance.45

Warren presented the telegram to Taft, 

who found it “very dignified,” 46 and then 

cleverly induced Taft himself to request to 

see Van Devanter’s “private” justificatory 

letter. As Warren recounted the story to 
Van Devanter, Warren informed Taft about 

the letter, coyly observing, “Mr. President, 

I ought not to withhold anything from you, 

and if  you will  consider, in reading it, that 

it was absolutely a confidential, quickly- 

written, friendly letter such as husband and 

wife or brothers might write to each other, I 

will  bring it over and let you see it.”  At that 

point Taft became “very anxious to see [the 

letter] and [said he] would treat it as I desired 

him to.” 47
On December 9, Warren, meeting at 

7 pm with a sleepy Taft to discuss irriga­

tion matters, also suggested to Taft that ap­

pointing Van Devanter’s chief rival from the 
Eighth Circuit, Judge William Cather Hook, 

would encourage insurgent Republicans to 
believe that they were controlling Supreme 

Court appointments. “By this time Mr. Taft’s 

sleepiness had entirely disappeared and he 

was the most thoroughly awake man you ever 

saw, his eye snapping fire,”  Warren wrote Van 

Devanter, “and the way he raked over the 
insurgents and what he said about them 

would not look at all well in print.” 48 Taft 

also reported to Warren that the Cabinet, 

including Nagel, had met and recommended 
Van Devanter.49 Taft had been worried that 

Senator Knute Nelson of Minnesota, “ the 
high man on the Judiciary,” might be “buck­

ing.” “Nelson said to-day,” Taft commented, 

that “ ‘ I have no candidate, myself, but ask 

you not to appoint any railroad attorney like 

Van Devanter and others.’ ” 50

Three days later Taft announced his se­
lection of Van Devanter, who was confirmed 

on December 15, 1910.51 To Judge Walter 

H. Sanborn, Van Devanter’s colleague on 
the Eighth Circuit and likely author of the 

offending memorandum, Taft wrote,
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I to o k Van De vante r o nly afte r a 

lo ng inve s tigatio n in which I fo u nd 

that he had be e n s ick and his wife 

had be e n ill and afte r a fu ll le tte r 

o f e xp lanatio n fro m him . I think 

p e rhap s the dilato ry habit in re s p e ct 

to tu rning o u t o p inio ns co u ld be 
co rre cte d by clo s e as s o ciatio n with 

a co u rt that s its all the tim e in 
the s am e city , and whe re the co m­

parison between him and the other 

judges will be constant and when 

he knows why it is that I seriously 

hesitated before taking him.52

O pin ion Shy

Unfortunately for Taft, Van Devanter 

never did learn to correct his “dilatory habit 

in respect to turning out opinions.” Indeed, 
Van Devanter was far and away the least 

productive member of the Taft Court. Along­

side of Van Devanter, four other justices sat 

continuously on the Taft Court from its incep­

tion in the 1921 Term through the conclusion 

of the 1928 Term. During that time, Taft 

authored 249 opinions, Holmes 205 opinions, 

Brandeis 193 opinions, McReynolds 172 

opinions, and Van Devanter only 94 opinions. 

If  one considers the period between the outset 
of the 1923 Term and the conclusion of 

the 1928 Term, Taft authored 176 opinions, 

Holmes 146 opinions, Brandeis 143 opin­

ions, Butler 137 opinions, McReynolds 129 

opinions, Sutherland 113 opinions, Sanford 

113 opinions, and Van Devanter only 70 

opinions.

Not only did Van Devanter write fewer 

opinions than his colleagues, but he was 

also the slowest author on the Taft Court. 

From the outset of the 1921 Term through 

the conclusion of the 1928 Term, it took 
an average of 143 days from oral argument 

for Van Devanter to announce a unanimous
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o p inio n. If  o ne s e ts as ide Pitne y’s spotty per­

formance during the 1921 Term when he was 

ill, the next most delinquent member of the 

Taft Court was Sanford, whose unanimous 

opinions averaged 92.5 days from argument 

to announcement. By contrast, the average 
number of days from argument to announce­

ment for a unanimous opinion for Taft was 

forty-seven days; for Brandeis, it was forty- 

nine days; for McReynolds it was forty-nine 
days; and for Holmes it was twenty-six days. 

Overall, the average period of time between 
argument and announcement of a unanimous 

opinion during the era of the Taft Court was 

fifty-five  days.

Van Devanter was also the most prolix 

member of the Taft Court. From the be­

ginning of the 1921 Term through the end 

of the 1928 Term, Van Devanter’s unani­

mous opinions averaged 9.05 pages in length, 

which was the longest of any justice on 

the Court. By contrast Holmes’ unanimous 

opinions averaged 3.27 pages, McReynolds’ 
4.73 pages, Brandeis’ 6.05 pages, Suther­

land’s 6.29 pages, Butler’s 6.39 pages, San­

ford’s 6.39 pages, and Taft’s 8.85 pages. 

Overall, a unanimous Taft Court opinion 

averaged 6.33 pages in length.

Van Devanter’s opinions did, however, 

possess the merit of singular clarity. John 

W. Davis, pointedly contrasting Van Devanter 

to Holmes, observed in a commemorative 
tribute that Van Devanter’s

written style ... was Doric rather 

than Corinthian in its architecture. 
There was no striving for adorn­

ment, no search for novel words, 

no effort to coin epigrams. At the 

moment, I do not recall a single 

sentence of his that might be called 

epigrammatic. Instead ... he aimed 

to be a Judge and not a litterateur, 

and endeavored always to make his 

meaning so plain that a wayfaring 

man could not mistake it. And this I 
take to be the quintessence of merit 

in a judicial utterance.53

Attorney General William D. Mitchell 

seconded this conclusion. He noted that Van 

Devanter’s

style is simple and clear. He was 

not a phrasemaker and he did not 
import into his vocabulary words 

having no settled meaning in the 

law. His opinions are wholly free 
from such affectations. No one can 

fail to understand his reasoning and 

his conclusions; and, above all, his 
opinions not only dispose of the 

cases under consideration, but fur­

nish to the profession a guide and a 

chart for the future.54

Brandeis privately commented to Frankfurter 

that Van Devanter, in contrast to Taft, “suf­

ficiently work[s] over materials” to provide 

adequate guidance to the Bar.55

Van Devanter’s difficulty in drafting 
opinions was a source of pain and concern 

to Taft. Van Devanter “ is very slow in writing 

his cases,” Taft observed to his son. “He is 
opinion-shy, and he is never content to let 

an opinion go until he has polished it and 

worked on it until it is a gem.” 56 “ It means 

fine opinions, but very few of them.” 57 The 

“ trouble” with Van Devanter, Taft wrote his 

brother Horace, “ is that he insists on writing 
opinions which involve too great individual 

investigation and he is not content therefore 

to get through an opinion within a reasonable 

time, so that now he has carried opinions for 

one or two years and he is way behind and this 
has become a nerve straining situation.” 58

In the Fall of 1927, Van Devanter’s wife, 

Dollie, suffered a debilitating stroke. “The 

illness of Van Devanter’s wife has made him 

very slow in his opinions, slower than he 

ever was, and he was always slow,”  lamented 
Taft.59 Van Devanter never recovered his 

footing. “We are not getting along as well in 

getting rid of opinions as I would like,” Taft 

worried in 1929, and “Judge Van Devanter 
is the worst offender in this regard. He is 

opinion-shy. He writes admirable opinions 
and he is the man whom we could least spare
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in the Co u rt, and y e t his lis t o f o p inio ns is 

ve ry s m all.” 60
Van Devanter tended to justify his 

writer’s block by adverting to the special 

difficulty of the opinions assigned to him.61 

“ I have not been able to do much of anything 

in the way of writing opinions,” he wrote 
retired Justice John H. Clarke in 1927. “ It 

so happens that those assigned to me call 

for particular care and do not admit of 

hasty or rapid disposal.” 62 Clarke abetted Van 

Devanter in these excuses: “ I have noted that 

you are not writing as much as usual & fear 

that you are not well. And yet it may be that, 

as heretofore, you have been loaded up with 

a volume of work which no one else seemed 

equal to and are buried in it. You have been 

the ‘burden bearer’ of the Court ever since 
I have known you—and it ’s not fair.” 63 It 
is not obvious to a contemporary observer, 

however, that Van Devanter’s opinions were 
especially difficult. VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB unch v. C ole, for exam­

ple, was a relatively simple case involving 

federal preemption of Indian land ownership; 

it nevertheless took Van Devanter some eight 

months to complete.64

Given his urgent need to keep the Court 
current with its docket, Taft occasionally felt 

impelled “ to take most of his cases away from 

[Van Devanter] and distribute them among 
the other Justices.” 65 As early as 1924, the 

Chief Justice wrote his wife

I am just through Conference and 

have assigned the cases. Poor Van 
Devanter works so slowly with his 

opinions that he has thirteen cases 

assigned to him. I didn’t give him 

any to-day. Holmes is so quick that 

I gave him two.... What disturbs 

me is the necessity for helping Van 
Devanter. I am going to talk with 

Holmes and with Sutherland about 
it, and then with Van Devanter, to 

see if  we can not relieve him. He 

has had one case that was assigned 

to him that has taken a great deal

of time. That was the controversy 

between Texas and Oklahoma over 
their boundary and a lot of oil 

which we found to belong to the 

United States, and out of which our 

Receiver, Fred Delano, has taken 
several millions dollars worth of 

oil. Van Devanter has done very 

well and it has taken him a good 

deal of time. Apparently he writes 
opinions slowly and is not under 

great pressure to get them disposed 

of.66

After Van Devanter’s productivity de­

clined during the 1926 Term, Taft was forced 

to “ redistribute” some of his cases. Taft 

complained to his wife that Van Devanter 

“ is very sensitive cross and unreasonable. He 

does not write and yet he hates to have any 
comment made or action taken in respect to 

the matter. I turned over two of his cases to 

Brandeis but B. thought Van would cherish 

resentment against him. So I had to take 

Van’s cases myself and turn over some of 

mine to Br. I told Br. that the experiences 

of a Ch. Justice were like those of an im­

presario with his company of artists.” 67 Taft 

explained to Holmes how he had finessed the 
situation:

Brother Brandeis whom I called on 

to help out with two other of Van 

Devanter’s cases objected because 
he thought Van rather resisted any 

one else taking one assigned to him.

So he suggested that I transfer to 

him some of my own cases and take 

Van’s myself. He thinks Van will  be 

less disturbed if  the matter is wholly 

settled between him and me. I am 

going to do this for B. and perhaps 
I would better do it for you.... I 

greatly appreciate your willingness 
to help out. The brethren are feeling 

jaded. They grow a little sensitive 

and the life of a C.J. is not all 
roses.68
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C hief Justice C harles Evans H ughes (right), w ho shared the B ench w ith Van D evanter (le ft) from  1910-1916, and  

then  again  from  1930  to 1937, said  that his  “carefu l and  elaborate statem ents in  conference”  w ere  “of the  greatest 

value.” H is predecessors C hef Justices W hite and Taft had also re lied heavily on Van D evanter in C onference 

discussions.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Taft dip lo m atically ap p ro ache d Van De­

vanter, saying, “You have too many cases for 

this recess and not be expected to clean up.... 
I really assigned you too many.” 69 Despite his 

pride, Van Devanter acceded to Taft’s plan. 
“ I must assent to the change in assignment 

proposed in your very considerate note of 

yesterday. It gives me no little pain and 

embarrassment to have to say this, but I 

recognize the full propriety of what you 
propose. The cases must be disposed of.” 70

Other justices agreed with Taft’s assess­
ment of Van Devanter. Sutherland diagnosed 

Van Devanter with a case of “pen paralysis”  

that grew steadily worse during his time 
on the Court.71 Writing to Taft about his 

visit to Van Devanter’s rural summer home 

in Canada, Sutherland gently mocked Van 
Devanter’s obsessive perfectionism, which 

no doubt contributed to his paralysis: “Van

Devanter has an excellent garden and keeps 

a cow, chickens and ducks. He looks after 
them all conscientiously, and every teat yields 

milk and every hen lays eggs with logical 

exactness and strict conformity to the settled 

precedents and rules of procedures.” 72

The M ost Valuable M an on the C ourt

Van Devanter’s paucity of opinions is 

likely why a 1972 study evaluating justices 

listed Van Devanter among the eight “ fail­

ures” in the Court’s history.73 Yet almost 

all members of the Court who worked with 

Van Devanter testified to his powerful and 

disciplined legal acumen, which commanded 

“ their respect and attention.” 74
Charles Evans Hughes, who shared the 

Bench with Van Devanter from 1910 to 1916, 

and again from 1930 to 1937, praised Van
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De vante r’s “careful and elaborate statements 

in conference” as “of the greatest value.”  
Ironically, “ if these statements had been 

taken down stenographically they would have 

served with but little editing as excellent 

opinions.” 75 After Van Devanter’s retirement, 

Hughes observed that “ [i]t  was in ... confer­

ence that Justice Van Devanter’s wide expe­

rience, his precise knowledge, his accurate 

memory and his capacity for clear elucidation 

of precedents and principle contributed in 
a remarkable degree to the disposition of 

the court’s business.... Few judges in our 

history have rivaled him in fitness by reason 

of learning, skill and temperament for the 

judicial office.” 76

Van Devanter, said Brandeis, “both in 

purpose & abilities can’ t be compared. He 

is too much superior to—P[ierce] B[utler].” 77 
When Van Devanter retired in 1937 Brandeis, 

who had sat with him since 1916, observed 

that "no one could fully appreciate [Van 

Devanter’s] value who has not observed his 
work in conferences, particularly in the days 
of White and of Taft.” 78 Indeed in 1934 

Brandeis had even urged Van Devanter not to 

retire from the Court. As Van Devanter wrote 
his brother-in-law:

It may be of a little interest to you 

to know that after the term closed 

Justice Brandeis particularly asked 
an opportunity to have a talk with 

me. In the course of the talk he said 

that he wished specially to urge that 

I should not think of retiring; that he 

did not wish to see any changes in 

the Court just now, and quite apart 

from that he wished me to continue 
on the Court; that the Court spe­

cially needed me; that no one could 

take my place in conference; and 

that he thought it would be a great 

misfortune for the Court if  I should 

leave. I thanked him for what he said 
and indicated that I was not prepared 

to say what I would do. He then

renewed his request in even stronger 

terms and I pleasantly ended the 
talk. I told Sutherland, and only 

Sutherland, about it. He said that he 

believed that Brandeis was sincere 

in what he said about me and that 

Brandeis really had more confidence 

in me than in any other member of 
the Court. Sutherland then added: 

“Brandeis probably never talks to 

you about matters where he knows 
you and he differ in opinion, but in 

other matters of general law he usu­

ally wishes to know what you think 

before he comes to a conclusion, 

and he usually accepts what you say 

on such questions.” It is possible 

that Justice Brandeis is losing faith 

in the present administration and its 
policies. There have been some indi­

cations of this, but I have supposed 

that they would not be carried very 
far.79

Although Harlan Fiske Stone would 

eventually come to regard Van Devan­

ter as “ the commander-in-chief of judicial 
reaction,” 80 he nevertheless freely acknowl­

edged “ the vigor, sanity, and precision” of 

Van Devanter’s mind.81 Stone remarked that 

members of the Court “ know well that the 

public evidences of his judicial activities 

conceal rather more than they reveal what 
was his greatest service to the Court and to 

the public.” 82 “At the conference table [Van 

Devanter] was a tower of strength. When his 

turn came to represent his views of the case in 

hand, no point was overlooked, no promising 

possibility left unexplored. His statements 

were characteristically lucid and complete, 

the manifest expression of a judgment exer­

cised with unswerving independence. Often 

his expositions would have served worthily, 
both in point of form and substance, as the 

Court’s opinion in the case.” 83

Taft himself regarded Van Devanter as 
“ the strongest Judge in this country.” 84 Van
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De vante r was “ the m ains tay o f the Co u rt,” 85 

“ the most indispensable man we have in the 
Court.” 86 “He is of the utmost value in the 

Court, even if  he writes no opinions,” Taft 

wrote his brother. “ Indeed, it would be better 
if  he did not write any opinions, because then 

the others could keep up with the work.” 87

In his successful appeal to Yale Univer­

sity to bestow an honorary degree on Van 

Devanter, Taft wrote Yale President James R. 

Angell:

Even members of the Bar who fol­

low the Court’s decisions are of­

ten not advised of the very great 

function that one Judge may play in 
guiding the decisions of the Court, 

by reason of his experience, his judi­
cial statesmanship, his sense of pro­

portion and his intimate familiarity 

with the precedents established by 
the Court of which he is a member, 

and to which the Court ought to 
make itself conform as near as may 

be. The value of a Judge in Confer­

ence, especially in such a Court as 

ours, never becomes known except 
to the members of the Court. Now I 

don’t hesitate to say that Mr. Justice 

Van Devanter is far and away the 
most valuable man in our Court in 

all these qualities.... Van Devanter 

exercises more influence ... than 
any other member of the Court, just 

because the members of the Court 

know his qualities.88

To Yale professor William Lyon Phelps, 

Taft wrote that Van Devanter

is one of the ablest Judges in this 
country and one of the ablest Judges 

that we have ever had on the Court, 

but he is a very modest man and 

nobody knows the position he oc­

cupies on the Court but those who 
have to do with him in Conference.

No one can appreciate his influence

except through knowledge gained 

from the intimacy of the delibera­

tions of the Court over opinions....

He is better versed than any member 

on the Bench in our decisions and 
keeps us straight. He does not write 

so many opinions, but they are all 

admirable when he writes them. I 

don’t know how we could get along 

without him in Conference. I don’t 

think the Bar realizes generally what 
a commanding figure he is on the 

Court. He never advertises and he 
never seeks publicity.... The truth is 

I think those who refer to the Court 
who are in the ‘know’ think when 

they refer to the Court that they are 

referring to Van Devanter.89

Taft wrote his son that “Van is so modest 

that his merits are not recognized, but I am 
determined that they shall be.” 90

The C ard inal

Taft was apparently blind to Van Devan- 

ter’s deep wells of vanity and ambition, as 

illustrated by Van Devanter’s secretive and 
abortive campaign to succeed Chief Justice 

Edward Douglass White in 1921. Seven days 
after White’s death, Van Devanter wrote his 
close friend district judge John C. Pollock:

Confidentially, Justices McKenna,

Day, McReynolds and Clarke have 

said to me that they would be glad to 
see me appointed, but I realize that 

an expression of their views may 

not be solicited and cannot with 

propriety be given unless solicited. 
Senator Kellogg has volunteered to 

me the statement that he intends to 
recommend me and to recommend 

that ex-Senator George Sutherland 

be named in my place. Ex-Senator 

Bailey seems to think I will  be the 
man, and others have volunteered 

a friendly interest, but I am neither
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s ay ing no r do ing any thing no r 

p e rm itting any o f the s e s tate m e nts 

to bring m e any s e ns e o f e latio n o r 
to change the cu rre nt o f m y m ind.91 

A week later, he added:

Of course, there is nothing which 

I can do with propriety. No doubt 

there will  be those who think that 

my opinions represent the only work 

which I do, and of course it would 

be quite inadmissible for me or my 

friends to intimate that I have any 
responsibility for the opinions of 

others or have done any work on 

them. At all events, no one outside 

of the court itself could speak of this 

no matter what they surmise. Aside 

from other elements of impropriety 
it would give offense in quarters 

where offense would be harmful. 

This has been a term in which 
dissents were quite frequent, and yet 

there has not been a single dissent 

from any of my opinions during the 
term. There are some who merely 

count the number of opinions re­
gardless of their substance or the 

direction in which they go. When 

one does work on that line he can do 

what superficially seems a volume, 

and then the other federal courts 

and the state courts may grope as 
best they can in an effort to find 

out what was intended. My ideas 

and inclinations are not in that di­

rection. It leads to uncertainty and 

confusion, makes for instability and 
in the long run results in tremendous 

waste. The number of petitions for 

rehearing during the term has been 

unusually large, but in my cases only 

one was presented. People outside 

do not know this and in the nature 

of things would not be supposed to 

know. Again, comment on it, save 

by someone inside, might arouse

resentment where a kindly feeling 

now exists.92

Three days later, Van Devanter threw in 

the towel and conceded the inevitability of 

Taft’s appointment. “My impression is that 

nothing more should be done by my friends. I 

fear that under the circumstances it would not 

be welcome, and this becomes a little more 

pointed with me when I reflect that Mr. Taft 

appointed me to my present place and also 
that I must serve with whomever is appointed 

for a considerable time.” 93

Van Devanter’s letters illustrate his ex­

plicit ambition, highly honed from his days 

with Warren, to VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAappear discretely and mod­

estly useful to those around him. Ever since 
his telegram to Taft withdrawing his name 

from consideration as a potential nominee 

to the Supreme Court bench, self-effacement 

was always a potent weapon in Van Devan­

ter’s arsenal.

Van Devanter knew very well how to 

make himself indispensable to those he 
wished to serve. His long history with Warren 

was a perfect apprenticeship. As early as Fall 
1922, Brandeis could observe to Frankfurter 

that “Van D. runs Court now .... He is like a 

Jesuit general; he is always helpful to every­

body, always ready for the C.J. He knows a 

deal of federal practice &  federal specialties, 
particularly land laws, and then he is ‘ in’ 

with all the Republican politicians.” 94 A year 

later, Brandeis commented that “Van D. was 

influential with [Chief Justice] White, as he 

is with Taft - a very useful man. Ein treuer 

Diener seines Herrn. He would make an ideal 

Cardinal. He has a mind that can adjust itself 

to two such different temperaments as Taft 
and White.” 95 Van Devanter “keeps close 

track of the Chief & of some others—Me. 

(who has to be tactfully treated), Sanford, 

Sutherland. Intimidates some, influence that 

[comes] from experience.” 96 Chief Justice 

Hughes remarked that Van Devanter’s “per­

spicacity and common sense made him a 

trusted adviser in all sorts of matters. Chief
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B randeis (seated at le ft) greatly adm ired Van D evanter (seated second from le ft) “both in purpose & abilities” 
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Ju s tice White le ane d he avily u p o n him and 

s o did Chie f Ju s tice Taft, e s p e cially whe n 

the latte r be gan to fail in he alth.” 97 Hughes 

remembered that “ it was a familiar scene to 

see [White] trudging along, generally with 

Justice Van Devanter in close consultation, 

and stopping every few blocks to rest his 

feet.” 98
Brandeis mused that he himself “could 

have had much influence with White—I did 

in beginning, but I made up my mind 1 

couldn’ t pay the price it would have cost in 

want of directness &  frankness. He required 
to be managed.” 99 The contrast with Van 

Devanter was explicit and pointed. “ In the 

middle ages, Van Devanter would have been 

the best of Cardinals. He is indefatigable, on 

good terms with everybody, knows exactly 

what he wants & clouds over difficulties by 
fine phrases &  deft language. He never fools 

himself, and his credit side is on the whole

larger than his debit. But he is on the job all 
the time.” 100

It seems clear that Van Devanter enjoyed 

good if  not excellent relationships with al­

most all members of the Court. He was John 

H. Clarke’s closest companion on the Bench. 

Van Devanter told Clarke in 1922 that he was 

“one of the very few with whom [Mrs. Van 

Devanter and I] have been proud to maintain 

really affectionate relations.” 101 Van Devan­
ter was like a “brother” to Butler.102 To 

Sutherland he was “ the ‘salt of the earth’ and 
no one could be a pleasanter companion.” 103 

Van Devanter had, as Stone observed, “a large 

capacity for friendship.... His relations with 

his colleagues were marked by his uniform 

courtesy and helpfulness and by their mutual 

regard.” 104 Van Devanter would often go 

hunting and present his colleagues with a 

brace or two of ducks. He also socialized over 

a good round of golf.
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Taft was co rre ct to co nclu de that Van 

De vante r e xe rcis e d gre at influ e nce o n the 

Co u rt’s deliberations.105 It can be statistically 
shown that he was more likely than any 

other Taft Court justice to persuade others 

to alter their conference votes to join his 

opinions. Sutherland once wrote Taft that 

“ if  Van Devanter writes the opinion I shall 

unhesitatingly agree to it. If  written by any­

body else, I will agree to what you and 

he accept.” 106 Dean Acheson, Brandeis’ law 

clerk during the 1919 and 1920 Terms, later 

recalled that

Justice Van Devanter was, I think, 

the most beloved Member of the 

Court among his colleagues. He 

was gentle and wise and kind and 

thoughtful. His colleagues regarded 
him, so far as Justice Brandeis and 

Justice Holmes who talked with me 

were concerned, with the greatest 

respect in conference. He was the 

one who made wise and helpful 

observations. He was the one who 

in the returns which came from the 
circulation of draft opinions, made 

the suggestions or corrections which 

both Judge Holmes and Judge Bran­

deis always accepted.107

Another clerk noted that Brandeis was 

confident that “ the opposition will  collapse”  

after receiving Van Devanter’s assent to a 

circulated opinion that had been five to four 

in conference, “so great was Van Devanter’s 

standing with his colleagues in matters of 
procedural law.” 108 Extant case files contain 

ample evidence of the influence exerted by 
Van Devanter on the work of Brandeis, But­

ler, Holmes, Stone, McKenna, McReynolds, 
and Sanford, which at times even ex­

tended to the precirculation of draft opin­

ions to Van Devanter for his comments and 
suggestions.

It was Taft, however, with whom Van 

Devanter developed an especially close re­

lationship. Taft regarded Van Devanter as 

“ really the closest friend I have on the 

Court.” 109 Most unusually, Taft would close 
his letters to Van Devanter with “ love.” 110 

Taft considered Van Devanter a “ really a 

fine constitutional lawyer, and he writes 

most admirable opinions.” 111 Unlike Holmes, 

Van Devanter “has not what some of our 

Judges have by reason of their relations to 

Law Schools—a claque who are continually 

sounding their praises.” 112

Almost as soon as Taft became Chief 

Justice, Van Devanter began to insinuate 

himself into the administration of Court 
business,113 and Taft quickly came to trust 

and rely on Van Devanter’s discretion and 

judgment. For example, in his first Term Taft 
sent Van Devanter a tentative opinion in a 

case, writing “ I wish you would look it over 
and cut and slash as you think wise.... I have 

not sent this to the whole Court, because 

I want to have the benefit of your sugges­

tions and corrections before doing so.” 114 

Taft worked closely with Van Devanter in 

pushing Harding to nominate Pierce Butler 

to the Supreme Court.115 When handling 

the delicate business of Joseph McKenna’s 

retirement, Taft turned to Van Devanter to 
consult with McKenna’s doctor and family.116 

He conferred with Van Devanter about the 
use of Court funds117 and the administration 

of Court personnel,118 as well as about the 
assignment119 and composition120 of opin­

ions. Van Devanter was Taft’s proxy in the 

never-ending process of vetting potential 

nominees to the lower federal courts.121 Taft 
turned to Van Devanter to design and draft 

the Judiciary Act of 1925122 as well as the 

Supreme Court rules necessary to implement 
the Act.123 When Holmes’ wife broke her 

hip and was close to death in 1929, and 
when Taft had to take over arranging matters 

for his domestically inept patrician colleague, 

Van Devanter was right at his side consulting 
at every step.124 Van Devanter was Taft’s 

loyal assistant during the planning of the new 
Supreme Court Building.125
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In s ho rt, as Van De vante r wro te to a 

Ke ntu cky lawy e r, “ the Chie f Ju s tice ... and I 
are no t p ro ne to diffe r.” 126 Frankfurter would 

later capture the essence of their relationship: 

“Taft... himself said, and he was very happy 

to say, with that generosity of his which 

politicians would do well to, but do not often, 

imitate, that whatever he did as Chief Justice 
was made possible by his great reliance on 

him whom he called his ‘ lord chancellor,’ Mr. 
Justice Van Devanter.” 127

Taft’s reliance on Van Devanter became 

ever stronger as Taft experienced his own 
mental acuity diminish over the decade.128 

Once, after Van Devanter returned from a 

vacation, Taft confided in him that “ It is a real 

comfort to have you back. I am always afraid 

we may go wrong without you.” 129 In 1927, 

Taft wrote his son:

I sometimes feel that I do not have 
time enough in making ready for 

Conferences to examine with the 

closeness they deserve the argued 
and submitted cases, but they are 

examined by the Court with care. 

They have more time than I have 

and sometimes they humiliate me 

with their pointing out matters that 

I haven’t given time enough to the 

cases to discover. The familiarity 
with the practice and the thorough­

ness of examination in certain cases 

that Van Devanter is able to give 

makes him a most valuable member 

of the Court, and makes me feel 

quite small, and as if it would be 
better to have the matter run by 

him alone, for he is wonderfully 

familiar with our practice and our 
authorities. Still I must worry along 

until I get to the end of my ten 

years, content to aid in the deliber­

ations when there is a difference of 

opinion.1™

Throughout the 1920s, Van Devanter and 

Taft stood at the dead center of the Taft Court.

From the beginning of the 1921 Term until 

the end of the 1928 Term, they each either 

authored or joined the opinion of the Court in 

98.8% of the cases in which they participated, 

more than any other justices. Although Pierce 

Butler was slightly less likely to join Taft 

Court opinions—through the conclusion of 

the 1928 Term he authored or joined the 

opinion for the Court in 97.8% of the cases 

in which he participated —it may perhaps be 
most accurate to conceive the Taft Court as 

oriented along an axis that consisted of Taft, 
Van Devanter, and Butler.131 Taft regarded 

Butler as “one of my dearest friends” ;132 Van 

Devanter and Butler were also extraordinarily 

close, sharing deep roots in the Eighth Cir­

cuit.

In conference, Taft, Van Devanter, and 

Butler voted with each other more than 

with any other justices. Taft voted with Van 

Devanter 88% of the time, and with Butler 
86.8% of the time. The next justice with 

whom Taft was most likely to vote was Stone, 
with whom Taft agreed in 82.7% of cases. 

Van Devanter, in turn, voted in conference 

with Butler 89% of the time and with Taft 

88% of the time. He voted with Sanford, 
the next closest justice, in only 81.4% of 

cases. In conference Butler voted with Van 

Devanter 89% of the time, and with Taft 

86.8% of the time. He voted with Sanford, 

the next closest justice, in only 80.4% of 

cases. Throughout the course of the decade, 

it is fair to say that Van Devanter and Butler 

together pushed Taft further and further to the 

right.133
By the time of the New Deal crisis, Van 

Devanter would be pilloried in the popular 

press as “ the court’s most ardent defender 

of property rights and ... its most consis­

tently conservative member.” 134 As early as 

1931, he would be branded by VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAThe N ew 

R epub lic “as reactionary a judge as ever 

sat on the Supreme Court,” which could be 

inferred “ from his inevitable vote in favor 

of annulling state welfare acts, against labor 

unions and against the regulatory findings
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Po in t  a-au»riczyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 
, - l6 \X 98fl.

M y  dear V ant  \

"hank  you and £ra. V an D evanter adflt

affectionately for  yonr greeting® on m y 

birthday, ‘ ‘ 'e had one hundred and elaran 

people at the lunehaon, and w e w ould have 

given everyth ing It you and :.'re. Ten 

could hcvo been w ith  ne. I hope the eiaw m ei 

hns brou- ht health to you nnd her*

e look forw ard  w ith  greatest affeotlon 

to m eeting you both*

■ith  lore,

Y r. Justice V an De ve nte r, 
W ashington, D . C ,

Taft and Van D evanter had such a w arm  re lationship that Van D evanter signed his le tters “your loving  colleague" 

and  Taft signed his “w ith love." They stood  together at the dead center of the  Taft C ourt, w ith  each  either authoring 

or jo in ing  the opin ion of the C ourt in 98.8%  of the cases in w hich they partic ipated .

o f s tate and fe de ral u tility co m m is s io ns .” 135 

Yet these characterizations do not capture 

the subtlety and adroitness of Van Devanter’s 

work during the Taft Court years. Brandeis 

himself never lost sight of the formidable, 
elegant, and far-sighted legal technician that 

Van Devanter had always been. Brandeis 

discerned in Van Devanter the “conflict of 

two deep impulses. Appetite for power &  am­

bition that Court be right. If  first is satisfied 

and not involved, second is strong.... That’s 
[the] great thing about V Once having estab­

lished power he will  try to confine his own 
errors.” 136

Editor ’ s N ote: This article is derived 

from the forthcoming Volume X of the 
O liver W endell D evise H istory of the 

Suprem e C ourt  of  the U nited States, w hich 

will  cover the period 1921-30 when William 

Howard Taft was Chief Justice.

N otes

1 Horace Lurton, Charles Evans Hughes, Van Devanter, 

Joseph R. Lamar, and Pitney. Taft appointed six justices 

if  the promotion of Edward Douglass White to Chief 

Justice is counted.

2 A l e x a n d e r M. Bic k e l a n d Be n n o C. Sc h m id t , 

Jr ., Th e Ju d ic ia r y a n d Re s po n s ib l e Go v e r n me n t 

1910-1921 (MacMillan Publishing Co.: New York 

1984): 44.

5 WVD to Chauncey R. Hammond (June 21, 1930) (Van 

Devanter papers); Willis  Van Devanter: Associate Justice 

of the Supreme Court of the United States, in WVD to 

W.E. Chaplin (April 15, 1929) (Van Devanter papers).

4 James Joseph McArdle, VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAThe P olitica l P hilosophy of 

W illis V an D evanter 9 (M.A. Thesis, University of 

Wyoming, 1955).

5 Maurice Paul Holsinger, W illis V an D evanter, The 

E arly Years: 1859-1911 67 (Ph.D. Dissertation, Univer­

sity of Denver).

6 M. Paul Holsinger, W illis V an D evanter: W yom ing 

Leader, 1884-1897, 36 An n . Wy o m in g 171, 177 

(No. 2., October 1964). Van Devanter resigned the 

position in 1888. Ib id , at 178.
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7 Id .,zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 177.

8 Id ., 182-83.

9 Id ., 186-88.

10 WVD to Melville W. Miller  (November 8, 1902) (Van 

Devanter papers).

11 Holsinger, W yom ing Leader, 178.

12 Holsinger, W yom ing Leader, 178.

13 Lewis L. Gould, W illis V an D evanter and the Johnson 

C ounty W ar, 17 Mo n t a n a: Th e Ma g a z in e o e We s t e r n 

His t o r y 18 ((no. 4.) (Autumn 1967).

14 The best account is in Lewis L. Gould, W illis V an D e­

van ter in W yom ing P olitics 103-30 (Ph.D. Dissertation, 

Yale University, 1966). See a lso Holsinger, W yom ing 

Leader, 190-92.

15 McArdle, P olitica l P hilosophy, 10-11.

16 Warren, the father-in-law of John J. Pershing, served 

in the Senate from 1890 to 1893, and from 1895 until his 

death in 1929.

17 Bic k e l  a n d Sc h m id t , Th e Ju d ic ia r y a n d Re s po n s i­

b l e Go v e r n me n t, 46.

18 Daniel A. Nelson, The Suprem e C ourt A ppo in tm ent of 

W illis V an D evanter, 53 An n a l s o e Wy o m in g 2, 4 (No. 

2 Fa l l  1981); Gould, W illis V an D evanter in W yom ing 

P olitics, 28-29, 131-221.

19 “Van Devanter suppressed any budding ideological 

convictions, and became a political craftsman whose 

success depended not upon his ability to make decisions, 

but on his willingness to carry out the decisions of 

others. Paradoxically, this intellectual repression pro­

vided the key to his advancement. Warren admitted Van 

Devanter to his confidence in the certain knowledge that 

Van Devanter would never prove a threat to Warren’s 

power.”  Gould, W illis V an D evanter in W yom ing P olitics, 

28-29.

20 Id ., 175.

21 Id .,29 .

22 Id ., 29. Wallace H. Johnson, W illis V an D evanter—A 

R e-E xam ina tion , 1 Wy o m in g La w Re v . 403, 409 (2001) 

(“To Senator Warren’s credit, he seemed to really care 

what happened to Willis Van Devanter. As much as 

anything, Willis Van Devanter’s history is the story of 

Governor, and then Senator, Warren’s loyalty and the 

good fortune that befell Willis  Van Devanter by aligning 

with Warren when he moved to Wyoming.” ). Thus when 

Warren, after being defeated in his bid to become a 

United States Senator in 1892, began to mull about not 

running for re-election, Van Devanter immediately wrote 

him, “Personally 1 want you re-elected to the Senate, and 

in this I am prompted by a desire to assist the State, to 

assist the party, to assist you and to assist myself.”  WVD 

to Francis E. Warren (April 9, 1892) (WVD papers).

23 Asking Van Devanter if he would like a judicial 

appointment, Van Devanter replied, “Would like position 

beyond measure.”  WVD to Francis E. Warren (February 

25, 1891) (Van Devanter papers).

24 Francis E. Warren to WVD (February 3, 1897) (Van 

Devanter papers) (“About the Supreme Bench ... 1 only 

mentioned it in passing because I took it for granted 

every lawyer would like to reach that goal, though 

knowing full well that but few of the many can reach 

it. There is no reason why you should not aim as high 

as that with the many years you still expect to live and 

thrive.” ).

25 Francis E. Warren to WVD (March 10, 1897) (Van 

Devanter papers).

26 Paul Holsinger, The A ppo in tm ent of Suprem e C ourt 

Justice V an D evanter: A Study of P olitica l P referm ent, 

12 Am . J. Le g a l His t o r y 324, 328 (1968).

27 Holsinger, W illis V an D evanter, The E arly Years, 1 SO- 

215.

28 1 20 F. 721 (8th Cir. 1903).

29 173 F. 177 (8th Cir. 1909).

M  B rew ster v. Lanyon Z inc C o., 140 F. 801 (8lh Cir. 

1905).

31 O akes v. U nited Sta tes, 172 F. 305 (8lh Cir. 1909).

32 Holsinger, The A ppo in tm ent of  Suprem e C ourt Justice 

V an D evanter, 329.

33 Francis E. Warren to WVD (March 12, 1906) (Van 

Devanter papers).

34 Francis E. Warren to WVD (March 21, 1906) (Van 

Devanter papers).

' “ I could not, even if  I should write countless pages, 

overstate his character, ability, and desirability from 

all points, as to age, temperament, resourcefulness, 

environment, breadth of view and knowledge, etc. I 

believe that you know Judge Van Devanter quite well.

I shall desire at a later date to discuss the matter with 

you more fully.” Francis E. Warren to WHT (March 19, 

1909) (Warren papers).

36 Chief Justice Fuller died on July 4, 1910.

37 Justice Moody retired because of illness on November 

20, 1910. Crippled by rheumatism, Moody’s retirement 

had been anticipated for many months.

38 Sec Bic k e l  a n d Sc h m id t , Te ie Ju d ic ia r y a n d Re­

s po n s ib l e Go v e r n me n t, 44-64; Daniel S. McHargue, 

P residen t Taft’s A ppo in tm ents to the Suprem e C ourt, 12 

J. Po l it . 478 (1950); Holsinger, The A ppo in tm ent of 

Suprem e C ourt Justice V an D evanter: Nelson, Suprem e 

C ourt A ppo in tm ent, 239.

39 See Bic k e l  a n d Sc h m id t , Th e Ju d ic ia r y a n d Re­

s po n s ib l e Go v e r n me n t, 53-57.

40 Judge Alexander Van Orsdel to Francis E. Warren 

(August 1, 1910), quoted in Nelson, Suprem e C ourt 

A ppo in tm ent, 8.

41 WVD to Charles Nagel (April 19, 1910) in

National Archives, DOJ File # 348 (“Willis Van 

Devanter” ).

42 Ib id .

43 Holsinger, The A ppo in tm ent of Suprem e C ourt Justice 

V an D evanter, 333.
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44 WVD to Frances E. Warren (December 4, 1910) (Van 

Devanter papers).

45 WVD to Frances E. Warren (December 5, 1910) (Van 

Devanter papers).

46 Frances E. Warren to WVD (December 7, 1910) (Van 

Devanter papers).

47 Frances E. Warren to WVD (December 9. 1910) (Van 

Devanter papers).VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
48 [b id .

49 Id .

50 Id .

51 44 Co n g r e s s io n a l Re c o r d. 61st Co n g.. 3rd Se s s., Pt . 

3, 335. In one contemporary account, “There certainly 

can be no doubt that destiny was working overtime when 

she landed the young Van Devanter at Cheyenne," for 

his career “proves to all ambitious young men that there 

are but two things to do if  they have the stuff in them. 

The first is to hook up with destiny; and the second is to 

let destiny land you in a state where live two men who 

are going to be tremendous powers in the United States 

Senate. Simple, is it not?” W ho's W ho and W hy: The 

D arling of D estiny, Sa t u r d a y Ev e n in g Po s t (March 

8, 1911), 25. When “ this article was brought to Van 

Devanter’s attention ... he did not like it. He thought it 

‘not in keeping with the dignity and surroundings of the 

office which I now hold.’ ” Bic k e l  a n d Sc h m id t , Th e 

Ju d ic ia r y a n d Re s po n s ib l e; Go v e r n me n t 63 (quoting 

WVD to W.A. Richards (June 2, 1911) (Van Devanter 

papers)).

52 WHT to Walter H. Sanborn (December 15, 1910) 

(Taft papers).

: P roceed ings in M em ory of M r. Justice V an D evanter. 

301 U.S. xxvxxvi (1941).

54 Ib id ., xx.

35 Melvin I. Urofsky, The B randeis-F rankfn rter C onver­

sa tions, 1985 Su pr e me Co u r t  Re v ie w 299, 307 (July 1,

1922).

56 WHT to Robert A. Taft (May 3, 1925) (Taft papers).

57 WHT to Robert A. Taft (January 16, 1927) (Taft 

papers).

58 WHT to Horace D. Taft (January 17, 1927) (Taft 

papers).

59 WHT to Robert A. Taft (March 4, 1928) (Taft papers).

60 WHT to Robert A. Taft (March 10, 1929).

61 See. e.g ., WVD to JHC (June 23. 1927) (Van Devanter 

papers).

62 WVD to JHC (December 13, 1927) (Van Devanter 

papers).

63 See JHC to WVD (December 12, 1927) (Van Devanter 

papers).

64 2 5 3 U.S. 250 (1923).

65 WHT to Robert A. Taft (January 23, 1927) (Taft 

papers). See WHT to HFS (January 26, 1927) (Taft 

papers); WHT to GS (January 27, 1927 (Taft papers);

WHT to Butler (January 28, 1927) (Taft papers); WHT 

to Mrs. Frederick J. Manning (April 10, 1927) (Taft 

papers); WVD to OWH (February 13, 1925) (Holmes 

papers); See WHT to Helen Taft (May 25, 1924 (Taft 

papers) (“some are pretty far behind especially Van 

Devanter” ); WHT to Robert A. Taft (April  7, 1929) (Taft 

papers).

66 WHT to Helen Taft (April 28, 1924) (Taft papers).

67 WHT to Helen Taft (May 3, 1927) (Taft papers). See 

Barry Cushman, Inside the Taft C ourt: Lessons from 

the D ocket B ooks, 2015 Su p. Ct . Re v . 345, 397-400; 

Cases Assigned to Justice Van Devanter (Memorandum, 

February 1927) (Taft papers). See WHT to LDB (May 

3. 1927) (Taft papers); WHT to OWH (May 3, 1927) 

(Taft papers); WHT to HFS (May 3, 1927) (Taft papers) 

(1 don’t think it is necessary for you to speak to [Van 

Devanter] about it. He is very sensitive on all matters of 

this kind.” ); WHT to Charles P. Taft 2nd (June 5, 1927) 

(Taft papers).

68 WHT to OWH (May 3, 1927) (Taft papers).

69 WHT to WVD (May 3, 1927) (Taft papers).

70 WVD to WHT (May 4, 1927) (Taft papers).

71 Ch a r l e s Ev a n s Hu g h e s, Th e Au t o b io g r a ph ic a l 

n o t e s o e Ch a r l e s Ev a n s Hu g h e s 171 (Harvard Uni­

versity Press: Cambridge, 1973, David J. Danelski and 

Joseph S. Tulchin, eds.).

72 GS to WHT (July 3, 1925) (Taft papers). See WVD to 

WHT (July 1, 1925) (Taft papers). It is not surprising 

that Van Devanter’s surviving letters contain intricate 

remedies for constipation. See WVD to William Meyers 

(October 13, 1924) (Van Devanter papers). It is difficult  

to imagine that this repressed individual— “as conser­

vative as a Dutch canal, and as calm,” The Jud ic ia ry : 

Suprem e C onvention , 10 TIME (No. 15) (October 10, 

1927), 8—had begun life in “ the turbulent days of the 

great Wyoming cattle ranges,” Justice V an D evanter, 

Th e Ne w Yo r k Time s (February 10, 1941), 16, and 

that he had as a young man joined hunting parties with 

the legendary Buffalo Bill Cody. Holsinger, W illis V an 

D evanter The E arly Years, 107 n.l; see Attorney General 

Francis Biddle. P roceed ings in M em ory of M r. Justice 

V an D evanter, 3\6 U.S., xxxm (1941).

73 Albert P. Blaustein &  Roy M. Mersky, R ating Suprem e 

C ourt Justices, 58 Am . Ba r  As s o c. J.l 113, 1 186 (1972). 

Two other “ failures” were also members of the Taft 

Court: James C. McReynolds and Pierce Butler. Twelve 

justices were rated “Great,” of which three were mem­

bers of the Taft Court: Holmes, Brandeis and Stone. 

Fifteen Justices were rated “Near Great," of which two 

were members of the Taft Court: Taft and Sutherland. 

On Van Devanter’s notorious writer’s block, see Pe a r­

s o n Sl  A l l e n , Nin e Ol d  Me n 187 (“Van Devanter’s 

third claim to fame is the fact that during the six 

years since 1930 he has handed down only twenty-two 

opinions....” ).
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74 Pe a r s o n & A l l e n , Nin e Ol d  Me n, 188. Van De- 

vanter “was not a judge of whom the public generally 

could gain any very sharply defined impression. He was 

quiet and unassuming and appeared seldom in public. 

He made very few speeches, even before gatherings 

of lawyers, and those were of the conversational and 

unpretentious sort. He left practically no writings ex­

cept his opinions. But his comprehensive learning, his 

industry, his passion for thoroughness and exactness, 

and his power of clear analysis and forceful exposition 

marked him, among all those who really knew the work 

of the Court, as one of its most conspicuously valuable 

members.”

75 Au t o b io g r a ph ica l n o t e s o f Ch a r l e s Ev a n s 

Hu g h e s, 171.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
76 A ddress of Justice H ughes at Law Institu te, Th e Ne w  

Yo r k  Time s (May 13, 1938), 8.

77 B randeis-F rankfu rter C onversa tions, 316 (July 1,

1923). William Douglas recalls that Van Devanter’s 

“highest credentials were, as Brandeis said, that he was 

an honest, able, forthright and dependable man who 

always kept his word. At the end of an argument he 

could summarize it, state the pros and cons and what 

the Court should decide. If  his words had been recorded, 

they would have made a perfect opinion. ... We were 

at opposite poles on many phases of constitutional law, 

but what drew me to him was our shared love of the 

outdoors. Van Devanter had been a hunter, fisherman and 

camper in his early years in Wyoming and I spent many 

hours listening to his tales. I found him a genuine human 

being.”  Wil l ia m  O. Do u g l a s, Th e Au t o b io g r a ph y o f  

Wil l ia m  O. Do u g l a s: Th e Co u r t  Ye a r s 1937-1975 11 

(Random House: New York, 1980).

78 in “Half Brother, Half Son” : The Letters of Louis 

D. Brandeis to Felix Frankfurter 597 (University of 

Oklahoma Press: Norman 1991 Melvin I. Urofsky and 

David W. Levy eds.).

79 WVD to John L. Lacey (June 23, 1934) (Van Devanter 

papers).

80 M. Paul Holsinger, M r. Justice V an D evanter and 

the N ew D ea l: A N ote, 31 Th e His t o r ia n 57, 58 n.3 

(November 1, 1968). See HFS to Children (February 13, 

1941) (Stone papers) (“ I have always felt [that Van De­

vanter] conceived it his duty to declare unconstitutional 

any law which he particularly disliked.” ).

81 P roceed ings in M em ory o f M r. Justice V an D evanter, 

x l -x l i .

82 Ib id .

83 Ib id .,fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA X L IL

84 WHT to Samuel H. Fisher (December 25, 1926) (Taft 

papers).

85 WHT to Mrs. Frederick J. Manning (June 1 1, 1923) 

(Taft papers). See WHT to Mrs. Frederick J. Manning 

(January 23, 1927) (Taft papers). Van Devanter “ is the 

mainstay of the Court and if  he wrote no opinions at all,

we could hardly get along without him.”  WHT to Robert 

A. Taft (January 16, 1927) (Taft papers).

86 WHT to Charles P. Taft 2nd (January 23, 1927) (Taft 

papers).

87 WHT to Horace D. Taft (January 17, 1927) (Taft 

papers). See WHT to Charles P. Taft 2nd (January 16, 

1927) (Taft papers) (Van Devanter is “ the most valuable 

man we have in the Court, and we can not afford to lose 

him.” ).

88 WHT to James R. Angell (December 2, 1926) (Taft 

papers). “Sutherland is an excellent man, a man of 

great experience and a man of force and strength of 

character,” Taft added, “but as compared with Van 

Devanter, I am sure the friends of both would accord the 

precedence which the official rank in the Court gives to 

Van Devanter.”

89 WHT to William Lyon Phelps (May 30, 1927) (Taft 

papers).

90 WHT to Charles P. Taft 2d (January 16, 1927) (Taft 

papers). Taft believed that “Van Devanter is a modest 

man and needs somebody to play his trumpet, and I am 

delighted to fill  that function.” WHT to Robert A. Taft 

(January 16, 1927) (Taft papers).

91 WVD to John C. Pollock (May 26, 1921) (Van 

Devanter papers).

92 WVD to John C Pollock (June 7, 1921) (Van Devanter 

papers).

93 WVD to John C. Pollock (June 10, 1921) (Van 

Devnter papers).

94 B randeis-F rankfu rter C onversa tions, 310 (November 

30, 1922).

95 B randeis-F rankfu rter C onversa tions, 322 (August 6, 

1923).

96 B randeis-F rankfu rter C onversa tions, 336 (June 15- 

16, 1926).

97 Au t o b io g r a ph ic a l n o t e s o f Ch a r l e s Ev a n s 

Hu g h e s, 171. John W. Davis commented in 1941 that “ I 

have heard the statement from Chief Justice White, who 

leaned on him heavily, that in the conference he was the 

most helpful member of the Court. More than one of 

his judicial brethren have expressed the same opinion.”  

P roceed ings in M em ory of M r. Justice V an D evanter, 

301 U.S. xxvi (1941).

98 Au t o b io g r a ph ic a l n o t e s o f Ch a r l e s Ev a n s 

Hu g h e s, 169.

99 B randeis-F rankfu rter C onversa tions, 322 (August 6,

1923) .

100 Ib id ., 328 (July 2, 1924).

101 See WVD to JHC (September 3, 1922) (Clarke 

papers).

102 B randeis-F rankfu rter C onversa tions, 330 (July 6,

1924) . Butler had been a long-time law partner with 

William D. Mitchell, In M em ory of M r Justice B utler, 

310 U.S. vn (1939), who had also been Van Devanter’s 

personal lawyer. Dollie Van Devanter to William D.
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Mitche ll (April 19, 1924) (Van Devanter papers); Dollie 

Van Devanter to Messrs. Doherty, Rumble, Bunn &  

Butler (June 17, 1925) (Van Devanter papers). Butler and 

Van Devanter together contrived (with Taft’s support) 

to secure Mitchell’s appointment as Solicitor General. 

WVD to William D. Mitchell (February 1, 1925) (Van 

Devanter papers); William D. Mitchell to WVD (Febru­

ary 18, 1925 (Van Devanter papers); WVD to William 

D. Mitchell (February 25, 1925) (Van Devanter papers); 

William D. Mitchell to WVD (June 6, 1925) (Van 

Devanter papers). Mitchell went on to become Attorney 

General under President Hoover.

103 GS to WHT (June 11, 1925) (Taft papers).

104 Chief Justice Stone, VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP roceed ings in M em ory of M r. 

Justice V an D evan ter, 301 U.S. x l iii  (1941). Merlo Pusey 

refers to “ the genial and versatile Van Devanter.” 2 

Me r l o J. Pu s e y, Ch a r l e s Ev a n s Hu g h e s 667 (MacMil­

lan: New York 1951).

105 See, e.g ., Paul A. Freund, Justice B randeis: A 

Law C lerk 's R em em brance, 68 Am . Je w . His t . (No . 1, 

September 1978), 12

106 GS, Memorandum for the Chief Justice (May 15, 

1928) (Sutherland papers) (referring to Q uaker C ity C ab 

C o. v P ennsylvan ia , 277 U.S. 389 (1928); N ob les of 

the M ystic Shrine v. M ichaux, 279 U.S. 737 (1929); 

H igh land R ussel C ar &  Snow P low C o., 279 U.S. 253 

(1929)).

107 Dean Acheson, R eco llections of Serv ice w ith the 

F edera l Suprem e C ourt, 18 A l a . La w . 355, 361 (1957). 

On Brandeis’ respect for Van Devanter, see Paul A. 

Freund, The Suprem e C ourt: A Ta le of Tw o Term s, 26 

Oh io St a t e La w J. 225, 226-27 (1965) (“Brandeis had 

very deep regard for Van Devanter” ).

108 Freund, Justice B randeis, 12.

109 WHT to Charles P. Taft (June 8, 1927) (Taft papers). 

See WHT to Charles P. Taft 2nd (June 8, 1927) ("Justice 

Van Devanter and I are the closest friends on the 

Bench” ); WHT to Robert A. Taft (June 8, 1927).

110 WHT to WVD (September 16, 1928) (Taft papers). 

See WHT to WVD (August 1, 1929) (Taft papers).

111 WHT to Charles P. Taft (June 8, 1927) (Taft papers).

112 WHT to William Lyon Phelps (May 30, 1927) (Taft 

papers).

113 See, e.g ., N IN O to WHT (February 10, 1922) (Taft 

papers) (suggesting that steps be taken to instruct the 

Clerk to enforce a new rule requiring the assessment 

of expenses for the printing of records); WHT to WVD 

(February 10, 1922) (Van Devanter papers) (“ I ’ ll direct 
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Stansbury (February 10, 1922) (Taft papers); William R. 

Stansbury to WHT (February 16, 1922) (Taft papers).

114 WHT to WVD (December 7, 1921) (Taft papers). 

The case was Truax v. C orr igan , 257 U.S. 312 (1921). 

See also, WHT to WVD (April 11, 1923) (Van Devanter

papers) (“ I hope you will consent to help me out by 

coming to a conference on Sunday afternoon next at 

three o’clock at my house. I shall not ask such a favor 

again this year. Can’t you take your golf on Saturday 

instead of Sunday? A critical meeting of the Yale 

Corporation comes on Saturday. The policy and the right 

policy of the University may be dependent on my vote. 

Bear with me.” ); WHT to WVD (December 26, 1924) 

(Van Devanter papers) (“Here is a long screed. I sent it 

to Butler and Sandford [sic] and McKenna. Run it over— 

It needs some more citations.” ); WHT to OWH (June 5, 
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Willis Van De vante r is be s t kno wn as o ne 

o f the Fo u r Ho rs e m e n who fo u nd im p o rtant 

co m p o ne nts o f Franklin D. Ro o s e ve lt’s New 

Deal programs unconstitutional, not for any 

opinions he wrote, like his most important 

one, in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM cG ra in v. D augherty (1927), a 

case arising out of the Teapot Dome scandal 

of the 1920s, in which the Court upheld 

a broad scope for congressional oversight 
inquiries.1 Indeed, to the extent that he is 

known for anything else, it is that he wrote an 

extraordinarily small number of opinions— 

346 majority opinions in his twenty-six years 

on the Supreme Court, a rate of just over 
thirteen per term, far fewer than that of any of 

his colleagues, such as Chief Justice William 

H. Taft’s “astonishing” 249 opinions, Louis 

D. Brandeis’ 193, and James C. McReynolds’ 
172.2 His low productivity is attributed to 

“pen paralysis” 3 or a “writing block,” 4 which, 
as I argue below, is a somewhat inaccurate 

characterization of the difficulty. Not surpris­

ingly, then, one of the few discussions of 

Van Devanter’s work on the Court comes in a 

chapter in a book, U nknow n Justices of the 

U nited States Suprem e C ourt,  which by its

own description “profilefs] some of the more 

obscure”  justices?

No one could plausibly contend that Van 

Devanter deserves a full biography or even 

an article length one.6 There are aspects of 

his life, though, that I believe are of some 

interest, and a few are sketched here. After 
a brief overview of Van Devanter’s pre-Court 

career and his appointment to the Court, 
Van Devanter’s role on the Supreme Court 

is examined, with an explanation offered for 

his low productivity that supplements, though 

it does not completely displace, the “writing 

block” narrative. Material on Van Devanter’s 

personal life then sheds further light on his 

role on the Court, including his decision to 

retire in 1937.

Van D evanter before the Suprem e C ourt

Willis Van Devanter was born in Indiana 
in April 1859; his mother, Violetta, lived 

there until her death in 1933 in her nineties.7 

After attending public school, Van Devanter 

went to Indiana Asbury University, founded 

in 1837 as a Methodist college (and renamed 
DePaul University in 1994), but he did not 

graduate because his father, Isaac, became
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ill and co u ld no lo nge r s u p p o rt him . Afte r 

his fathe r re co ve re d, Van De vante r we nt to 

the Cincinnati Law Scho o l, fro m which he 

gradu ate d in 1879. Two years later he married 

Delice “Dollie”  Burhans.

Van Devanter’s father had a law prac­

tice in Cincinnati with John W. Lacey, and 

young Willis joined the firm. Lacey, who 

had married his partner’s daughter Elizabeth, 
Van Devanter’s sister, whom Van Devanter 

addressed as “Lizzie” in his letters to her, 
Lacey left the firm in 1884 when Isaac retired, 

to accept appointment by President Chester 

Arthur as chief justice of the Wyoming 

Territorial Court.8 Van Devanter decided to 

go with Lacey and his sister to Wyoming.

Van Devanter joined a prominent Re­
publican lawyer Charles N. Potter for several 

years in a business-oriented practice that 

dealt with disputes over land title and had 
the Burlington Railroad as a client.9 Van De­

vanter also became active in the Republican 
Party, winning an election as city attorney 

in 1887 and a seat in the territorial legis­

lature the next year. A year later, President 

Benjamin Harrison appointed Van Devanter 

chief justice of the territorial court, but— 

like Lacey before him—Van Devanter served 

only briefly, returning to law practice in 

1890 in a renewed partnership with Lacey. 
This time the Union Pacific Railroad was 

a main client, in addition to “ the Wyoming 

Stockgrowers and most of the powerful and 
sizable stock ranches in the state.” 10

Van Devanter became the principal 

lawyer for the Department of the Interior 

after William McKinley’s election in 1896, 

and he specialized in land claims and Indian 

law. Seven years later, Theodore Roosevelt 

nominated him to a seat on the United States 

Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, then 

sitting in St. Paul, Minnesota, which covered 

a wide swath of the American West, including 

Colorado, the Dakotas, and Wyoming.11 Van 

Devanter and his wife moved to St. Paul, 
where they became part of the city’s circle 

of legal elite families. In December 1910,

William Howard Taft nominated him to the 

Supreme Court. He was confirmed within a 
week and took his seat in January 1911.

As this barebones account of his career 

indicates, Van Devanter was a politically 

active Republican throughout his time in 

Wyoming. He remained active in Wyoming 

Republican politics in Washington, includ­

ing “ for many years after he joined the 

Court.” 12 Soon after his arrival in Wyoming, 

he supported then territorial governor Francis 

Warren, who in turn became Van Devan­
ter’s principal political sponsor over the next 

decades. After his Civil War service and 

some time in Massachusetts, Warren fol­

lowed Horace Greeley’s advice to veterans, 

“Go West, young man, go West and grow 

up with the country.” 13 Moving to Wyoming, 

he became a successful businessman and 

Republican activist. President Chester Arthur 

appointed him territorial governor in 1885; 
after Warren was replaced by Democratic 

President Grover Cleveland, he returned to 
the office following President Benjamin Har­

rison’s election. When Wyoming became a 

state, Warren was elected its first governor, 

though he served for only six weeks be­

fore resigning to become U.S. Senator. He 

served as Senator for two years before he 

was replaced by a newly elected Democratic 

legislature. Then in 1895 he was returned to 

the Senate, where he served until 1929.
Warren’s return to the Senate resulted 

from a Republican victory in Wyoming’s 

1894 elections, which Van Devanter had 

engineered as the state Republican Party 
chair.14 Warren reciprocated by pressing 

Mark Hanna, William McKinley’s campaign 

manager and prime adviser, and followed 

up with Attorney General Joseph McKenna, 

to have McKinley appoint Van Devanter 

Solicitor General. Those efforts failed,15 but 

Van Devanter got a consolation prize in his 

appointment to the Department of Justice. 

And, for the first time, Warren raised the 
possibility that Van Devanter would someday 

end up on the Supreme Court. Acknowl-
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Van D evanter becam e confidant, counsel, and politica l 

m anager to Francis E. W arren (above), a W yom ing  

businessm an w ho  w ent on  to  serve  as  governor and  U .S . 

Senator. W arren used his in fluence to  get Van D evanter 

appointed to the Eight C ircu it and then to the Suprem e 

C ourt.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

e dging his o wn am bitio n, Van De vante r was 

s ke p tical, bu t the go al re m aine d o n Warre n’s 

agenda. In 1902 Warren simultaneously felt 

out a siting judge on the Eighth Circuit to 

see if  the judge would soon resign (he did 

not) and introduced legislation to add a new 

seat to that Circuit Court. The statute was 

enacted in early 1903 and signed by President 

Theodore Roosevelt with Warren and Van 

Devanter at hand. Roosevelt announced at 

the signing that he would nominate Van 
Devanter, which he did four days later.

Van Devanter never lost sight of his 

ultimate goal, the Supreme Court, writing 

Warren within a year of his appointment 

to the circuit court that he hoped to get the 

seat assigned to the Eighth Circuit and then 

occupied by David J. Brewer, when Brewer 

retired (within a few years, Van Devanter 

hoped). Warren continued to look out for 

Van Devanter, unsuccessfully urging that 
Roosevelt appoint Van Devanter to a vacancy

that arose in 1906, then again (and again 
unsuccessfully) urging President William 

Howard Taft to appoint Van Devanter to the 

Cabinet. Van Devanter thought his chance 

had come when Justice Brewer died in March 

1910. Warren kept pushing Van Devanter’s 

name forward but failed, apparently because 

Taft worried that he would be recused from 
too many important cases that might be 

appealed from the Eighth Circuit to the 

Supreme Court. (Charles Evans Hughes 
received the nomination.)

Soon enough, two other vacancies arose: 
Chief Justice Melville W. Fuller died (to be 

replaced by Edward Douglass White), and 

Justice William H. Moody resigned. Again 

Warren pushed Van Devanter’s name forward, 

this time in the face of rumors that Van 

Devanter had not carried his fair share of his 
court’s work—rumors supported by statistics 

about the number of circuit court opinions 

Van Devanter had written. Taft looked into 

the matter. Van Devanter sent Warren a 
telegram requesting that his name be taken 

out of consideration, a telegram that Taft 

found “very dignified.” 16 And, according to 

Warren, Taft concluded that Van Devan­

ter’s opinion rate was low because “he had 

been sick and his wife ill ” and hoped that 

Van Devanter’s “dilatory habit ... [will]  be 

corrected.” 17 (Apart from his own share of 

ailments, Dollie was quite fragile medically.) 

Warren contributed to Taft’s decision-making 

by “ lin[ing] up as many G.O.P. leaders as 

possible”  to support Van Devanter’s appoint­

ment. This maneuver signaled to Taft, facing 
internal party difficulties in connection with 

his potential renomination in 1912, that War­

ren and his allies would come to Taft’s side if  
he nominated Van Devanter.18

Van Devanter (and Warren) actively ex­

ploited their political connections in advanc­

ing his career. It seems clear, though, that 

both Warren and Van Devanter had overly 

optimistic evaluations of Warren’s influence, 

even though in the end Warren’s efforts paid 

off. As we will  see, Van Devanter continued
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to re ly o n tho s e co nne ctio ns—and to some 
extent to be overly optimistic about them— 

even after he was appointed to the Court.

Van D evanter’s W ork on the Suprem e 
C ourt

While Van Devanter wrote relatively 

few opinions for the Court, he played an 

important role within it. He was a forceful 

voice within the Court’s deliberations, espe­

cially at the Conference sessions devoted to 
discussing cases. And Chief Justice Taft used 

him as something like a chief administrative 

aide, drawing upon Van Devanter’s political 

connections during Taft’s campaign in the 

1920s to have Congress enact major statutory 

revisions in the Court’s jurisdiction, a cam­

paign that culminated in the Judiciary Act of 

1925.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A . W riting O pin ions

As the story of Van Devanter’s appoint­

ment to the Supreme Court shows, his low 
productivity on the circuit court almost de­

railed his nomination. And, as we have seen, 

his low productivity defined his entire career 

as a judge. Van Devanter was “very sensitive”  

about his low productivity, a sensitivity that 

manifested itself when both Taft and Hughes 

had to exercise great tact in reassigning 

opinions away from Van Devanter because 

too much time had passed without his having 

circulated a draft.19 Was the source of the 

problem writer’s block or pen paralysis or 

something else?
There can be no definitive answer, but 

we can find hints in several places. Most 

important, perhaps, is that Van Devanter was 
an inveterate letter writer. He wrote almost 

daily to one or another family member, 

his sister Lizzie and his mother the ones 

receiving the most letters. He pursued an 
active correspondence over many years as 

he tried to track down his family genealogy 

from the Netherlands to the United States, 

and he kept up a sporadic correspondence

with distant cousins discovered in the course 
of that effort. He regularly wrote letters to 

his political acquaintances about pending ju­

dicial appointments and potential vacancies. 

Though his letter writing may have been one 

way in which he displaced latent anxiety 

about writing judicial opinions, it shows that 

Van Devanter had no difficulty with writing 

as such.

Nor did his difficulty lie in doing legal 

analysis step by step. His colleagues regularly 

praised his analytic ability. His presentations 

at the Court’s Conferences were said to have 
been clear and astute.20 His problem was 

that he often found it difficult to get “at the 

bottom” of a legal problem.21 Indicating his 

own criteria for what an opinion should do, 

he criticized one of Justice Oliver Wendell 

Holmes’ opinions for failing to “give an 

adequate portrayal of the case in hand or of 

the grounds of the decision,” nor to “get at 

the salient features in a case to give them 
the weight and consideration to which they 

are entitled.” 22 During the brief controversy 
before his nomination over his productivity as 

a judge on the court of appeals, Van Devanter 

“affirm[ed]”  to a friend “ that I have not been 

averse to bestowing a large amount of labor 

upon a single case when there has been oc­

casion therefor....” 23 He described his work 

on M cG ra in v. D augherty as involving an 

effort to “ reachfj back into antiquity and 

gathering together everything bearing on the 

subject,” including “ legislative journals of 

several of the American colonies—journals 
which are now kept under lock and key in the 

Congressional Library....” 24
We can infer that Van Devanter’s diffi ­

culty lay in coming to closure, not on a result, 
but on the legal analysis to reach the result. 

For Van Devanter, each step in the arguments 

he was developing revealed another problem 

to be analyzed—not a diversion, but some­

thing like a lemma that had to be established 
to support the proposition he was using. And 

each lemma generated its own lemma. As 

Chief Justice Taft put it, Van Devanter “never
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Van D evanter (p ictured in 1924, had difficu lty fin ish ing  w riting legal opin ions, not because he could not reach a 
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ge ts do ne lo o king o ve r the vario u s fe atu re s he 

wo u ld like to co ns ide r.” 25

Van Devanter’s difficulty in writing 

opinions appears to reflect a defensible 

jurisprudence—the jurisprudence of law as 

a seamless web. And it seems that for Van 

Devanter, judicial opinions should be trans­
parent, that is, should openly display every 

step of legal reasoning that the author finds 

necessary to get to the bottom of the problem. 

Yet, if  law is a seamless web, transparency 

to that degree is impossible: Every opinion 

would have to display the entire corpus juris. 

Other judges, including Holmes, adhered to 

the same jurisprudence but had a different 
view of what judicial opinions should, or 

perhaps could, do. Their opinions lay out the 

main propositions and do something, perhaps 

through the cases they cite and the ones they 
do not cite, to point in the direction of the 

further work that would have to be done to 
fully  support the conclusion.

Justice Thurgood Marshall’s dissenting 

opinion in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU nited Sta tes v. K ras provides 

one example, Justice William O. Douglas’ 

opinion-writing practices late in his career 
another. The Court in K ras upheld the con­

stitutionality of a federal statute requiring 

persons seeking bankruptcy to pay a $50 

filing fee. Marshall’s dissent argued that the 

filing fee violated Kras’s constitutional right 

of access to the courts. In developing that ar­

gument, Marshall wrote, “There is no way of 

determining [Kras’s claim that he had a right 

under the bankruptcy statutes to discharge of 

his debts] except by adjudicating his claim.”  

At that point, Marshall dropped a footnote: 
“ It might be said that the right he claims does 

not come into play until he has fulfilled a 

condition precedent by paying the filing  fees. 

But the distinction between procedure and 

substance is not unknown in the law, and can 

be drawn on to counter that argument.” 26 Van 

Devanter’s understanding of what opinions



W ILLIS VA N D EVA N TER 313zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

had to do wo u ld have le d him to lay o u t the 

way in which the as s e rte d dis tinctio n actu ally 

co u ld co u nte r the argu m e nt abo u t the fe e as a 

co nditio n p re ce de nt.

Ju s tice Do u glas’ approach was even 

more condensed. His opinions would state 

a legal proposition, then provide citations to 

one or two cases. Readers were supposed to 

infer that those cases supported the propo­

sition even though they did not state the 

legal rule that Douglas implicitly asserted 

was founded in the precedent cited. In an 

interview with Melvin Urofsky, Yale Law 
Professor Jan Deutsch described Douglas’ 

approach: Deutsch “would meet with Dou­

glas’s clerk, Jerome Falk, and would say 

‘Jerry, it doesn’t work. It does not work!’ 

Then Falk would show him that it did work, 

because Douglas did not take just the bare 

holdings, but all the glosses that went with 

the earlier opinions, and from those wove 

his own conclusions.” 27 Again, Van Devanter 

would have thought it necessary to spell out 

what all those glosses were and to show the 

steps taken in weaving them together.
On the view set out here, Van Devanter’s 

difficulty in writing opinions flowed from a 

combination of a sensible, indeed probably 

correct, jurisprudence, with a failure to ap­

preciate the fact that the demands of getting 
the work done made it impossible to reflect 

that jurisprudence fully  in an opinion.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

B . Inside the C ourt

When President Taft was considering 

Van Devanter’s nomination to the Supreme 
Court and the concerns about the jurist’s 

productivity surfaced, Van Devanter noted 

that “ the mere number [of  opinions] ... is not 
an indication of the amount of work done,” 28 

which included pre-writing deliberations and 

administration of the court’s docket. Van 

Devanter continued to have these additional 

workload components while on the Supreme 

Court.

Chief Justice Taft described Van 

Devanter as “most learned in questions 
of jurisdiction” and “more familiar with 

our rules than anyone on the bench,” 29 but 

Van Devanter’s real strength was behind 

the scenes. According to Justice Brandeis, 

Van Devanter was particularly effective in 

“ lobbying with the members individually, 

to have them suppress their dissents.” 30 

Both Chief Justice Hughes and Chief Justice 

Stone were effusive about Van Devanter’s 

performance at the Court’s Conference. Ac­

cording to Hughes, Van Devanter’s “careful 

and elaborate statements in conference, 
with his accurate review of authorities, were 

of the greatest value. If these statements 

had been taken down stenographically they 

would have served with but little editing as 
excellent opinions.” 31 Stone’s observations 

were to the same effect:32

At the conference table he was a 
tower of strength. When his turn 

came to present his views of the 
case in hand, no point was over­
looked, no promising possibility left 

unexplored. His statements were 

characteristically lucid and com­

plete, the manifest expression of a 

judgment exercised with unswerv­

ing independence. Often his expo­

sitions would have served worthily, 

both in point of form and sub­

stance, as the Court’s opinion in the 

case.

Perhaps we might discount these com­

ments as ceremonial praise for a departed 

colleague, but Van Devanter’s correspon­
dence offers some confirmation. On January 

8, 1934, the Court announced its decision in 
H om e B uild ing &  Loan A ssn v. B la isdell, up­

holding the constitutionality of Minnesota’s 

mortgage moratorium law, with an opinion by 

Chief Justice Hughes and a dissent by Justice 

Sutherland.33 Two weeks later, Van Devanter 

wrote an unusually candid and detailed letter 

to his sister:
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Wo rk o n that cas e p re p arato ry to 

its co ns ide ratio n in co nfe re nce did 

m e s o m e re al p hy s ical harm .... My 

im p re s s io n is that I ne ve r did be tte r 

than o n the o ccas io n whe n this cas e 

was co ns ide re d.... I e nde avo re d to 

be bo th tho ro u gh and p lain in m y 

s tate m e nt. The o ccas io n was o ne 

o f tre m e ndo u s inte ns ity . I s p o ke fo r 
e as ily an ho u r and was no t inte r­

rupted. When the conference was 

over, my brother McReynolds, who 

makes it a practice never to compli­

ment anyone, came to me and said: 

“Your statement and presentation of 

the Minnesota case was the best and 

most thorough of any I have ever 

heard in conference.” 34

As senior associate justice in dissent, 

Van Devanter assigned the dissent to Justice 
George Sutherland. “He wrote it in his best 

style and did it as nearly perfectly as possible. 

From beginning to end, citations, reasoning 

and all, the dissent follows my presentation 

in conference.” Sutherland told him that the 

dissent attempted “ to reproduce what I had 

said.” Though “extremely disappointed at 

the outcome of the case,” Van Devanter’s 

pride about his contribution to the dissent is 

evident.35

Political scientist David Danelski de­

scribed Van Devanter as the “ task leader”  

on the Court in which Taft was the “social 

leader.” As task leader, he had charge of 

ensuring that the Court’s work got done, in 
contrast to Taft’s role in “ relieving tension 

and showing solidarity and agreement.” 36 In 

Danelski’s words, Taft “was the best-liked 

member of his Court, and he wanted to be 
liked,” 37 while the “dignified and reserved”  

Van Devanter helped keep the conference on 

track with his summaries of the cases and the 

relevant precedents.38 (Van Devanter appears 

to have played a similar role, though perhaps 
a bit less so, for several years of his service 

with Chief Justice Edward Douglass White.)

According to Felix Frankfurter, Taft 

called Van Devanter “my chancellor,” the 

official charged with administering the courts 

and their work.39 This was especially impor­

tant when Taft turned outside the Court in 

an ultimately successful effort to persuade 

Congress to revise the statutes governing 
the Court’s jurisdiction. Van Devanter was 

the principal drafter of what became the 

Judiciary Act of 1925, which sharply reduced 
the Court’s mandatory docket and gave it 

wide discretion to decline to hear cases that 
litigants sought to have it decide.40 Van 

Devanter’s personal connections to important 

Republican Senators, especially Senator War­

ren, made him a good envoy to Congress, 

as did his expertise on questions relating to 

the Court’s jurisdiction and workload. The 

statute’s enactment allowed the Taft Court 

to eliminate a large backlog of cases and to 
become essentially current in disposing of 
cases expeditiously after the Court received 

applications for review.

Van Devanter’s role inside the Court led 

him to think that he was a plausible candi­

date for promotion to the chief justiceship 

when White retired. In 1921, he wrote his 

friend federal judge John C. Pollock that 

“Justices McKenna, Day, McReynolds and 

Clarke have said to me that they would be 

glad to see me appointed”  to the center chair. 

He reported that Minnesota Senator Frank 

Kellogg “ intends to recommend me,” and 

that “Ex-Senator [Joseph W.] Bailey seems 

to think that I will  be the man,” though he 
cautioned Pollock, “Pleasant commendation 

by intimate friends ... is not to be taken for 

anything beyond what it really is, so I am not 

counting on anything....” 41

The promotion Van Devanter either 

hoped for or fantasized about went to Taft, 

of course, largely because Van Devanter 

overestimated the power of his friends in the 

Senate. Even by 1921, Van Devanter’s circle 

of influential political friends had contracted 
as they left the Senate because of age or 
political defeat. Still, at most he was overopti-
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President Taft appointed Van D evanter to the C ourt in 1911, and in return he la ter helped Taft, as chief justice, 

successfu lly lobby for the Judges B ill of 1925. Van D evanter’s connections to R epublican Senators m ade him  an  

effective em issary to C ongress.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

m is tic abo u t his p ro s p e cts fo r p ro m o tio n, no t 

de lu s io nal.

Fam ily Life

Scho lars o f co ns titu tio nal law fo cu s s o 

inte ns e ly o n the Co u rt’s decisions that they 
often lose sight of the fact that, like the rest 

of us, justices have families to support both 

financially and emotionally, and have human 

characteristics like those attributed to Van 
Devanter of being “genial and versatile” and 

“stolid and colorless,” although these may 

have been drawn from his public career.42 

As we have seen, Van Devanter may have 

displaced into attention to his family some of 

his anxieties about getting to the bottom of 

cases through thorough research. His copious 
letters to family members show him to have 

been an attentive son, husband, and father. 
They also show his deep concern about the 

financial resources available to him both

for what he regarded as important to him 

and to help support his elderly mother. His 

friend William Mitchell’s description of Van 

Devanter as “dignified and reserved, even 

in his family life” might perhaps have cap­

tured some parts of Van Devanter’s outward 

affect.43 His letters do reveal him to be 

somewhat like a paterfamilias, counseling his 
relatives about their personal lives. But his 

attention to his wife Dollie’s medical frailty 

shows deeper emotional commitments. The 

following section deals primarily with finan­

cial matters but sometimes deals with his role 

as paterfamilias.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A . F inances

Van Devanter worried about his finances 

a great deal. In 1914, he wrote to a company 
from which he bought various household 

supplies objecting to a 20 cent charge for
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a s cru b bru s h (about $5 in today’s dollars) 

and 10 cents for a baking sheet.44 When he 

moved to Washington to take his seat on the 

Court, he left his children behind because 

“ [t]o have taken so many to a suitable hotel 

would have been to incur an expense which 

have been too large for me just now.... 

Living here is going to entail an enormous 

expense upon us, and we will  have to exercise 

much care to keep within my salary.” 45 Van 

Devanter did reunite his family by renting the 

home owned by the widow of his predecessor 
David Brewer, but he may not have been easy 

tenant over the course of his nearly twenty 

years there. He once complained about the 

conditions in some rooms and later haggled 

over a proposed rent increase.46 He resigned 

from the Cheyenne Industrial Club because 

he had “ to curb [his] expenses as much as 

possible.” 47 In 1913, he described himself 

as “extremely poor,” because, “ through the 

misfortunes of others who have a close claim 

upon me, I found it necessary during the 

last year to make advances which probably 

will  never come back,” as a result of which 
he had “practically stripped myself of 

available income.” 48 In one such situation, 
in response to a solicitation to contribute to 

his old fraternity house, he sent $100, about 

$2,600 today.

As a family, the Van Devanters had 

substantial assets, but the justice treated Dol- 
lie’s assets as hers rather than his.49 About 

the stock market crash, he wrote a friend, 

“Happily it has not affected us much. Mrs. 

Van Devanter’s investments were generally in 

a class which would not be affected much, 
and even then only temporarily.” 50 However, 

Dollie’s finances were not entirely unaffected 

by wider developments in the economy. Dur­

ing the 1920s, Dollie invested $70,000 (about 
$1 million in current dollars)—“nearly one- 

half of all that I have”—in mortgage-backed 

securities, in a scheme run by Grant Van Sant, 

the scion of a prominent Minnesota family.51 

Van Devanter quickly came to believe that 

the family’s confidence in Van Sant had

been “misplaced,” 52 though the investment’s 

failure—“severe losses,” in Van Devanter’s 

words—may have been due at least as much 

to the farm crisis of the 1920s as to Van Sant’s 
mismanagement or worse.53

Despite all these concerns, Van Devanter 

sent a monthly check to his mother, at first 

$25 a month (about $650 today), then $40 
(still about $650 today because of inflation 

in the 1920s). No admirer of Roosevelt, Van 

Devanter nonetheless praised FDR’s “ coura­
geous” decision to close the nation’s banks 

even though it caused him some difficulties in 
dealing with his recently deceased mother’s 

affairs.54

Even more, in 1913 Van Devanter man­

aged to buy a small island in Georgian 

Bay, off Lake Huron and almost due north 

of Toronto.55 For Van Devanter, for whom 

“ [fjishing and out-of-door life of all kinds 

has a particular attraction for me,” the is­

land was “a place of diversion, comfort and 

recuperation.” 56 “There are but few people in 

that particular section, and the fishing is very 

good,”  he wrote.57 He devoted a great deal of 
attention—and more than a little money—to 

organizing and maintaining the house on the 
island, which at one point included having to 

deal with a break-in at the cottage, which led 

to much follow-up correspondence, including 

a letter to the Minister of Justice opposing 

early release for two of the burglars.58

One of the handymen who took care of 

the house out of season gave Van Devanter 

the chance to act as a sage adviser, a role 

he played within his family. This is how 

Van Devanter described the situation: “You 
are a white man and claim to have some 

real pride and self-respect. You are turning 

down a white woman, who has been your 

wife for about fifteen years and has borne 

nine children for you. You are taking up in 

her place a negro woman, who is leaving a 

negro husband a child to go with you. This is 

all wrong.”  The rest of Van Devanter’s letter 

turned away from the racial dimension and 

toward more general themes of family and,



W ILLIS VA N D EVA N TER 317

Van D evanter's w ife , D oilie , died in 1932, having long suffered m edical problem s. H e invited his youngest s ister 

Louise (M rs. Sanford L. R ariden above) to accom pany him  to W hite H ouse functions after D ollie ’s death .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

in p articu lar, o f the handy m an’s relation with 

Van Devanter:

When a man works for me as you 

do, when I trust him as much as 

I do you, and when I pay him as 

much in a year as I have been paying 
you, it makes a very great deal of 

difference to me whether he is a 

self-respecting man, or has lost his 

self-respect.... A man who becomes 

careless in these other ways is likely 
to be negligent and careless in all.59

A year and a half later, Van Devanter re­

ferred to the handyman’s “ inclination towards 

immoral women,” and then praised his work 
as a caretaker and handyman.60

The casual racism of that advice was 

displayed again when Van Devanter referred 
to “ the Jap who was with me the first 

summer” as a housekeeper and cook.61 For

present purposes, though, what may be more 

informative is the fact that Van Devanter VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAhad 

servants at the cottage. In 1927, he explained 

to his sister Mary that “his finances are not 

such as to enable me to do all that I would 

like to do”  in providing financial assistance to 

Mary and his mother. It was “ indispensable 

for my health and continued work that I go 

[to Georgian Bay] where I can build up for 
the next year’s work.”  All  well and good, but 

before all that, Van Devanter wrote, “Out of 

a spirit of economy I am taking two servants 

instead of three”  to Georgian Bay, seemingly 

unaware of the tension between his plea of 

poverty and his employment of merely two 

servants.62

And then there were two trips to Europe 

with Doilie and her medical attendants to 
the spa at Weisbaden, “ to obtain treatment 

for a period of some duration at one of the 
water cures over there,”  although Doilie, who
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hire d a “co u rie r m aid” in Eu ro p e , ap p are ntly 
p aid fo r a tr ip o u t o f he r o wn fu nds .63 Van 

Devanter accompanied Dollie on the second 
trip in 1932. She suffered a heart attack 

while in Germany and died at their hotel in 
Wiesbaden.

Van Devanter’s concern about his fi ­

nancial condition seems exaggerated though 

not entirely misplaced, particularly because 

some of the demands on his finances—family 

duties and medical care—could not be reli­
ably predicted. The “ island property ... cost 

... quite a little and represents the greater part 
of my savings,”  he wrote his sister Elizabeth. 

His family obligations certainly weighed on 

him, as seen in his remark, “ If  I could rea­

sonably do so, 1 would increase the monthly 
allowance which I make”  for his mother, “but 

my situation is such that I ought not to do so 

unless it is imperative.” 64 And, on top of all 

this were the costs of medical care both for 

himself and, more important, for Dollie.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

B . D ollie ’s H ea lth (and V an D evanter’s)

Van Devanter had to worry about Dol- 

lie’s health—and his own—all the time. A 

simple chronology of their medical travails 

conveys how central ill  health was to Van De­

vanter’s life. Occasionally it seems as if  Van 
Devanter might have been hyperalert to medi­

cal problems that others might have sloughed 

off, but even if  that is so, his attention to med­

ical issues is itself significant for understand­

ing how he perceived his life. In a revealing 

phrase, he once wrote to his son Winslow, 

“Your mother is fairly well for her.” 65 In 

some modest ways, how Van Devanter dealt 

with medical problems resembles how he 
understood his finances: seemingly beset by 
problems but getting along reasonably well, 

until Dollie had a serious stroke in 1928.

I begin with Van Devanter himself, using 

dates of letters in which he referred to the 

illnesses, which likely began earlier, then turn 

to the much more serious problems Dollie 

faced.

W illis: August 1910—kidney “gravel”  

problems.66

June 1920—“awful”  back trouble.67 His 
doctors, believing that the trouble “was 

largely or entirely due to permitting my 

suppurating upper teeth to remain my mouth 

too long. They think the poison got into 

my system and took hold of the lumbar 

sciatic nerves.” 68 As a result, several of Van 

Devanter’s teeth were removed.

April 1931—“Acute arthritis in my right 

shoulder was for a time very painful. They 

have now removed all of my remaining teeth 

and think they have eliminated the source of 
the trouble.” A month later, Van Devanter 

observed that the removal “made an old man 
of me.” 69

October 1931—“ptomaine poisoning”  

for three days.70

January 1932—a tonsillectomy “which 

is supposed to make my arthritic shoulder 

better.” 71

D ollie :  June 1910—“a surgical operation 

of some moment,”  after which “extra precau­

tions were taken to reinforce the fastening 

together and to prevent the recurrence of the 
trouble,” 72 delicate phrasing suggesting that 

the ailment was gynecological.

April 1911—an unspecified illness 

that required her confinement to 
bed.73

December 1911—exhaustion.74

July 1912—“pronounced stomach 

and bowel trouble.” 75

May 1917—hospitalized for what
“we were inclined to think [was] ... 

something in the nature of a cancer, 

but that does not prove to be the 
case, although we do not know quite 

what the trouble is.” 76

Early 1919—anxiety: “When Dollie 

is driving her car and suddenly sees 
an approaching fire engine or any­

thing of that sort, she involuntarily 

stops in the middle of the street ...
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o r whe re ve r s he is , and it is p rac­

tically impossible for her to move 
on....” 77

February 1920—influenza (along 

with Willis), after which “she will  

need a period of rest to put her on 
her feet properly.” 78

Winter 1921-22—“a trying winter”  

that “has made more than the usual 
draft on her nervous energies.” 79

March 1923—an unspecified gas­

troenterological problem, so identi­
fied in a later letter.80

December 1926—“a small but ir­

ritating growth in a delicate place 

which was removed by radium treat­

ment at Baltimore.” 81

And then on October 27, 1928, a severe 

stroke that paralyzed her left side and from 
which she never fully recovered.82 A letter 

from Brandeis has been read to assert that 

his colleague, rather than Dollie, had had a 

stroke, leading some to attribute the Justice’s 

writing problems to it. Van Devanter reported 

to his family and friends the very gradual im­

provements Dollie experienced over the next 

several months: early in November she could 

feel things on her arm, a few weeks later, she 

could move her knee but not her arm or foot, 

a month after the stroke she had acute pain 

in her limbs.83 By January, helped by “ two 

nurses and three servants,” Dollie was able 
to do the “prescribed exercise” of walking 

around the room “with little assistance,”  and 

then down a flight of stairs and outside to 
get to the car for a ride.84 Three months 

after the stroke, Van Devanter reported a ma­

jor achievement: Dollie “ lifted her affected 

hand to her face and with it removed her 

spectacles.” 85 During this time, Van Devanter 

understandably had even more difficulty  than 

usual in doing “any constructive writing,”  

although he reassured his former colleague 

John H. Clarke that he had been able to

“keep up my share of the routine work of the 

Court.” 86

Then Dollie’s improvement seemed to 

stall. By June, Van Devanter reported, “ It 

has been such a long siege that she is more 

easily discouraged than otherwise she should 

be.” 87 Van Devanter’s reports on Dollie’s 

medical condition dropped off dramatically, 

probably because she and he had become 

accustomed to the permanent changes in her 
physical ability. Still, two years after the 

stroke, Van Devanter reported that she was 

constantly in pain, sometimes to a degree 
that “prostrates” her.88 Her condition varied 

dramatically: “getting along very well now”  

in March 1930, “most uncomfortable” and 

“suffering much pain and ... accordingly 

unable to get sufficient sleep and rest” a few 

months later.89

Dollie’s first trip to Wiesbaden provided 

temporary relief at best but had been en­

joyable enough that she and Willis decided 

to return in 1932, but as noted earlier, she 
passed away during this second trip, at age 

seventy-two.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C . P aterfam ilias

Even Van Devanter’s letters about his 

financial condition sometimes reveal how 

often he took on the role of paterfamilias, 

offering advice about all sorts of life choices. 

His sons Isaac and especially Winslow, his 

brother Spencer, and his mother were partic­
ular subjects of concern, but Van Devanter 

dispensed his advice quite freely to many of 
his correspondents. Three of Van Devanter’s 

siblings had died early in their lives (Nora, 

at eight weeks of age in 1866, Isaac, at age 

seventeen in 1881, and Florence at age three 

in 1878). But Van Devanter corresponded ex­

tensively with his sisters Elizabeth, Mary, and 

(less extensively) Louise, although he had 

only intermittent contact with Spencer, who 

nonetheless figured in his correspondence.

Van Devanter’s advice moved from the 

small to the large. He chastised Isaac for
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m is s p e lling a word: “Perhaps it was a mere 

oversight, but it is well to have it properly 
in mind.” 90 He advised him about clothing 

and food: “ It will  also be well for you to 
drink plenty of good water, not too cold, 

and to drink only some kind of good bottled 

water, such as White Rock or Appolinaris.” 91 
In 1919, Isaac, at the age of thirty-four, 

moved in with his parents, and undoubtedly 

Van Devanter continued to provide him with 

paternal advice in person even though Isaac, 

who worked in various government bureaus, 

“was so busy that he does not spend much 

time at home.” 92 More letters to the younger 

son Winslow are found in Van Devanter’s 

records, probably because Isaac was already 
pretty much making his way in the world 

when Van Devanter started preserving copies 

of the letters he wrote. Van Devanter told 
Winslow he was worried about his grades, ad­

vised Isaac against smoking when he visited 

Winslow, and offered Winslow advice on how 

to keep healthy:

Try and keep in good physical trim.

Get good fruit whenever you need 

it. And clean out your bowels when­

ever they get clogged or sluggish. 

Your shirt bands and your collars 
should not be too tight. When they 

are they help produce throat troubles 

because they interfere with the cir­
culation. A good circulation is what 

helps to keep the several parts of the 
body in healthful condition. It is a 

good practice to massage your neck 

every evening when you go to bed 

and every morning when you get 

up.... It is also a splendid practice to 

devote a few minutes several times 

a day to breathing in such way as 

to fill  and extend every part of the 
lungs, the upper as well as the lower. 

Indian club exercises help in this 

way.

Even when Winslow was in his twenties 

and had had a successful stint in the Army,

his father was still correcting his writing.94 

Sometimes the Justice sounded like Polonius, 

offering bland home truths: “ It is not a good 

thing to borrow trouble, but is a good thing 

always to make yourself useful and agreeable 
without becoming unduly familiar.” 95 Or, 

“Keep at your work with just as good cheer 

and persistency as you can command. The 

persistency is indispensable and the good 

cheer will go a very long ways towards 

making the persistency effective as well as 

making you happy.” 96 Or, in what might seem 

a near-quotation from VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH am let, “Do not make 

a choice in haste, and, on the other hand, do 
not defer it too long.” 97 Winslow got married 

in 1925 and took a job as a bank manager in 

Washington,98 and his father’s letters of ad­

vice ended, though as with Isaac he probably 

continued to give advice to his son in person.

Willis  and his siblings became estranged 
from their brother Spencer, an alcoholic and 

spendthrift99 who, young Willis thought, 

preyed upon their mother’s sympathies. He 

manifested this concern early and late. In 

1914 he wrote to his aunt Elizbeth Winchell,

It surprises me beyond measure that 

mother should have gone to him 

... after all that she has passed 

through and the very severe treat­

ment which she has received at his 

hands. In doing so she has taken 
large chances, because when he 

dissipates he seems to be wholly 

irresponsible. ... Of course, I under­

stand her motive. It is a noble moth­

erly instinct, but is not well directed.

... The great difficulty  is that she has 

pampered him, his wife has done so, 

and both have given him everything 

they had.... Of course, I have talked 

the matter over with her until the 

subject is threadbare, but all with no 

real effect.100

He sounded the same themes fifteen 

years later. Writing to his sister Louise after 

he had sent Spencer’s wife some clothes
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Van D evanter stepped dow n in 1937 w hen C ongress passed a bill giving  Suprem e C ourt justices  their fu ll salaries  
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whe n he r hu s band was in a car accide nt, Van 

De vante r gave his m o s t e xte ns ive de s crip tio n 

o f Sp e nce r, a de s crip tio n s ho wing at le as t 

e xas p e ratio n, p e rhap s more:

Spencer always has had a false pride 

which has served him badly.... He 

always wished to be considered a 
millionaire notwithstanding he was 

merely making a living. It is doubt­

ful that we can do anything which 

will really help him.... I do not 
know what business or employment 

he is engaged in. His wife’s letters 

indicate that he is an oil promoter....

It is the kind of business for which 

he is not qualified. With him it is just

a gamble—a mere hope that he will  

be some good luck get a good deal 

for a little.... No one can have very 

much influence over them in writing 
from a long distance.101

Van Devanter resented Spencer’s 

importunings because he had to husband 

his limited resources “ for my own situation 

and for those who are properly dependent 
upon me and who have some appreciation 

of what is done for them.” 102 His sharpest 

comment was critical of Spencer’s attempts 
to get money from their mother, who, Van 

Devanter observed, “ feels some kind of 

responsibility for Spencer’s misfortune and
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this adde d to he r natu ral affe ctio n fo r a 
child m ake s he r e xce e dingly anxio u s to do 

any thing s he can fo r him .” 103 In the end, Van 

Devanter wrote directly to Spencer, telling 

him that he could not get any additional 

money from their mother and setting strict 

guidelines for their contact.104

Willis ’s mother Violetta was his most 

constant source of concern after Dollie, 
particularly as Violetta grew older and more 

frail. She remained in Marion, Indiana, 

and her daughter Mary took care of her, 
with Van Devanter sympathizing with the 

burdens that placed upon Mary.105 (Once, 

with his own financial situation on his 

mind, he seemed to think that Mary should 

have made larger financial contributions.) 
Van Devanter described his mother, at age 

88, as “a remarkable woman, [who] has 
withstood many trials and tribulations, and 

has developed a positive character and a 

self reliance which will tend to manifest 

themselves disadvantageously at time when 
her faculties are impaired.” 106 The reference 

to “disadvantage” may refer to Violetta’s 
resistance to changing her ways and her 

vulnerability to Spencer’s requests for help.

Van Devanter cautioned his mother 

against spending too much money; he crit­

icized her gently for sending a Christmas 

telegram rather than a letter, and advised her 

to follow his lead in “dofing] but little in 
the way of holiday gifts.107 Mostly, though, 

Van Devanter expressed concern about his 

mother’s physical condition. In 1917 when 

Violetta was in her late seventies, Van Devan­
ter told her,

[Y]ou must ... have due regard for 
your own age and failing strength 

and avoid anything approach ex­

haustion. You can only do about so 

much in the way of physical exer­
tion, and it is particularly important 

with one of your years that you 

should avoid unnecessary anxiety 

and nervious [sic] strain.108

Five years later, Van Devanter wrote his 

sister Lizzie that their mother’s “ life will  have 

less of worry in it” because Violetta’s sister 

Lizzie had recently passed away.109 By 1925 

if  not earlier, Van Devanter seemed to regard 

his mother as always near death’s door. He 

thought that she understood that “her life 

was pretty certainly approaching its end” 110; 

six months later her handwriting suggested 

that she was “writing without being able to 

see what she writes” ;111 he made a special 
effort to see his mother in Marion when she 

was 90 because her age “admonishes me 

that there will  be few opportunities of seeing 

her again.” 112 That was indeed the last time 

he saw her. Violetta Van Devanter died in 

February 1933.

R etirem ent

Van Devanter had been thinking about 

retiring from the Court as early as 1929. Writ­
ing to his sister that February, he observed, “ I 

will  be 70 in April  and unless there is a great 

change for the better in Dollie’s condition 

I shall retire during the year. I am making 

no public announcement but my mind is 

becoming pretty well fixed on retirement.” 113

“Pretty well fixed”  turned out to be “not 

really fixed,” but Van Devanter continued 

to think about retirement. A year later he 

wrote his cousin Mary Warren, “Because of 

Dollie’s illness I am some times inclined to 
give up my work which is very exacting, but 

as yet I have come to no definite conclusion 

about it.” 114 In the spring of 1932, he wrote 

his sister, “ I rather definitively concluded to 

retire as soon as the election was over and 

regardless of the outcome,” even though he 
thought Franklin Roosevelt “a dreamer, ... 

far from stable, and ... inclined in direc­

tions which will  not make for the country’s 

good.” President Hoover’s austerity budget 
intervened, however, as it limited the pension 

available to retired Supreme Court Justices to 

$10,000, and Van Devanter, with his typical 

concern about finances, did “not like the idea
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o f lo s ing half m y s alary by re tir ing” and 

“ reconsiderfed] his “ former purpose.” 115

Apparently attuned to Van Devanter’s 

thinking, and as the Court’s conservatives 
were beginning to show their opposition to 

New Deal-like programs, Justice Brandeis 

approached Van Devanter:

[H]e said he wished specially to 

urge that I should not think of 

retiring; that he did not wish to 
see any change in the Court just 

now, and quite apart from that he 

wished me to continue on the Court; 

that the Court specially needed me; 

that no one could take my place in 
conference and that he thought it 

would be a great misfortune for the 

Court if  I should leave.

Van Devanter thought that this might 

reflect Brandeis’ loss “of faith in the present 

administration and its policies,” suggesting 

that Brandeis wanted him to stay on the 
Court because of Van Devanter’s conserva­

tive views.116

Dollie’s death and Van Devanter’s own 
health kept retirement on his mind. What 

tipped the balance was a new statute deal­

ing with judicial pensions, adopted while 
the Court-packing plan was under siege in 

Congress.117 The statutory background was 
complex. An 1869 statute allowed lower 

court judges to retire at full pay. Retired 

judges could sit occasionally after retirement. 

This implied that their salaries—for retired 

judges, their pay during retirement—could 

not be reduced because of Article Ill ’s guar­

antee against such reductions. The statute did 

not apply to Supreme Court justices because 
of concern that they could not sit on any 

other court after they retired; the result was 

that Supreme Court justices had to resign, 

not retire, and once they resigned, what they 

received as pensions VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcou ld be reduced, as had 

occurred in 1930.
Hatton Sumners, the chair of the House 

Committee on the Judiciary, had been trying

to eliminate this anomaly for several years. 
Roosevelt’s Court-packing plan gave him 

the chance to repackage his long-standing 

proposal as part of a general rethinking of 
court organization, though his proposal was 

not formally bundled with the Court-packing 

plan. Sumners was at best a lukewarm sup­
porter of the Court-packing plan, but he used 

his role as chair to leverage support for his 

own proposal in exchange of his support of 

the plan.

The Judiciary Committee approved 

Sumners’s bill shortly after Roosevelt 

announced the Court-packing plan, and 

on February 10 it passed the House 315-75; 
with only ten Democrats voting no. The 

Senate followed on February 26, supporting 
the bill  76-4. Roosevelt saw no contradiction 

between the judicial retirement bill and the 

larger plan and signed it into law on March 

1. Justice Van Devanter took advantage 

of the opportunity to retire at full pay, 

announcing his retirement on May 18; his 

letter specifically referred to Sumners’ bill.

Journalists Joseph Alsop and Turner 

Catledge offered a more conspiratorial ac­
count, apparently based upon what they heard 

from their Washington sources. According 

to them, Senator William Borah of Idaho, 

who they describe as “an intimate friend”  
of Van Devanter, “knew that the justice was 

anxious to retire.”  He “dropped a hint to Van 

Devanter that his retirement would strengthen 

the opposition,” and Van Devanter decided 

to step down. “The thing was planned in the 

utmost detail.”  Alsop and Catledge observed 

that “Van Devanter even decided to send 

his letter of resignation to the President 

on the very day” that the Senate Judiciary 
Committee voted down the Court-packing 
plan.118 There is reason to be skeptical of this 

account. Alsop and Catledge do not identify 

their sources, but it seems likely that Senator 

Borah was one of them. Nothing in Van De­

vanter’s extensive correspondence, including 

more than a few letters to political figures, 

suggests that Borah and Van Devanter were
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intim ate fr ie nds . And, m o re im p o rtant, Als o p 

and Catle dge m ake no m e ntio n o f Su m ne rs’ 

judicial retirement bill; that bill precipitated 
Van Devanter’s decision to retire, although 

perhaps (though I think it unlikely) he coor­

dinated his announcement with the Judiciary 

Committee vote. For what it is worth, I note 

that in 1921, in the course of a letter filled 

with anecdotes about judicial vacancies and 

retirements, Van Devanter wrote, “There is 

only one way of retiring, and that is to do it 

while you are still in good condition.... As 
with sleigh-riding, the time to go is when the 

sleighing is good.” 119

Van Devanter spent the remaining years 

of his life in New York and Washington, 

where he passed away on February 8, 1941. 

His contribution to the Supreme Court’s 

jurisprudence was slim except to the extent 
that he voted with the Court’s conservatives 

during the New Deal, yet this account of his 

life should help the reader understand that 
Supreme Court justices are in many ways 

people like the rest of us, worrying about 
money, health, and our loved ones. That, I 

think, is a lesson worth learning.VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
A uthor’s N ote-. This essay is based upon 

research done for, and draws upon, Ma r k  

Tu s h n e t, Th e Ol iv e  We n d e l l Ho l me s De­

v is e His t o r y o f  t h e Su pr e me Co u r t —Th e 

Hu g h e s Co u r t , 1930-1941: Fr o m Pr o g r e s- 

s iv is m t o  pl u r a l is m (forthcoming 2021). In 

the course of that research, I read Van Devan­

ter’s correspondence from 1910 to 1937— 

his period of Court service. I note that some 

of my conclusions might be supplemented 
by material from his pre-Court correspon­

dence, though I doubt that such material 

would change the views offered here in any 
substantial way.
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Alo ng with o the r ho rr ific e ve nts , the 

y e ar 2020 will  remain haunting because of 

the covid-19 scourge with its widespread, 

upending, and enduring hardships and effects 

that, in reaching the Supreme Court, closed 

the building, caused the justices to announce 

decisions and opinions digitally, and in May 

for the first time necessitated oral arguments 

via tele-conferencing with real-time public 

audio streaming. Wholly unrelated to the 
virus, the nation had already witnessed an 

event akin to only three previous occasions 

in American history: the trial in the Sen­

ate chamber of a president of the United 

States following impeachment by the House 

of Representatives.1 The development called 

for application of one of the Constitution’s 

unequivocal provisions: “When the President 

of the United States is tried, the Chief Justice 
shall preside.” 2

The single reference in the Constitution 

to the chief justice in the context of an 

impeachment trial offers a hint that while 

most of the Framers from the outset of the 

Convention of 1787 assumed the need for a 
national judiciary to correct what Alexander 

Hamilton in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF edera list No. 12 described as

a “circumstance which crowns the defects 

of the Confederation,” the document they 

crafted speaks only sparingly about the fed­

eral judiciary. As one finds in Articles I, II, 

and III,  the words “supreme court”  occur six 

times, “ justice,” apart from “Chief Justice,”  

appears not once, and the word “ judges”  
only three. Throughout their deliberations 

members of the convention seem nonetheless 

to have given some thought to the role a 
supreme judicial figure might play in the 

new political system. Even though neither 

the Virginia nor New Jersey plans—the two 

principal competing models introduced at the 

convention—specifically mentioned a chief 

justice, the former’s council of revision was 

to possess authority to invalidate state and 

national laws. That the council’s member­

ship included members of the national judi­

ciary suggested participation by a presiding 

judge.3 Furthermore, Connecticut delegate 

Oliver Ellsworth, who would have a large 
hand in drafting the Judiciary Act of 1789 

and became the third chief justice, proposed 

that the new government contain a council 

consisting of department heads to assist the 

president, with the chief justice as a member.
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This , ho we ve r, was an ide a Elbridge Ge rry 

o p p o s e d, be lie ving that “ [t]hese men will  also 

be so taken up with other matters as to neglect 

their own proper duties.” 4 The suggestion 

for what would be called a council of state 

reappeared in proposals by Pennsylvania’s 

Gouverneur Morris and South Carolina’s 

Charles Pinckney, with the chief justice being 

charged with recommending

such alterations of and additions to 

the laws of the U.S. as may in his 
opinion be necessary to the due 

administration of Justice and such 

as may promote useful learning and 

inculcate sound morality throughout 

the Union.5

In their view, the chief justice would be 
the presiding officer of the council in the 

absence of the president. Yet their proposal 

failed to gain traction, thus eliminating what 

would have been a blending of the judicial 

with the executive function. Then some thir­
teen days before the convention adjourned, 
the Committee on Postponed Matters urged 

that the chief justice replace the vice presi­

dent (already designated as president of the 
Senate) in a situation where the president had 

been impeached and was on trial.6 After the 

title “chief justice” survived the final vote at 

the convention, the actual existence of the 

office awaited the discretion of Congress.

Congress acted on September 24, 1789, 

declaring that “ the supreme court of the 

United States shall consist of a chief justice 
and five associate justices,” 7 and thereby 

shifting the initiative to the president who 

made his initial judicial nominations on the 

same day. Filling the Bench was a respon­
sibility George Washington took seriously, 

as he indicated three days later to Edmund 

Randolph,8 the first attorney general: “ Im­

pressed with a conviction that the true ad­

ministration of justice is the firmest pillar 

of good government, I have considered the 
first arrangement of the judicial department

as essential to the happiness of our country 

and the stability of its political system.”  

According to Charles Warren, the selection 

of a chief justice “was by far the most 

important and had given to the President the 

greatest concern. Rightly he felt that the man 

to head this first Court must be not only a 

great lawyer, but a great statesman, a great 

executive and a great leader as well.” 9 For 

Chief Justice, Washington’s choice was John 
Jay,10 a “gentleman” who in John Marshall’s 

estimation “ [fjrom the commencement of the 

revolution... has filled a large space in the 

public mind,” 11 and who, as Washington ex­

pressed to Jay himself, possessed the “ talents, 

knowledge and integrity” necessary to head 

“ that department which must be considered 

as the keystone of our political fabric.” 12

In choosing Jay, the president passed 

over James Wilson, who was instead named 

one of the five initial associate justices but 

who in April  had shamelessly offered himself 

“ to your Excellency without reserve” noting 
’ ’that my aim rises to the important office 

of Chief Justice of the United States.” 13 

Interestingly, Wilson had anticipated the title 

of the Court’s presiding officer that is familiar 

today, although Jay himself and successor 

chiefs John Rutledge, Oliver Ellsworth, John 

Marshall, Roger B. Taney, Salmon P. Chase, 

and Morrison R. Waite were each commis­

sioned “Chief Justice of the Supreme Court 

of the United States.” Not until President 

Grover Cleveland appointed Melville Fuller 
was the Court’s head commissioned “Chief 

Justice of the United States,” 14 in a delayed 

reflection of the Act of July 13, 1866,15 pro­
viding that the Court shall “hereafter consist 

of a Chief Justice of the United States and 

six associate justices,” phrasing repeated in 

the act of April 10, 1869,16 when the Court’s 

roster was re-set at eight associate justices 

plus the chief justice.17 The fine-tuning of the 

title symbolically manifested the mammoth 

constitutional and statutory changes brought 

about by the Civil  War and Reconstruction as
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the “natio n, dis tinct fro m the s tate s , be cam e
• • ,.lfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA8a permeating conception.

Washington’s view of and expectations 

for the office of chief justice anticipated both 

stability and influence, objectives, however, 

not realized until the tenures of Marshall 

(1801-1835) and Taney (1836-1864). This 
remarkable stretch of sixty-three years fol­

lowed the Court’s initial twelve years, a 

period that alone witnessed three chiefs. Such 

turnover suggested that whatever distinction 

the office “ first enjoyed was diluted by the 

attitude of early incumbents toward it.” 19 

The eleven chiefs following Taney (from 

Chase through William H. Rehnquist) en­

joyed tenures ranging from five years (Harlan 

Fiske Stone) to twenty-two years (Fuller) 

with an average of thirteen and a median of 

eleven.20 Moreover, by the early twentieth 
century, if not before, the names of chief 

justices became synonymous with periods of 
Supreme Court history, as in the Marshall 

Court, Taney Court, Waite Court, and so 

on. Use of such designations, however, has 

been typically more for historical conve­

nience than for historical accuracy in terms 

of a particular chiefs influence with other 

justices. The office has thus guaranteed not 

that the Court’s head will be a leader but 

only that a chief justice will  be VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAprim us in ter 

pares, first among equals. As in most small 

group settings, actual leadership is earned, 
not conferred, a reality that continues to be 

reflected by books on the Supreme Court.

The B urger C ourt and  the R ise of the  
Judic ia l R ight

The tenure of the fifteenth chief justice 
is the subject of The Burger C ourt and 

the R ise of the Judicia l R ight by Michael 
Graetz and Linda Greenhouse.21 The former 

is on the law faculty at Columbia University 

and holds an emeritus position at Yale’s law 
school, and the latter for several decades 

reported on the Supreme Court for the N ew 

York T im es and now teaches at Yale Univer­

sity’s law school. Among contemporary jour­

nalists, she surely must be the only one whose 

surname has become synonymous with a 

supposed phenomenon of judicial behavior 

(the so-called Greenhouse Effect). According 
to a speech to the Federalist Society in 1992 

by Judge Laurence Silberman of the Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, 

some justices were believed at the time to 

have adopted a more progressive position 

in deciding cases as a way of achieving 

favorable coverage by journalists.22

Graetz and Greenhouse direct the 

reader’s attention to a judicial era that began 

with President Richard Nixon’s selection 

of Warren E. Burger as chief justice in 
mid-1969.23 His arrival at the Court handily 

illustrates an observation made some twelve 

years later by Justice Sandra Day O’Connor. 
Reflecting generally on Supreme Court 

appointments two years after her own, 
she observed that the “decision from the 

nominee’s viewpoint is probably a classic 

example of being the right person in the right 

spot at the right time.” 24

For Burger, it proved truly to be the 

r igh t tim e as a pair of events combined to 

produce a vacancy on the Court. On June 26, 

1968, President Lyndon Johnson announced 

Chief Justice Earl Warren’s intention to re­

tire, with his departure to become effective 

upon the confirmation of a successor, news 

that was quickly followed by the nomina­
tion of Justice Abe Fortas to take Warren’s 

place. Opposition to Fortas, however, formed 

nearly immediately along several fronts— 

resistance which even the president, a former 

Senate majority leader, uncharacteristically 

was incapable of surmounting. After four 

days of deliberation, the Senate voted 45- 

43 on October 1 to cut off debate, well shy 

of the margin necessary to end the anti- 

Fortas filibuster. Two days later, and less 

than a month before the 1968 elections, 
the president, at Fortas’s request, withdrew 

the ill-fated nominee’s name. The occasion 
marked not only the first time nomination of
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a m e m be r o f the Co u rt had be e n s ty m ie d by a 

filibu s te r bu t o nly the s e co nd faile d Su p re m e 

Co u rt no m inatio n in the twe ntie th ce ntu ry . 

Lame-duck since his surprise announcement 

on March 31 not to seek reelection, Johnson 

declined to submit another nominee to the 

Senate. This inaction ensured that the choice 

of a new chief justice would fall to his 

successor.

Thus, with the new president in need 

of a chief justice, time and circumstance 
combined to make Burger the VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAr igh t person . 

Nixon’s campaign in 1968 for the White 

House had been in major part a campaign 

against the Warren Court, particularly some 

of its decisions on criminal justice that 

too often had favored, Nixon contended, 

the “criminal forces” as opposed to “ the 

peace forces of the country.” 25 Furthermore, 

Burger, as a judge on the Court of Appeals 

for the District of Columbia Circuit since 

1956, had been openly critical of some of 

the same decisions.26 Significantly, in May 
1967, Burger, in a commencement address 

at Ripon College, continued the same theme, 

with his remarks being excerpted in a ma­
jor news weekly magazine that soon came 
to Nixon’s attention.27 Thus, for the new 

president, Burger seemed made to order not 

only in filling  a judicial seat but manifestly 

in making good on a campaign pledge to 

begin to roll back some of the Warren Court’s 

handiwork.28

Finally, as a judge on what many regard 
as the second most important tribunal in 

the nation, Burger, age sixty-one, had also 

been in the r igh t p lace. His seat on the 

appeals court not only had provided visi­

bility for his views, but followed years of 
experience in government that began with 

his selection in 1953 as head of the civil  
division in the Department of Justice, a 

position itself made possible by work on 

candidate Dwight Eisenhower’s behalf, as a 

member of the Minnesota delegation, at the 

Republican national convention in Chicago 

in 1952.

Burger’s swearing in on June 23 not 

only marked the end of the Warren Court 

but occurred barely five weeks after Jus­

tice Abe Fortas’s resignation under ethical 

clouds on May 14. Arrival of the new chief 

justice also coincided with the beginning 

of some eighteen months of what can only 

be described as turbulence in the Supreme 

Court’s roster. This period witnessed both a 

protracted struggle to achieve confirmation 

of Justice Fortas’s successor as well as the re­

tirements and replacements of two members 
of the Court in quick succession.29 Includ­
ing the continuing members of the Warren 

Court after June 23—themselves a coterie of 

seven justices appointed by four presidents— 

Burger served with a total of twelve justices, 
three of whom (William J. Brennan Jr., Byron 

R. White, and Thurgood Marshall) for his 

entire seventeen-year tenure. Three of the 

twelve (Harry A. Blackmun, Lewis F. Powell 

Jr., and William H. Rehnquist) like him­

self were named by Nixon, one (John Paul 
Stevens) by President Gerald R. Ford, and one 

(Sandra Day O’Connor) by President Ronald 

Reagan. It is the record of this baker’s dozen, 
especially the pattern woven by the Nixon 

appointees, on which Graetz and Greenhouse 

largely focus.

Analysis of the Supreme Court’s work 

over any stretch of seventeen years presents 

a sizeable challenge, one generally overcome 

in this instance not only by the authors’ 

straightforward writing style but also by 

the thoroughness of their research and the 

serviceable structure chosen for their book. 
Along with an introduction and conclusion, 

the book is divided into five parts: Crime, 

Race, Social Transformation, Business, and 

the Presidency. Each part in turn consists of 

at least two and as many as four chapters. 

It is through this structure that the authors 

attempt to digest many of the Burger Court’s 

2,738 decided cases.30 An appendix helpfully 

includes biographical sketches of Burger and 

his colleagues, although the addition of a 

separate index of cases would have been
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im m e ns e ly he lp fu l. (As it is, the index con­

tains an entry labeled “cases of the Supreme 

Court” followed by the names of dozens of 

cases. Case names also appear following the 

name of the particular justice who filed an 

opinion in the case.)

For some readers, the authors might ben­

eficially have commented near the beginning 
on part of the second half of their title: the 

“Judicial Right,” a term or phrase that is not 

entirely self-defining. The authors appear to 

use it as contemporary journalists often do 

in referring to judges who favor fewer rights 

for criminal suspects, favor less sensitivity 

to claims of race and gender discrimina­
tion, stress fewer restrictions on business 

operations, and so forth. “Judicial right,”  
however, might also bring to mind debates 

over different approaches to constitutional 
interpretation, as in originalism, literalism, 

and whether one should view the Constitu­
tion as a “ living” document, the meaning 

of which expands with a changing nation. 
While debates over such approaches continue 

unresolved in the public sphere, they were es­

pecially lively and frequent during the 1980s 

as illustrated by exchanges between notables 

such as Judge Robert Bork and Professor 

Laurence Tribe.31 Similarly, “ judicial right”  

would have a specific meaning in the mid- 

1930s and again a different one in the 1950s 
and 1960s with debates on the Bench about 

judicial activism and restraint.

That quibble aside, the introduction ap­
propriately alerts the reader to two narratives 

that resurface and compete throughout the 

book. One narrative appeared in remarks in 

Philadelphia on September 17, 1987, by the 

then retired chief justice taking part in the 

celebration of the bicentennial of the United 

States Constitution: “ If  we remain on course, 

keeping faith with the vision of the Founders, 

with freedom under ordered liberty, we will  

have done our part to see that the great 

new idea of government by consent—by 
We the People—remains in place.” 32 Jus­

tice Thurgood Marshall, then in his twenty-

first year on the Court and still its only 

African-American member, had articulated 

the other narrative in Hawaii four months 

earlier. Cautioning his audience to be wary 

of “ flagwaving fervor” surrounding the cele­

brations of 1987, he opined that they invited 

“a complacent belief that the vision of those 

who debated and compromised in Philadel­

phia yielded the ‘more perfect Union’ it 

is said we now enjoy. ...I cannot accept 
this invitation.” Instead, the government the 

framers devised was “defective from the start, 

requiring several amendments, a civil war, 

and momentous transformation” to realize 

its promise. Credit for what the Constitution 

had wrought belonged instead “ to those who 

refused to acquiesce in outdated notions of 

‘ liberty,’ ‘justice,’ and ‘equality’ and who 
strived to better them.” 33

Also in the introduction one finds 

the authors’ central question: whether the 
“ received learning” 34 about the Burger Court 

is correct. They characterize that scholarship 

as viewing the Burger era as one “during 

which nothing much happened,”  as suggested 

by the subtitle of a volume published in 1983: 

“The Counter-Revolution That Wasn’t.” 35 

Yet to probe whether or not a major change 

occurred makes sense only alongside an 

exposition of what came before, that is, 

the Supreme Court during Chief Justice 

Earl Warren’s tenure (1953-1969). For the 

authors, the “overarching theme” of the 

Warren Court was equality. During Warren’s 

tenure, criminal “defendants acquired 

enforceable rights against compelled self­

incrimination and illegally seized evidence. 

The political dominance that rural America 

held over the nation’s legislatures was ended 

by the new jurisprudence of one person, one 

vote. Organized prayer was ejected from 
public school classrooms,” 36 thus marking 

a period during which the Supreme Court 

not only made a profound difference in 

American life but did so as surely the most 
result-oriented Court in American history. 

By one count, in the approximately 150 years
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be fo re Warre n’s appointment, the Court had 

overruled eighty-eight of its precedents. In 
Warren’s sixteen years, it added another 

forty-five to the list. Truly barely an aspect of 

life went untouched by its decisions. While 

not in the least downplaying the significance 

of the Warren years, Graetz and Greenhouse 

reach the conclusion that something of major 

significance happened during the Burger era 

as well, even if  they do not venture as far as 

another scholar more than a decade earlier 

who maintained that “next to its predecessor”  

the Burger Court “may have been the most 
activist in our history.” 37

Acknowledging the Warren Court’s ten­

dency to paint “ in broad strokes,”  the authors 
concede that any successor court would have 

to “ fill  in the blanks,” provide details, and 

to “make highly consequential choices that 
in many ways shaped the society we live in 

today.” 38 In exploring the “choices” made 

by the Burger Court alongside those of its 

predecessor, however, the authors offer a 

grim appraisal.

For Earl Warren and his Court, 

the Constitution was an engine of 

social change. It was the quest for 
greater equality... that drove con­

stitutional interpretation. No such 
lodestar drew the Burger Court,”  

with equality “ taking a backseat to 

other values: to the prerogatives of 

states and localities...to the preser­

vation of elite institutions, to the 

efficiency of the criminal justice 

system, to the interests of business, 

and above all to rolling back the 

rights revolution the Warren Court 
had unleashed."39

Yet so bold a statement, made as it was 
near the end of the book seems even harsher 

than one made in the Introduction:

True, the Burger Court defied 

expectations in failing to over­

turn the Warren Court’s leading

criminal law precedents. But it 

left those precedents hollowed out, 
while also erecting daunting barri­

ers to defendants seeking to vin­

dicate their right in federal court.
The school prayer precedents re­

main, but Burger Court decisions 

gave religion and its symbols a

more prominent place in the public fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
40square.

The “glaring exception” to the Burger 

Court’s “conservative profile” was in the 

area of rights for women, including abortion, 

but even this in their view was a surface 

exception at most. While “no Warren Court 

decision suggested that the Constitution’s 

guarantee of equal protection had anything to 
do with discrimination on account of sex,”  

the Burger Count never “opened the door 

wide enough to encompass the understanding 

that discrimination on the basis of pregnancy 

is a form of sex discrimination. ... And the 

right to terminate a pregnancy did not, in the 

Court’s view, include a right to public finan­
cial assistance in obtaining an abortion.” 41

Moreover, admitting that “both Courts 

shared a deep concern for racial equal­

ity,” the authors contend that the Burger 
Court’s"concern was to make sure that white 

applicants to schools and jobs were not 

being asked to pay too heavy a price for 
the nation’s racial past.” 42 Disavowing an 

intention “ to depict the Burger Court as 

serving the Reagan Revolution,” Graetz and 

Greenhouse nonetheless insist that the Burger 

Court “played a crucial role in establishing 

the conservative legal foundation for the even 

more conservative Courts that followed.” 43

At least since the publication of Alpheus 
Thomas Mason’s biography of Chief Justice 

Harlan Fiske Stone well over six decades 

ago,44 study of particular justices and under­

standing of the judicial process have been 

enriched by use of the papers of the justices 

archived in various collections. The Burger  
C ourt  is no exception. Throughout, Graetz
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The Burger Court and the Rise of the Judicial Right by M ichael G raetz and Linda G reenhouse is divided in to five  

sections: C rim e, R ace, Socia l Transform ation , B usiness, and the Presidency. A bove is a sketch of the B urger C ourt 

in the 1980s.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

and Gre e nho u s e m ake u s e o f the p ap e rs 

o f Ju s tice s Blackm u n, Po we ll, and Ste wart. 

(Chief Justice Burger’s papers, housed at the 

College of William and Mary, are closed to 
the public until 2026.45) Moreover, because 

justices routinely send notes or comments 
to other justices, elements of one justice’s 

papers in effect become part of another’s. 

Moreover, a justice’s papers routinely include 

exchanges between a justice and one or more 

law clerks, so access to a single collection 

may cast a broad net across various Cham­

bers.

Use of such manuscript sources en­

hances traditional reliance on the text of cases 

themselves, as illustrated by the authors’  
treatment of VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ash ing ton v. D avisf6 which 

they maintain “would prove to be one of the 

Burger Court’s foundational constitutional 
rulings.” 47 Involving workplace discrimina­

tion, the decision mirrored G riggs v. D uke 
P ow er C om pany,48 because of a major dif­

ference in its outcome. Coming as it did 

early in the Burger years, G riggs involved 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

and remains important because it construed 
the statutory provision to encompass not only 

instances where a policy or practice of an 

employer—here a privately owned electric 

utility—embodied intentional discrimination 

but also where the policy had a disparate or 

discriminatory impact not justified by busi­

ness necessity. The distinction was crucial in 

litigation because effect would ordinarily be 

easier to demonstrate than in ten t.

In contrast, while W ash ing ton v. D avis 

likewise involved a claim of racial discrim­

ination, the employer was not a private com­

pany but the police department of the District 

of Columbia. In 1970, two years before 
Congress made Title VII  applicable to local 

governments, African-American applicants 

who had been rejected for employment filed 

suit claiming that the department’s written
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te s t o f ve rbal ap titu de (which black appli­

cants failed at a rate four times that of whites) 
was racially discriminatory. Importing the 

idea of disparate impact from VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG riggs into this 

case, the Court of Appeals for the District 

of Columbia Circuit held for the plaintiffs, 
and the District appealed. In the Supreme 

Court, however, the District prevailed 7-2. 

Graetz and Greenhouse find the High Court’s 

decision remarkable because “no one, not 

even the justices, anticipated the crucially 

important question the court would end up 

deciding”  and because the “ landmark”  ruling 

illustrates “ the almost random way that law 

evolves.” 49 (In their analysis of W ash ing ton v. 

D avis, Graetz and Greenhouse write that “ the 
plaintiffs brought their case directly under the 

Constitution’s equal protection guarantee.” 50 

This, however, is a somewhat misleading 

statement that is clarified neither in the pas­

sage nor in an endnote. The Equal Protection 

Clause resides in section one of the Four­

teenth Amendment, itself expressly directed 
to the states. Even though the District is not a 

state, the Supreme Court in 1954 nonetheless 

applied the assurance of equal protection to 
the District by finding an equal protection 

component within the Due Process Clause of 
the Fifth Amendment,51 a provision that has 

always been applicable to the District.)

Kenneth Starr, one of Chief Justice 

Burger’s clerks, received the assignment to 

write the “pool memo” for the justices to 

assist in their decision whether to grant re­
view. The authors explain that nothing “ in his 

memo indicated that the case was anything 

special or that it involved anything other 

than an application of G riggs.” 52 This view, 

they explain, was hardly surprising in that 

neither the parties nor the lower court had 

suggested that the constitutional claim re­

quired a different standard from that of Title 

VII.  Starr’s memo made no recommendation 
but noted only that the employer seemed to 

be on firmer ground than Duke Power had 

been in G riggs. Even after the Court granted 

review, the authors conclude that the justices

regarded the case as “ just one among many, 

and not a very interesting one at that.”  Notes 

that Justice Blackmun made for argument 
queried “ Is this case really very important?”  

Moreover, there was nothing in his notes 

hinting “ that the disparate impact standard 

might itself be in question.” 53

However, a clerk for Justice Powell urged 

her justice to consider alternatively whether 

the case indeed raised an important question, 

and if so whether a remand to the trial 

court would be appropriate. “This Court,”  

she noted, “must decide either (explicitly or 

implicitly) whether ordinary equal protection 

analysis or Title VII  law is to be applied in 

this case,”  and observed from emerging case 
law that “mere discriminatory impact was 

insufficient in constitutional cases without 
evidence of discriminatory purpose.” After 

the case was argued, discussion in Confer­

ence resulted in a 7-2 division, with Justices 

Brennan and Marshall in the minority. The 

majority position was that since they were 

not faced with a Title VII case, discrimi­

natory intent would have to be established 

in order for the claim of discrimination to 

prevail. Yet a distinct and somewhat awkward 
problem remained: the Court “was about to 
answer a question that no one had asked it 

to consider. The parties had not briefed the 
question.” Indeed, the petition for certiorari 

had not presented the matter as a ground 

for reversal. “But the Court’s appetite was 

whetted.”  Accordingly, Justice Byron White’s 

opinion for the majority succinctly stated 

that the appeals court had applied the wrong 
standard and that a rule of the Court54 

allowed the justices “ to notice a plain error 

not presented,” and so proceeded to address 

the question nonetheless.55

For the authors, the case merits substan­
tial attention at this distance because of its 

far-reaching effect on “any claim that a law 

or policy neutral on its face nonetheless dis­

criminates on the basis of race, sex, or other 

protected category.” The decision has “ thus 

migrated far beyond employment, cutting off
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claim s o f u nco ns titu tio nal dis crim inatio n in 

the co nte xt o f the de ath p e nalty , the dis fran­

chisement of prisoners and former prisoners, 

and numerous others.” 56

As Graetz and Greenhouse note in sev­

eral places, part of the legacy of the Warren 

Court consists of its revolutionary rulings on 

legislative districting. In mandating the one 

person, one vote rule, the justices reshaped 

the balance of political power in the United 

States. Accordingly, given the thoroughness 

of their book, a reader may be puzzled by the 
apparent absence of any discussion of VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU nited 

Jew ish O rgan iza tions of W illiam sburgh , Inc. 

v. C arey.51 In this first benign race-conscious 

districting case to reach the Supreme Court, 

the justices turned back a challenge to a 

New York plan that split a Hasidic Jewish 

community among several state legislative 

districts in order to increase representation 

of African Americans. The decision signaled 

that such steps were not only appropriate 

under the Voting Rights Act but were per­
mitted by the Constitution, yet only hinted 
at future cases involving majority-minority 

districts that would pose legal difficulties for 

successor Courts. For at least one scholar, this 
case, not Regents v. B akkef5 was the Court’s 

first affirmative action case decided on the 

merits.59

A reader might wonder as well why the 

book seems to omit analysis of the Burger 

Court’s foray into yet another side of repre­

sentation. With their emphasis on achieving 

equal numbers across districts, the Warren 

Court’s decisions may also have obscured 

some of the complexities of representation, in 

particular the distortions that can be caused 

by gerrymandering. As old as the republic 
itself, this example of political shenanigans 

in its classic form has entailed the drawing 

of district lines to boost or reduce the in­

fluence of a political party in a legislative 

body. As Justice David Souter described the 
practice long after Burger’s retirement, “ the 

spectrum of opportunity runs from cracking 

a group into impotent fractions, to packing

its members into one district for the sake 
of marginalizing them in another. However 

equal districts may be in population as a 

formal matter, the consequence of a vote cast 

can be minimized or maximized.” 60 Hence, 

for critics of the device, achieving equal num­

bers among districts is only the beginning, 

not the end, of devising an acceptable plan 

of representation. While the Warren Court 

notably prohibited racial gerrymandering in 

G om illion v. L igh tfoo t,61 it had left partisan 

gerrymandering alone.
Thus, it was the Burger Court that ven­

tured first into this corner of what Justice Fe­

lix Frankfurter decades earlier had famously 
termed the “political thicket.” 62 A hint of 

what was to come appeared in the second 
of a pair of cases decided on the same 

day in 1983 by different majorities of five 

justices. In the first, B row n v. Thom son,65 

the Court approved a districting plan for the 

Wyoming state House of Representatives that 

revealed an average deviation of 16 percent 
from population equality and a maximum 
deviation of 89 percent. Probably crucial in 

the majority’s willingness to overlook such 

huge numerical disparities were the isolation 
and vast distances separating some sparsely 

settled regions of the Equality State. In the 

second, K archer v. D aggett,64 at first glance 

an ordinary districting case, the Court disal­

lowed a plan from New Jersey for the Gar­

den State’s fourteen congressional districts 

that had a maximum population deviation 
of less than one percent. The case arose 

after Republicans claimed that Democrats 

had unfairly advantaged themselves at the 

former’s expense in drawing district lines. 
For this five-justice majority, the deviations, 

though small, were not the result of a “good 

faith effort to achieve population equality.”  

Silently persuasive perhaps were the unusu­

ally strange shapes of a few of the districts, 

often an indication of a gerrymander. One of 

the districts resembled a swan and took in 

part of seven counties. Another looked like 

a fishhook. In a concurring opinion, Justice
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Ste ve ns wro te that the “ ju diciary is no t p o w­

erless to provide a constitutional remedy in 
egregious cases”  of gerrymandering.65

It was in VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD avis v. B andem er,66 decided 

at the end of Burger’s last term, that a 

majority accepted Stevens’s assessment. In a 
challenge to a districting plan for the Indiana 

legislature, the Court concluded that parti­

san gerrymandering presented a judicially 
cognizable issue under the Equal Protection 

Clause. Yet only two justices found a consti­

tutional defect in the Indiana plan. For future 

cases, the Court announced a standard much 

less precise than one, person, one vote, thus 

making it difficult to show a constitutional 

violation: “Unconstitutional discrimination 

occurs,” explained Justice Byron White’s 
opinion for the plurality, “only when the 

electoral system is arranged in a manner 

that will  consistently degrade a voter’s or a 
group of voters’ influence on the political 

process as a whole.” 67 Left in doubt was 

the kind of evidence and the span of time 

required to use in proving an unconstitutional 

gerrymander, particularly in light of the fact 

that redistricting occurs in every state after 

each decennial census.

G errym andering in A m erica

What the Burger Court left unresolved 

has continued to perplex later Courts, a 

reality that has made publication of fedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG erry ­

m andering in  A m erica especially timely, if  

also unusual in that the book is the work 

of four authors. The quartet of political 

scientists is composed of Anthony J. McGann 

of the University of Strathclyde in Scot­

land, Charles Anthony Smith of the Univer­

sity of California, Irvine, Michael Latner at 

California Polytechnic State University, San 

Luis Obispo, and Alex Keena of Virginia 
Commonwealth University.68 Their book is 

both compact and densely, if  pleasingly, writ­

ten. It is compact in the sense that, minus 

the bibliography and index, the page count 

barely exceeds 200 pages. To say that it

is densely written is merely a forewarning 

that nearly every sentence matters. To say 

that the writing is appealing is to suggest 

that, once opened, the book is hard to put 

down, an effect that results from the authors’ 
skills and the importance of the subject they 

engage. In terms of the window it opens, 
the book skillfully  does for gerrymandering 

what Royce Hanson’s The Political Thicket  

(1970) did with a similar length decades 

ago for the redistricting struggle during the 

Warren Court.

Redistricting and hence the opportuni­
ties for gerrymandering are initiated by the 

decennial census that is prescribed by the 
Constitution: “The actual Enumeration shall 

be made within three Years after the first 

Meeting of the Congress of the United States, 

and within every subsequent Term of ten 

Years, in such Manner as they [Congress] 
shall by Law direct.” 69 Among other uses, 

census data in turn literally enable vital parts 

of the electoral process, affecting a state’s 

representation in the U. S. House of Rep­

resentatives. This number, when combined 

with each state’s equal representation in the 

U.S. Senate, then determines a state’s elec­

toral vote in elections for president and vice 
president. Moreover, the changes that result 

from the census persist for a decade. Thus, 
the reapportioning of House seats among the 

states that occurs once the numbers from the 
2020 census become final will  be in place 

until after the next census in 2030.

With a principal goal of identifying, 

highlighting, and explaining the effects of 

partisan gerrymandering, the authors’ ap­

parent motivation was the Supreme Court’s 

2004 decision in V ieth v. Jubelirer‘ ! that the 

authors believed erected a well-nigh impen­

etrable barrier to legal challenges to alleged 
gerrymanders. Their expectation apparently 

became reality in 2019 after the book’s 

publication when the Supreme Court decided 
R uchov v. C om m on C ause.71

The authors’ analysis unfolds through 

three sections; there are also an introduction
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and co nclu s io n. Co ns is ting o f a s ingle chap­

ter, the first section offers a short course on 

the jurisprudence of redistricting, including 

the Warren Court’s revolutionary rulings on 

representation in the 1960s, particularly VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW es- 
berry v. Sanders12 that mandated the one 

person, one vote standard for each state’s 

congressional districts. With three chapters, 

the second section presents an empirical 

analysis of partisan gerrymandering before 

and after V ieth . The two chapters of section 

three then focus on the merits of V ieth and its 

constitutional consequences.
While much of the book deals with ger­

rymandering generally and so is applicable to 

state legislative districts and other represen­

tative structures, the authors’ chief concern 

is captured by their subtitle: “The House 
of Representatives, the Supreme Court, and 

the Future of Popular Sovereignty.” Given 

that the Warren Court in W esberry held that 

states could not advantage some voters over 

others by creating congressional districts of 

different population sizes, the authors signif­
icantly contend that the Court most recently 

has effectively created a loophole through 
W esberry that allows state legislatures to 

disadvantage some voters by manipulating 

not the populations but the shapes of districts. 

The same evisceration applies to R eyno lds v. 
Sim s13 that mandated equally populated dis­

tricts for both houses of a state legislature.74 

Gerrymandering at either level of govern­

ment allows state legislatures not only to 
influence the outcomes of elections but in 

doing so to influence the outcomes of public 

policy debates in terms of what becomes 
law. The result is what the authors term a 

remarkable situation. “Drawing districts with 

different population sizes is prohibited by the 
Constitution. However, achieving the same 

partisan advantage by cleverly manipulat­

ing the shape of the districts apparently is 

permitted.” 75

The book makes several important 

points. First, gerrymandering is not a uni­

form practice across the United States. Of

the thirty-eight states with three or more 

House districts (where districting bias is 
thus possible), eighteen are generally free 

of gerrymandering. Second, among the re­

maining eighteen, gerrymandering is often 

pronounced. Third, contrary to some who be­

lieve that bias in districts is usually the result 

of demographics or geography, the authors 

contend that in most states, it is possible to 
draw unbiased districts. Furthermore, in the 

few states where that goal is unattainable, the 

remaining bias is modest.
Fourth, partisan gerrymandering is truly 

partisan. That is, substantial bias among 
districts occurs “almost exclusively where 

one party controls the entire districting 
process,” 76 as happens when a single party 

controls both houses of a state legislature and 

the governorship. A high degree of partisan 

bias “occurs almost exclusively in those 

states where there is both a political motive 

and a political opportunity.” As the authors 

elaborate, there “ is nothing to be gained from 

having partisan bias in a state where your 
party is overwhelmingly strong. You can just 

benefit from the fact that first-past-the-post 
elections favor the larger party.” 77 Thus, in 

states where there is no unified party control 

or in states where redistricting is done by a 

commission structured to reduce control by 

a single party, significant bias does not exist. 

Instead, in place of partisan advantage, one 

finds an emphasis on protection of incum­

bency regardless of party. Fifth, the outlook 

for the future suggests greater, not declining, 

bias. That is, when the authors compare the 
redistricting following the 2000 census with 

that after the 2010 census, they find that 
the bias occurring after the later significantly 

exceeded what had taken place a decade 

earlier. Thus, where the situation permits, 

parties appear to be increasingly motivated to 
pursue party interest aggressively.

Sixth, redistricting even by an indepen­

dent nonpartisan body does not guarantee 

districts free of bias. In the United King­

dom, districting is done by the Boundary
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Co m m is s io n. While its m e m be rs “are re­
quired to only take [sic] into account tech­

nical, geographical criteria,” 78 partisan bias 

appears in districting nonetheless in that the 

rules “do not allow the Boundary Commis­

sion to pursue political fairness. Indeed they 

empower interested parties to entrench ex­

isting advantages.” Thus, while eliminating 

consideration of political factors might at first 

glance seem desirable, “ if  political inequities 
do emerge, you cannot deal with them if  you 

are not allowed to consider them.” 79

Finally, gerrymandering in the United 

States in the modern era has had not only 

electoral consequences but a major constitu­

tional consequence as well. The new reality 

is that the composition of Congress will  be 

determined as much by how districts are 

drawn as by how people vote. Yet the “Great 

Compromise at the Constitutional Conven­

tion was that the House of Representatives 

was to represent the people as a whole, while 

the Senate was to represent the states. It now 
appears that the composition of the House

will  also be determined by state governments. 

This represents an unlikely victory for the 
Anti-federalist vision of government.” 80

W hat Justices W ant

Most of the decisions examined in 

the books on the Burger Court and on 

gerrymandering are part of the database 

utilized in W hat  Justices W ant by political 

scientist Matthew E. K. Hall of Notre Dame 
University.81 His book, which could easily 

also be entitled “Who Justices Are,” is a 
study of the personality traits of members 

of the Court and how those traits influence 
judicial behavior. At least since publication 

of Walter F. Murphy’s E lem ents of Judicia l 

Strategy in 1964, it has been widely 

understood among students of the judicial 

process that deciding cases in a small group 

setting like the Supreme Court typically 

occasions judges’ pursuit of multiple 

goals. Hall advances a somewhat different 
thesis: that the personality traits of justices

What Justices Want by politica l scientist M atthew  E. K . H all is a study of the personality tra its of m em bers of the  

C ourt and how  those tra its in fluence jud ic ia l behavior. A bove is a cartoon of the B urger C ourt in 1972, w ith the  

justices ’ signatures below .
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de te rm ine the re lative im p o rtance o f the 
go als the y p u rs u e .

Drawing fro m the s tu dy o f p e rs o nality , 

the au tho r lay s o u t five p re do m inant traits 
that p s y cho lo gis ts have ide ntifie d. The re ade r 

is as s u re d that the s e traits are “highly s table 

afte r the age o f thir ty and e xtre m e ly s ta­
ble after the age of fifty. ” 82 Known among 

specialists as “The Big Five,” the group 

consists of extraversion, conscientiousness, 

agreeableness, neuroticism (or its inverse, 

emotional stability), and openness. The first 

reflects the degree to which a person prior­

itizes influence and attention. For Hall, this 

trait is positively associated with behaviors 
that exert influence over colleagues such as 

“authoring majority opinions and circulating 

opinion drafts.” It also includes following 

popular preferences “especially in cases that 

have already attracted attention from relevant 

audiences.” 83 The second incorporates two 

sub-traits: industriousness and dutifulness. 
Accordingly, someone in whom this trait 

is strong emphasizes fulfilling  judicial du­

ties and “ resisting the temptation to pur­

sue policy objectives and expressing honest 
disagreement.” 84 Agreeableness, the third, 

likewise embodies two aspects: politeness 

and compassion (or altruism). Thus, someone 

with a strong rating on agreeableness would 

promote social harmony within the Court 

and would be inclined to support decisions 

intended to help disadvantaged persons. Neu­

roticism suggests a person who tends to 

avoid or retreat from risky activities and to 

avoid unpleasant situations. A justice whose 

personality leans heavily in this direction 

would try to avoid potential criticism, to 

be supportive of government actions, and to 

tend to file fewer opinions. Openness in turn 

implies an individual’s interest in philosoph­

ical discussions and abstract ideas but also a 
willingness to change one’s practices and to 

enjoy new experiences. In Hall’s construct, 

a justice leaning toward openness would 

be eager to engage new ideas, to circulate 
bargaining memos, to alter legal precedent

and to compromise as a majority position is 

emerging.
Hall’s obvious challenge was to find 

a way to rate members of the Court on 

the various traits, given that interviews and 

questionnaires would be out of the question. 

His chosen method was to glean personality 

traits from what the Justices have written 

by using a textual analysis program called 

the Personality Recognizer, a tool that the 

author insists has been adequately validated. 

As he explains, “by comparing written es­

says to self-assessed personality ratings, the 

program’s creators trained machine learning 

models to accurately estimate [sic] person­
ality scores for each of the Big Five.... 

In other words, individuals with certain 

personality traits tend to use certain types 

of language; therefore, a person’s language 
can be used to estimate their personality 

traits.” 85

To minimize the effects of appropri­

ated or stylized language, Hall applied the 

program exclusively to concurring opinions 

(both regular and special),86 believing that 

their authors have little incentive to accom­
modate colleagues’ views so that the result­

ing opinion is more likely to be the justice’s 

preferred expression. Concurring opinions 

were preferred over a justice’s questions or 
other statements at oral argument because, 

Hall reports, prior to the 1970s, justices 

typically said little at oral argument, and prior 

to 2004 were not individually identified in the 

transcripts. Hall also downplays distortions 

that might be caused by prose composed 

not by the justice but by a clerk, reminding 

the reader that a clerk would ordinarily be 

present for only a single term and that it is the 

justice who retains “primary control” 87 over 
an opinion’s language.

The fruits of the author’s labors are 

Supreme Court Individual Personality Es­

timates (SCIPEs) for the thirty-four Jus­

tices serving from the 1946 through the 

2015 terms. However, Hall cautions that 

the generated sores should be understood
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o nly as co m p aring Ju s tice s to e ach o the r, 
no t to the ge ne ral p o p u latio n.88 Even with 

that caveat, readers may understandably won­

der whether the justices themselves will  be 

curious about the table of SCIPEs found 

on page 40.89 While Hall tests some of 

the generated results against scholarly in­
formation about a few of the Justices and 
anecdotal and journalistic information about 

others, it will be left to Hall or to other 

researchers in later projects to determine the 

overall accuracy and worth of the book’s 

findings.

Nonetheless, a reader is left with two 

puzzlements. The first concerns an unfinished 

story. A large part of chapter one is a review 
of VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG risw o ld v. C onnecticu t,90 the Supreme 

Court’s landmark 7-2 ruling on birth control 

that expressly gave constitutional status to a 

right of privacy. Many may also know the 

case as a mini-textbook on constitutional in­
terpretation, in that seven of the nine justices 

filed opinions that at heart revealed each 
author’s conception of the Constitution. Here 

Hall explores the highly divergent opinions 

of Hugo L. Black and William O. Douglas 

in that case, insisting that to understand the 

differences between them “one must look 

beyond their partisan affiliation, political 

ideology, and institutional context” to “ their 

personalities.” 91 Hall produces SCIPEs for 
both Black and Douglas, but his analysis 

never returns to this particular clash when 
he begins to elaborate on the findings from 

his study with respect to this pair of high­

lighted justices. The gap represents a missed 

opportunity, especially as Black and Douglas 

appear to have somewhat similar SCIPEs on 

openness.92 The second is the mystery as to 

the identity of one or more coauthors. In 

no fewer than three places, Hall refers to 

“my coauthors and I,” 93 yet only Hall’s name 

appears on the front cover and title page. On 
the acknowledgments page,94 while thanks 

are extended to various individuals, there is 

again no mention of anyone as coauthor or 

even contributor.

Voting R ights in A m erica

Among the cases that the Court de­

cided during the terms in Hall’s study 

were those involving the franchise, a sub­
ject now comprehensively and serviceably 

explored in V oting R ights in A m erica, a 
timely reference work95 by Richard A. Glenn 

and Kyle L. Kreider, political scientists at 

Millersville University and Wilkes Univer­

sity, respectively.96

As they remind the reader, government 

by consent of the governed “ is a power­

ful idea. And it is not achievable without 

elections and the right to vote, the crucial 

mechanisms by which the people determine 
who will  govern. Elections thus bestow upon 

government a legitimacy that is otherwise 

unattainable.” 97 Moreover, in the United 
States, as in other countries, the right to vote 

“does not, and has never, applied universally 

across the population. Unlike freedom of 

speech and the free exercise of religion, for 
example, which are civil l iberties and extend 

to all persons, voting is a civil r igh t, a 

privilege conferred selectively upon citizens 

by governments.” 98

Thus, of various forms of govern­

ment, government by consent is surely high- 

maintenance government in that it requires 

not only significant levels of popular partici­

pation but also knowledge and, one hopes, an 

accompanying comprehension. What Glenn 

and Kreider have done exceptionally well is 
to offer essential content that helps contribute 
to a grasp of the history of the consent-giving 

process in its American context, provides 

insights into its current operation, and ex­

amines contemporary challenges confronting 

that process.

Their labors have resulted in a book of 
seven substantial chapters ably constructed to 

achieve those goals. Wisely beginning with 

the debates at Putney in 1647 during the En­
glish Civil  War, chapter one briskly traces the 

history of the franchise from the colonial era 
to about 2000. The second chapter explores
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a s e rie s o f fifte e n p ro ble m s , co ntro ve rs ie s , 
and s o lu tio ns ranging fro m dis franchis e m e nt 

o f fe lo ns to the Ele cto ral Co lle ge . Enti­

tled “Perspectives,” chapter three consists of 
ten stand-alone essays by eleven contribu­

tors who in turn inject a variety of out­

looks on topics such as voter identification, 

non-citizen voting, partisan gerrymandering, 
and Americans’ views on voting rights." 

While this chapter has no piece dedicated 

to majority- minority districts, the subject is 

briefly treated as “ racial gerrymandering” in 

the second chapter.

Entitled “Profiles,” chapter four con­

sists of essays on fifteen persons, agencies, 

or organizations “ that have made contribu­

tions to voting, voting rights or elections 
in America.” 100 This collection can best be 

described as eclectic, including pieces on Jus­
tice Ruth Bader Ginsburg, Abraham Lincoln, 

the American Civil Liberties Union, Chief 

Justice John Roberts, Francis Parkman, the 

Texas Democratic Party, and the Waite Court 

(1874-1888). The fifth chapter consists of 

data and documents. The former embrace a 

series of helpful maps, tables, and graphs 

relating to topics previously covered in the 
book. In the latter one finds the Declaration of 

Sentiments from 1847, VUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASm ith v. A llw righ t,m 
and Shelby C ounty v. H older,102 among other 

items. The final two chapters contain an 

extensive annotated bibliography, a guide to 

voting and election resources on the Internet, 

a chronology, glossary, and—what is particu­
larly essential for a hybrid subject like voting 

rights—a well-constructed index. In short, 

one’s time with this book is time well spent.
Throughout their thorough and careful 

portrayal of access to the ballot across Amer­

ican colonial and national history, the authors 
make abundantly clear that, at least since the 

1870s and in multiple ways, the Supreme 
Court has never been far removed from the 

political process and questions about the 

franchise, a fact amply demonstrated by the 

other books surveyed here. As Graetz and 

Greenhouse observe near the end of their

study of the Burger Court, “ tethered to the 

past, defined by the present, the Supreme 
Court inevitably shapes the future.” 103
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